
 
O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d ,  L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
Ph: 847.883.8600 | Fax: 847.883.8608 | www. l i n co ln sh i re i l . gov  

 
 

AGENDA 
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 

Village Hall – Board Room 
Monday, February 25, 2019 

Following Regular Village Board Meeting 
 

Reasonable accommodations / auxiliary aids will be provided to enable persons with disabilities to effectively participate in any 
public meetings of the Board.  Please contact the Village Administrative Office (847.883.8600) 48 hours in advance if you need 

special accommodations to attend. The Committee of the Whole will not proceed past 10:30 p.m. unless there is a consensus of the 
majority of the Trustees to do so. Citizens wishing to address the Board on agenda items may speak when the agenda item is open, 

prior to Board discussion. 
 
CALL TO ORDER  
1.0 ROLL CALL  

    
2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

2.1 Acceptance of the February 11, 2019 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes 
 
3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS  

3.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use  
 3.11  Preliminary Evaluation of a Petition for a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision 

and Major Amendment to Existing Special Use and Planned Unit 
Development (Special Use Ordinance No. 18-3780-208) for a Large, Full-
Service, Recreation, Health, and Fitness Facility in the B2 General 
Business District (TSJ Lincolnshire Property LLC – 90, 98, & 100 Half 
Day Road)  

 
 3.12 Consideration of a Resolution Supporting the Enhancement of Commuter 

Rail Service in Lake County, IL (Village of Lincolnshire)  
 

3.2 Finance and Administration 
 
3.3 Public Works 
 3.31 Consideration of a Master Pole Attachment Agreement for Small wireless 

Facilities with Cingular Wireless PCS of Atlanta, GA (Village of 
Lincolnshire) 

 
 3.32 Consideration of Awarding Bid for Replacement of East Side Reservoir   

Roof to DCG Roofing Solutions of Melrose Park, Illinois in an Amount not 
to Exceed $75,790.00 (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 3.33 Consideration of Adopting the 2018 Des Plaines River Watershed-Based 

Plan (Des Plaines Watershed Workgroup) 
 
 3.34 Consideration of Professional Service Contract with RJN Group, Inc. for 

Design Engineering Services for the 2019 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation 
Project at a Cost not to Exceed $99,820.00 (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 

3.4 Public Safety 
3.5 Parks and Recreation 
3.6 Judiciary and Personnel 

   



Page 2 
AGENDA –Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 25, 2019 

4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
5.0 NEW BUSINESS 
6.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION 
7.0 ADJOURNMENT 



O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d  
L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
www. l i n co l n sh i re i l . g ov  

2.1 
MINUTES 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 
Monday, February 11, 2019   

Present: 
Mayor Brandt   Trustee Harms Muth 
Trustee Grujanac Trustee Hancock 
Trustee McDonough   Trustee Servi  
Trustee Leider  Village Clerk Mastandrea 
Village Attorney Simon Village Manager Burke 
Finance Director/Treasurer Peterson   Public Works Director Woodbury 
Chief of Police Leonas Assistant Village Manager/Community & 
Planning & Development Manager Zozulya Economic Development Director Gilbertson 

ROLL CALL 
Mayor Brandt called the meeting to order at 7:07 p.m. and Village Clerk Mastandrea called the 
Roll. 

2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
2.1 Acceptance of the January 28, 2019 Committee of the Whole Meeting 

Minutes 

The minutes of the January 28, 2019 Committee of the Whole Meeting were 
approved as submitted. 

3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS 

3.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use 
3.11  Preliminary Evaluation of a Petition for a New Planned Unit 

Development in the B2 General Business District to Permit a 
Vehicle Fueling Station with Convenience Store and Car Wash at 
the southeast corner of Illinois Route 21 (Milwaukee Avenue) and 
Illinois Route 22 (Half Day Road)  (Gendell Realty Partners, Inc.) 

Planning & Development Manager Zozulya provided history & zoning of 
the site and a summary of the proposed new Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) in the B2 General Business District to permit a vehicle fueling 
station with convenience store and car wash proposed for the southeast 
corner of Illinois Route 21 and Route 22. Planning & Development 
Manager Zozulya stated the petitioner has contacted Lake County 
Stormwater Management regarding on-site detention and received 
preliminary approval. Planning & Development Manager Zozulya noted 
the Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT) has also been notified 
since the site is on Illinois State Routes, and based on preliminary 
comments from them, right-in/right-out access points to the site are 



Page 2 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 11, 2019 
 
 

proposed along Half Day Road and Milwaukee Avenue and right-turn 
lanes are proposed on Half Day Road and Milwaukee Avenue. A traffic 
study has been provided by the petitioner, and the developer plans to 
include a 10’ wide bike path along Milwaukee Avenue with connection 
along Half Day Road. Planning & Development Manager Zozulya noted 
several areas of the proposal do not meet code and are referred to as 
exceptions since this is a PUD and will be worked through if the project 
is referred. The petitioner also requests sales of packaged beer and 
wine which would require an amendment to the Village liquor code to 
provide for this class of license. Planning & Development Manager 
Zozulya provided possible next steps regarding the petitioner to either 
refer the proposal to the Architectural Review Board for design review 
with or without specific direction or continue the preliminary evaluation 
and ask the developer to return to a future Village Board meeting with 
more information and/or revisions. 

 
 Mr. Daniel Wander, Senior Vice President of Terraco, Inc. representing 

Gendell Realty Partners, Inc. provided an overview of the presentation, 
introduced the development team, provided background and history for 
Terraco, Inc., and provided information regarding proposed site 
development.  

 
 Mr. Ryan Howard, Chief Operating Officer for True North Energy 

provided an introduction and history of True North Energy. Mr. Howard 
provided a presentation regarding the proposed project which included 
sharing a rendering video depicting two possible architectural options of 
the convenience store/car wash for Board consideration.  

 
 Mayor Brandt noted a Shell station exists on the corner of Milwaukee 

Avenue and Aptakisic Road and asked if that station had any 
relationship to the proposed True North Energy gas station. Mr. Howard 
stated the Shell in question was purchased by Circle K and has no 
relationship; it is potentially a competitor.  

 
 Mayor Brandt asked with so many other gas stations and car washes in 

close proximity to the proposed, why True North Energy would want to 
come into Lincolnshire. Mr. Howard stated typically True North Energy 
would pick a corner location but chose off-corner on Route 22 because 
there are no other gas stations facing Route 22 traveling east bound in 
the area other than the True North Energy station on Rand and 22. Mr. 
Howard noted there is quite a bit of traffic passing the location, and for 
this reason, True North Energy believes this will be the perfect location. 
Mayor Brandt asked what predicted sales would be. Mr. Howard stated 
True North Energy has estimated the tax revenue to be approximately 
$200,000 annually. It was noted a large percent of profit comes from 
inside the store.  

 
 Trustee Leider stated there is a Shell station within 4 blocks, each way 

of the proposed location and asked why Shell would put another one in 



Page 3 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 11, 2019 
 
 

the middle of this concentration of existing businesses. Mr. Howard 
stated True North Energy had to go to Shell and ask for approval, and 
since the proposed station is contemplating Route 22 traffic, Shell’s 
corporate offices supported this location.  

 
 A brief conversation ensued regarding IDOT required turn lanes if the 

project is approved. Trustee Hancock asked if the turn lanes were not 
required, would this project work. Mr. Javier Millan, Senior Traffic 
Engineer with KLOA, Inc. who is the traffic consultant for the project 
stated when they met with IDOT, initial feedback was given by IDOT 
staff. Mr. Millan stated given the amount of anticipated volume the gas 
station will generate, right-hand turn lanes are required.  

 
 Mr. Howard continued the presentation with one of two video 

renderings.   
 
 Mayor Brandt asked if True North Energy is working with anyone on the 

proposed restaurant site. Mr. Howard stated they are marketing this site 
and anticipate the restaurant will be a quick serve, similar to Culver’s 
with a drive-thru. He noted there is not enough land to accommodate a 
larger sit-down restaurant. Mr. Wander stated parking is also not 
available for a sit-down restaurant. Trustee Hancock asked if they would 
object to a Starbucks. Mr. Howard said they would not be opposed to a 
Starbucks.  

 
 Mr. Howard continued the presentation with the other, more traditional 

video rendering. Mayor Brandt asked if there would be additional 
landscaping. Mr. Howard stated the proposed plan would include full 
landscaping. He noted the video rendering was intended to highlight the 
architecture and True North Energy did not want possible landscaping 
reflected in the video rendering that would not be part of the formal 
application. The landscape plan will be shared with the Board at the end 
of the process. Trustee Hancock noted the PowerPoint presentation 
showed where the gas pumps are with a shingled roof, but the video 
rendering does not have it. Mr. Howard said this is typically Shell’s 
global image that they protect so it takes special approval for True North 
Energy to do something other than that. Mr. Howard stated if the Board 
wanted the shingled roof, True North Energy would do their best to get it 
approved by Shell.  

 
 Trustee Grujanac asked how the Milwaukee Road widening would affect 

the turn lanes going in and the footprint of the proposed restaurant.  
Village Attorney Simon noted the site plan includes the proposed 
widening. Mr. Scott DiGilio, Principal with RTM Engineering, Civil 
Engineers for the project stated they have already taken into account 
the additional right-of-way, so the site plan is based on that widening  
taking place. Mr. DiGilio reviewed through the site plan showing 
proposed road improvements, path, and signage.  

 



Page 4 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 11, 2019 
 
 

 A brief conversation regarding the PUD followed.  
 
 Mayor Brandt asked if the DeSantis family will be retaining ownership of 

the wetland area to the east, or would they be dedicating it to the Village 
for possible use for a trail. Mr. Howard stated he was not aware of what 
the DeSantis family would do with the remaining property and 
highlighted the area of what True North Energy would be purchasing 
along with a granted easement to use for stormwater management. 
Mayor Brandt noted a past conversation she had with the DeSantis 
family regarding the parcel. Trustee Leider agreed a conversation with 
the DeSantis family should be had regarding the remaining property.  

 
 All Trustees noted concern regarding the other Shell gas stations in 

close proximity. 
 
 Trustee Servi stated his preference was to not have another burger 

restaurant at this location since there are already a few in the nearby 
area.  

 
 Trustee Grujanac noted concern regarding the proposed restaurant and 

landscaping on the site. 
 
 Trustee Leider asked about the cross access in the back (east) side of 

the site. Mr. Wander said one of the things that could be a possibility is 
to have cross access to the south that would connect to the back of the 
Courtyard by Marriott Hotel and continue down to Marriott Drive. 
Trustee Leider suggested the possibilities be brought forth in the 
beginning to give the Architectural Review Board the opportunity to 
review this concept.  

 
 Mr. Howard provided a summary of the request to sell beer and wine at 

the proposed station, which they know is a privilege and not a right. 
They have strict policies and procedures for carding and train staff 
above and beyond the required BASSET training. 

 
 Trustee Servi was in approval of allowing the sale of packaged beer and 

wine. Trustee Leider stated he was comfortable with this as well. Village 
Attorney stated the proposal is for the gas station to be 24-hour and 
noted there is a curfew for the sale of alcohol and asked how this would 
be managed. Mr. Howard stated they would lock down the registers and 
product doors for alcohol sales to manage the curfew. Mr. Howard 
stated True North Energy will comply with whatever the curfew may be.  

 
 Village Manager Burke noted Trustee Servi stated he would support a 

liquor code change for all the gas stations and asked if the Board would 
like staff to move forward with this code change. Trustee Leider stated if 
this starts to materialize, then staff should move forward with the code 
change. Trustee Hancock suggested staff do some preliminary work on 
a potential code change.  



Page 5 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 11, 2019 
 
 

 
 Mayor Brandt asked staff if True North Energy provided an estimate on 

tax revenue for the potential restaurant. Village Manager Burke stated it 
could potentially generate approximately $30,000 in sales tax and food 
and beverage tax per year. A conversation regarding potential tax 
revenue followed.  

 
 Trustee Grujanac recommended getting information out to the 

community on the proposal prior to the Architectural Review Board 
meeting.  

 
 Trustee Hancock asked what the benefit would be beyond tax revenue. 

Trustee Leider stated a benefit would be to clean up the site.  
 
 A conversation regarding the viability of the proposed project followed.  
 
 It was the consensus of the Board to refer this to the Architectural 

Review Board with the recommendation to stay with the traditional 
building design option presented.  

 
 3.12 Consideration of Request for Internal Village Fee Waiver – Parking 

Lot Expansion (Adlai E. Stevenson High School District 125) 
 
  Planning & Development Manager Zozulya provided a summary of a 

request for internal Village fee waiver for the parking lot expansion at 
Adlai E. Stevenson High School.  

 
  It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 

3.13 Consideration and Discussion Regarding AccessMyGov and 
Online Credit Card Payments for Various Required Village Permits 
(Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 Assistant Village Manager/Community & Economic Development (CED) 

Director Gilbertson provided a summary of AccessMyGov and online 
credit card payments for various required Village permits. Assistant 
Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson noted some of the information 
the Board had concerns with previously would still be publicly viewable 
if this Invoice Cloud function is turned on and usable.  

 
 Mayor Brandt ask what information would be viewable to the public. 

Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson stated permit value 
and inspection status would be made viewable if the payment feature 
was activated. However, the majority of the information the Board had 
concerns with in the past would not be viewable.  

 
 Assistant Village Manager/CED Director provided test pages for the 

Board.  



Page 6 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 11, 2019 
 
 

 
 Trustee Leider asked how Lincolnshire compares to other municipalities 

in terms of collecting on-line credit card payments. Assistant Village 
Manager/CED Director Gilbertson stated Lincolnshire is behind the 
curve compared to other municipalities. 

 
 Trustee Hancock asked what the benefit of the system is beyond on-line 

payments. Village Manager Burke provided information related to the 
work order management system along with on-line permitting. Trustee 
Hancock asked how many man-hours would there be to managing the 
system. Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson stated staff 
is currently managing most of these functions and noted there is already 
a savings of time for the on-line permit system.   

 
 Trustee Hancock asked if you could use it with a mobile device. 

Assistant Village Manager/CED Director Gilbertson stated he was not 
aware if a mobile device could be used with the system but would find 
out. 

 
  It was the consensus of the Board to implement AccessMyGov and 

online credit card payments for various required Village permits.  
 

3.2 Finance and Administration 
3.21 PUBLIC HEARING: Regarding an Ordinance Making 

Appropriations to Defray all Necessary Expenses and Liabilities of 
the Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois for the Fiscal Year 
2019 (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 Mayor Brandt recessed the February 11, 2019 Committee of the Whole 

meeting and convened the Public Hearing regarding an Ordinance 
making Appropriations to defray all necessary expenses and liabilities of 
the Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois for the Fiscal Year 
2019. 

 
 Finance Director/Village Treasurer Peterson provided a summary of the 

annual ordinance making appropriations to defray all necessary 
expenses and liabilities of the Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, 
Illinois for the Fiscal Year 2019. Finance Director/Village Treasurer 
Peterson noted the following two exceptions proposed to the spending 
plan not reflected in the budget: Original budget for Economic 
Development Incentives was $934,470 and the 2019 appropriation has 
been increased an additional $100,000 to $1,128,780 to accommodate 
for additional tax sharing related to Interior Investment sales. A $20,000 
increase to the E911 Professional Services related to the dispatching 
services transition to Deerfield and possible need to update all in-car 
laptops.  

  
 There were no comments or questions from the Village Board. 
 



Page 7 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 11, 2019 
 
 

 There were no comments from the public on the proposed appropriation 
ordinance. 
 

 Mayor Brandt adjourned the Public Hearing and reconvened the 
Committee of the Whole meeting at 8:59 p.m. 

 
 It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 

Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting. 
 

3.22 Consideration of New Village Policies for Private Sponsorships, 
Donations & the 4th of July Parade (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
 Planning & Development Manager Zozulya provided a summary of 

proposed Village policies for private sponsorships donations and the 4th 
of July parade.  

 
 Trustee Hancock asked if there would be a record kept of what 

sponsorship is being taken in by the Village. Planning & Development 
Manager Zozulya stated a form will be filled out for a potential sponsor 
as an official record. All sponsors would be entitled to some recognition 
to get their name out. A private donation would be handled by the 
Finance Department and reported to the Village Board.  

 
 Finance Director/Village Treasurer Peterson provided additional 

information regarding how financial donations would be tracked and 
transmitted to the Board.  

 
 Village Attorney Simon noted the Village has adopted the state ethics 

Ordinance which prohibits gifts from prohibited sources. 
 
 In reference to the proposed parade policy, Mayor Brandt noted the 

desire to keep the 4th of July kid and family-friendly. She noted other 
communities in the area have seen community parades overtaken by 
political messages and debate.  Village Manager Burke noted the 4th of 
July parade policy gives the Village the right to allow or not allow 
applicants to take part in the parade depending upon whether or not the 
message is appropriate and meets the intent of the policy.  

 
 Mayor Brandt noted a volunteer meeting coming up on February 13th at 

6:00 p.m. in the Community Room and asked staff to invite the Board.  
 
  It was the consensus of the Board to place the proposed policies on the 

Consent Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board 
Meeting. 

 
3.3 Public Works 
3.4 Public Safety 
3.5 Parks and Recreation 
3.6 Judiciary and Personnel 



Page 8 
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting 
February 11, 2019 
 
 
 
4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
5.0 NEW BUSINESS   
6.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
7.0 ADJOURNMENT 

Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Leider seconded the motion to adjourn. Upon a 
voice vote, the motion was approved unanimously and Mayor Brandt declared the 
meeting adjourned at 9:08 p.m. 

 Respectfully submitted, 
 VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
 
 

 
 
 Barbara Mastandrea 

 Village Clerk 



Agenda Item 

COW 3.11 

V:\Subdivisions\Medline_Florsheim\Planning\GlenStar_TSJ\StJames_SUAmendment\2_25_19_COW\FINAL\2019_0
2_25_COW_StJames_SU_Amendment.doc

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
Committee of the Whole

February 25, 2019 

Subject: The St. James Private and Public Recreation Facility -
90, 98, & 100 Half Day Road

Action Requested: Preliminary Evaluation of a Petition for a Preliminary Plat of
Subdivision and Major Amendment to Existing Special Use and
Planned Unit Development (Special Use Ordinance No. 18-3780-
208) for a Large, Full-Service, Recreation, Health, and Fitness
Facility in the B2 General Business District

Petitioner: TSJ Lincolnshire Property LLC

Originated By/Contact: Tonya Zozulya, Planning & Development Manager
Department of Community & Economic Development

Referred To: Village Board

Background:
 TSJ Lincolnshire Property LLC (TSJ), petitioner and property owner, seeks a Major

Amendment to the existing Planned Unit Development to approve preliminary development
plans for The St. James private and public recreation facility.

 The 41-acre Medline property (90, 98, and
100 Half Day Road) is a gateway site at
the intersection of Tri-State Tollway I-94
and Half Day Road, as shown in Figure 1
on the attached location map.

 The subject site is zoned B2 General
Business. Adjacent uses are as follows:

o North & West: 111-acre
unincorporated Florsheim property
(zoned “E” Estate in Lake County)

o East: Tri-State I-94 Tollway
o South: Homewood Suites Hotel

(zoned B2 PUD), Wood Creek Courts,
and other R3 Single-Family residential
developments

 In August 2018, the property was rezoned from Office Campus to B2 General Business and
a Special Use Permit for a Planned Unit Development (PUD) was granted by Ordinance
#18-3780-208 to allow for a large, full-service, recreation, health, and fitness facility, as well
as other recreation, entertainment, and hospitality uses (see Document 3). The ordinance
provides for a building height exception for the large, full-service, recreation, health, and
fitness facility building from the B2 maximum permitted 42’ up to 75’ (the height increase is
required exclusively for the proposed fieldhouse).

Figure 1: Location Map



Agenda Item 

COW 3.11 

V:\Subdivisions\Medline_Florsheim\Planning\GlenStar_TSJ\StJames_SUAmendment\2_25_19_COW\FINAL\2019_0
2_25_COW_StJames_SU_Amendment.doc

 The property currently consists of three, two- and three-story office buildings (plus a facilities
maintenance building) developed on a densely wooded lot with stormwater detention areas.
The property was developed and annexed into the Village in phases in the 1970’s and
1980’s. The two most-western buildings were used by Hewitt & Associates for their
corporate headquarters before Hewitt’s merger with Aon and subsequent relocation. One of
the western buildings currently houses an Aon Hewitt data center which is currently being
relocated. The third office building is located adjacent to the Tri-State Tollway. TSJ
purchased the property in October 2018 from Medline Industries.

 Staff sent a courtesy email notice for the February 25, 2019 Committee of the Whole
meeting to over 130 interested persons in the Village database of interested individuals who
wished to be on the notification list regarding this development. Staff will continue this
practice for each subsequent meeting. The petitioner will be required to provide a formal
notice to the adjacent 250’ radius prior to the Public Hearing before the Village Board no
less than 15 days prior to the public hearing date.  The date of the public hearing is
unknown at this time and is dependent upon whether the Village Board refers this project to
the Architectural Review Board.

Proposal Summary & Staff Comments:
 Site Layout - The site plan (see Document 2) depicts a 447,526 square-feet, two-story, The

St. James facility on an 8-acre lot (to be created with the proposed subdivision) across the
northern portion of the site. The site plan also indicates four additional future development
pads for a limited service hotel, restaurant, and entertainment uses. The location of each
use is not yet known and is not the subject of this preliminary evaluation. The petitioner
shows 31 acres available for development (excluding wetlands, floodplain, and
detention/compensatory storage areas). The tallest part of the building – the field house –
will be 75’ in height and located proximal to the Tri-State Tollway. As depicted in the
petitioner’s presentation packet, the center point of The St. James facility is proposed to be
775’ from the Wood Creek Courts subdivision; 2,200’ from the Old Mill Woods subdivision;
and 2,225’ from the Sutton Place subdivision.

During the July 30 and August 6, 2018 public hearings, the petitioner proposed a total of
four development pads (including The St. James). However, in an effort to maximize the
property’s development potential, an additional pad is now proposed.

Compensatory storage is shown in the southeast portion of the property along Half Day
Road, and underground detention areas are proposed along the east side of The St. James
building. Existing wetlands along Half Day Road are proposed to be preserved. The
developer intends to demolish the existing office buildings and fill in the existing retention
ponds to create new development pads (see below for further detail – On-Site Detention and
Wetlands).

Section 6-6B-4 and 6-6B-5 of the Village code states that the Village Board has the authority
to establish appropriate lot area, lot width, and building setback parameters for PUDs (see
attached Document 4).

 The St. James Uses - The petitioner’s cover letter (see attached Document 2) details
information about The St. James. Lincolnshire will be one of The St. James’ newest
locations nationwide. In September 2018, the first facility opened in Springfield, Virginia
outside Washington D.C. Some of the uses housed in the facility include an indoor aquatics
center; fields for soccer, football, lacrosse, and other sports; ice rinks; basketball and



Agenda Item 

COW 3.11 

V:\Subdivisions\Medline_Florsheim\Planning\GlenStar_TSJ\StJames_SUAmendment\2_25_19_COW\FINAL\2019_0
2_25_COW_StJames_SU_Amendment.doc

volleyball courts; gymnastics and dance facilities; rock climbing walls; a health club, a spa
and wellness center; a daycare center; fitness training and equipment sales; and a
restaurant.

No outdoor detached structures are contemplated for the site. The petitioner is proposing an
attached outdoor seating area along the south building elevation adjacent to the restaurant.
The number of seats is yet to be determined (the Virginia TSJ facility has 50 outdoor seats)
and is to be open between 6 a.m. and 2 a.m. daily with ambient music. The closing hours of
the restaurant/outdoor seating area are to coincide with the end time of the St. James’ adult 
high-demand sports programming (e.g., hockey). No live music is proposed as part of the
outdoor seating area operations. The operation of the outdoor seating area may be
incorporated into the requirements of the Special Use permit.

The facility will offer both memberships and fee-based admission to the general public. A
total of 975 parking spaces is proposed, which exceeds the St. James’ parking needs based 
on their internal operations. The St. James will accommodate up to 1,350 visitors at any
given time, with an additional 900 guests at special events such as tournaments and meets.
The business projects annual visits of 1.5 million. The St. James will employ up to 350
people, with no more than 170 employees onsite at any given time. The facility will operate
24 hours a day, 7 days a week. Access will be provided via an existing signalized entrance
off Half Day Road.

The petitioner has proposed renaming the access drive from “Hewitt Drive” to “St. James
Way” as a branding and identity consideration. In 2015, the Village Board approved a
resolution, at the request of Medline Industries, the previous property owner, authorizing the
renaming of “Hewitt Drive” to “Medline Drive” in anticipation of their development (the street
sign was not updated at that time as Medline Industries listed the property for sale shortly
after the name change approval).

 Tree Preservation - The developer is providing 50’ buffer areas along the north and west
property lines (adjacent to the Florsheim property), as required by the PUD Ordinance. The
majority of tree removals (approximately 265 trees) will occur to create building footprints
and parking lots. Minimal removals are proposed within the buffer areas, tollway easement,
and along Half Day Road. Many existing trees planned for removal are either dead or dying.
The Village’s Tree Amnesty Program, effective through December 31, 2020, exempts
commercial properties from meeting the tree replacement requirements for dead/unhealthy
trees. The petitioner will work with staff to address healthy tree removals and replacements
during the internal Development Review Team process when detailed landscaping plans are
developed.

 Architectural Building Plans - Conceptual building elevations are attached for the Board’s
review. The building design will be further addressed at the internal Development Review
Team stage to achieve the desired visual interest through building materials, architectural
elements, and landscaping. The Architectural Review Board will also provide input and a
recommendation to the Village Board on the proposed building design, site layout, and
landscaping. Any feedback on the building design that the Village Board may have at
Monday’s meeting will be shared with the Architectural Review Board.

 Traffic & On-Site Circulation - The petitioner has previously provided a traffic study for the
Half Day Road area which accounts for The St. James facility, the neighboring CDW Center,
and other uses. The study found no adverse impacts on the road/intersection capacity,



Agenda Item 

COW 3.11 

V:\Subdivisions\Medline_Florsheim\Planning\GlenStar_TSJ\StJames_SUAmendment\2_25_19_COW\FINAL\2019_0
2_25_COW_StJames_SU_Amendment.doc

which was also confirmed by the Village’s third-party consultant, Gewalt Hamilton. The
developer included the attached exhibit that depicts a drop-off area for the St. James along
the south façade as well as an overall circulation plan. Access points to the remaining
development pads and the Florsheim property (in anticipation of future sale and
development) are also provided.

 On-Site Detention & Wetlands - TSJ has contacted the Lake County Stormwater
Management Commission (SMC) regarding on-site detention for this development.  SMC
has provided preliminary approval. A formal SMC permit will be required prior to final Village
Board review. The petitioner has also worked with SMC and Army Corp of Engineers
regarding wetland mitigation.

 Preliminary Plat of Subdivision - The preliminary plat depicts six lots created for the entire
development (including one common area lot). The lots range in size from 0.7 acres to 8
acres. The Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT) will be required to approve the final
plat.

Review & Approval Process:
1. The Village’s internal Development Review Team will review the proposal and generate

comments regarding fire access, traffic circulation, site design, building elevations, as
well as other items per Section 6-14-6 of the Village code.

2. The Architectural Review Board will review the proposal regarding site layout, parking
lot design, lighting, landscape screening, and signage.

3. The Village Board will consider the ARB’s recommendation, hold a Public Hearing
regarding the Major PUD Amendment (with any zoning exceptions), and make the final
determination regarding the request. The Zoning Board will not be involved in the review
as the Village Board retains all PUD zoning authority per Village code.

Recommendation:
The Village Board has the authority to provide feedback to staff and the developer and consider
one of the following actions:

1. Refer the proposal to the Architectural Review Board for design review with or
without specific direction.

2. Continue the preliminary evaluation and ask the developer to return to a future
Village Board meeting with more information and/or revisions.

3. Not refer the proposal.

Reports and Documents Attached:
• Document 1: Location map.
• Document 2: Presentation packet, prepared by TSJ, dated February 20, 

2019.
• Document 3: PUD Ordinance #18-3780-208.
• Document 4: B1, B2 Business Code. 

Meeting History
Committee of the Whole discussion (current) February 25, 2019



DOCUMENT 1



DOCUMENT 2







  

   

One Olde Half Day Road 

Lincolnshire, IL 60069 

847.883.8600 

www.lincolnshireil.gov 

  

PPLLAANNNNIINNGG  &&  ZZOONNIINNGG  AAPPPPLLIICCAATTIIOONN  
DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 

Application Number:   

    
 

PROPERTY ADDRESS: 

 PIN #(s):   

 APPLICANT NAME:   

 

APPLICATION REQUEST(S) Please check all that apply 

 

□ Amendment □ Appeal of Administrative Decision  

□ Text*   

□ Annexation Agreement □ Annexation*  

□ Other  

  □ Rezoning* 

 □ Architectural Review Board (ARB)*  

□ New Structure/Development □ Subdivision* 

□ Modification to Structure/Development  

□ New Signage □ Variance*  

□ Modification to Signage  

     

□ Special Use*    

□ New Special Use/PUD  

□ Major Amendment to Special Use/PUD   

□ Minor Amendment to Special Use/PUD  

 

 

DESCRIPTION OF REQUEST(S): 

 

  

  

   

  

  

  

 

Attach additional pages if necessary 

 

 

* Refer to the applicable Information 
Packet for additional information and 
required materials. 

 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
Planning & Zoning Application    Page 2 of 6  

 

APPLICANT INFORMATION 

Applicant Information 

Name:  Company:  

Address:  Telephone: (          ) 

  Fax: (          ) 

Email Address:  

 

Primary Contact Information (if different than Applicant Info)  

Name:  Company:  

Address:  Telephone: (          ) 

  Fax: (          ) 

Email Address:  

 

Property Owner Information (if a Trust, see attached Beneficiary Disclosure Form) 

Name:  Company:  

Address:  Telephone: (          ) 

  Fax: (          ) 

Email Address:  

 

REPRESENTATIVES INFORMATION 

Attorney 

Name:  Company:  

Address:  Telephone: (          ) 

  Fax: (          ) 

 

Architect/Land Planner 

Name:  Company:  

Address:  Telephone: (          ) 

  Fax: (          ) 

 

Engineer/Land Surveyor 

Name:  Company:  

Address:  Telephone: (          ) 

  Fax: (          ) 

 

Landscape Architect 

Name:  Company:  

Address:  Telephone: (          ) 

  Fax: (          ) 

 

Other:    

Name:  Company:  

Address:  Telephone: (          ) 

  Fax: (          ) 

 





625 Forest Edge Drive Vernon Hills, IL. 60061
TEL 847.478.9700 FAX 847.478.9701

·
·



HALF DAY ROAD

INTERSTATE
94

W
ES

T
FO

RK
O

F
TH

E
NO

RT
H

CH
IC

AG
O

RI
VE

R

H
EW

IT
T

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

AREA #5
(2.1± AC)

D
R

IV
E

C
R

EE
K

D
R

IV
E

W
O

O
D

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

AREA #2
(0.7± AC)

DEVELOPMENT AREA #1
THE ST. JAMES

± 349,613 SF (1ST FLOOR)
± 447,526 SF (TOTAL BLDG AREA)

FFE = 671.00
(8.1 ± AC)

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

AREA #4
(2.6± AC)

LOADING
AREA

DROP OFF

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

AREA #3
(2.5± AC)

COMPENSATORY
STORAGE

AREA
(1.0± AC)

©

TH
E

ST
.J

AM
ES

10
0

H
AL

F-
D

AY
R

O
AD

LI
N

C
O

LN
SH

IR
E,

IL
60

04
5

SITE AREA TABLE

C2.0

PR
EL

IM
IN

AR
Y

SI
TE

PL
AN

NORTH

GENERAL NOTES

PAVING AND CURB LEGEND

SITE DATA TABLE
DEVELOPMENT AREA # 1 2 3 4 5

PROPOSED REQUIRED/MAX
ALLOWED PROPOSED REQUIRED/MAX

ALLOWED PROPOSED REQUIRED/MAX
ALLOWED PROPOSED REQUIRED/MAX

ALLOWED PROPOSED REQUIRED/MAX
ALLOWED

LOT SIZE (ACRE)

FRONTAGE (LF)

BUILDING HEIGHT (FT)

SETBACKS (FT)

NORTH

SOUTH

EAST

WEST

FLOOR AREA RATIO

PARKING SPACES



HALF DAY ROAD

INTERSTATE
94

W
ES

T
FO

RK
O

F
TH

E
NO

RT
H

CH
IC

AG
O

RI
VE

R

H
EW

IT
T

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

AREA #5
(2.1± AC)

D
R

IV
E

C
R

EE
K

D
R

IV
E

W
O

O
D

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

AREA #2
(0.7± AC)

DEVELOPMENT AREA #1
THE ST. JAMES

± 349,613 SF (1ST FLOOR)
± 447,526 SF (TOTAL BLDG AREA)

FFE = 671.00
(8.1 ± AC)

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

AREA #4
(2.6± AC)

LOADING
AREA

DROP OFF

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

AREA #3
(2.5± AC)

COMPENSATORY
STORAGE

AREA
(1.0± AC)

©

TH
E

ST
.J

AM
ES

10
0

H
AL

F-
D

AY
R

O
AD

LI
N

C
O

LN
SH

IR
E,

IL
60

04
5

1 OF 1

EX
IS

TI
N

G
VS

PR
O

PO
SE

D
BU

IL
D

IN
G

S
EX

H
IB

IT

1-800-892-0123

Call
Before
You Dig

NORTH

LEGEND



HALF DAY ROAD

INTERSTATE
94

W
ES

T
FO

RK
O

F
TH

E
NO

RT
H

CH
IC

AG
O

RI
VE

R

H
EW

IT
T

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

AREA #5
(2.1± AC)

D
R

IV
E

C
R

EE
K

D
R

IV
E

W
O

O
D

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

AREA #2
(0.7± AC)

DEVELOPMENT AREA #1
THE ST. JAMES

± 349,613 SF (1ST FLOOR)
FFE = 671.00

(8.1 ± AC)

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

AREA #4
(2.6± AC)

LOADING
AREA

DROP OFF

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

AREA #3
(2.5± AC)

COMPENSATORY
STORAGE

AREA
(1.0± AC)

©

TH
E

ST
.J

AM
ES

10
0

H
AL

F-
D

AY
R

O
AD

LI
N

C
O

LN
SH

IR
E,

IL
60

04
5

1 OF 1

C
IR

C
U

LA
TI

O
N

EX
H

IB
IT

NORTH

LEGEND



Medline Campus Development, Lincolnshire, Illinois
(CBBEL Project No. 150489.LINCO)

Notes: Tree Inventory completed on September 21, 24, October 3, 9, 25 and November 2, 2018.
Condition and form ratings are based on general observations and on a scale of 1 (excellent) to 5 (poor).
Heritage Trees have been denoted in bold and shading which are measured at 20" or greater on the 
Appendix A list.

Tag # Species
Size 

(DBH)
Condition Form Latitude Longitude Comments

101 Acer rubrum 16 3 2 42.20305423 -87.89253976

102
Quercus 

alba
32 2 2 42.20296858 -87.89262564

103 Quercus alba 13 2 2 42.20291844 -87.89265966

104
Quercus 
bicolor

15 3 2 42.20291273 -87.89270857

105
Quercus 
bicolor

11 4 3 42.20292298 -87.89272431

106
Quercus 

alba
20 3 2 42.20279189 -87.89263726

107 Morus alba 10, 12 3 3 42.20276023 -87.89263033 double

108 Quercus alba 14 3 2 42.20268235 -87.89269539

109 Juglans nigra 8 2 3 42.20266762 -87.8927488

110 Quercus alba 18 2 2 42.20256352 -87.89283509

111
Quercus 
bicolor

30 2 2 42.20250638 -87.89262245

112
Quercus 
bicolor

6 3 3 42.20251167 -87.89265692

113
Ulmus 

americana
8 3 2 42.20244151 -87.89272563

114 Quercus rubra 7 4 4 42.20235577 -87.8927378

115 Quercus alba 19 2 2 42.20235993 -87.89260049

116
Prunus 

serotina
10 4 3 42.20226971 -87.89258287

117 Quercus alba 19 2 2 42.20203532 -87.89261566



118
Quercus 

alba
21 2 2 42.20220072 -87.89277856

119
Quercus 

alba
21 3 2 42.20220709 -87.89278573

120 Carya ovata 13 2 2 42.20221182 -87.89284372

121
Quercus 

alba
23 3 2 42.20216973 -87.8929728

122 Carya ovata 14 4 2 42.20217431 -87.8931117

123
Quercus 

alba
26 4 4 42.20237172 -87.89364399

124 Quercus rubra 7 3 3 42.20246606 -87.89370682

125
Ulmus 

americana
10 3 3 42.20249002 -87.89376644

126 Quercus alba 17 2 3 42.20247201 -87.89376464

127 Quercus alba 18 3 4 42.20241119 -87.8938358

128
Acer 

saccharum
6 3 2 42.20254089 -87.89383913

129
Quercus 

rubra
26 2 2 42.20250955 -87.89388817

130
Acer 

saccharum
6 2 2 42.20256813 -87.89395209

131
Acer 

saccharum
13 3 3 42.20256751 -87.89394739

132
Acer 

saccharum
11 2 3 42.20261905 -87.89391627

133 Quercus alba 10 2 2 42.20267846 -87.89386523

134 Quercus alba 14 3 3 42.20269192 -87.8939089

135 Quercus alba 12 2 3 42.20269871 -87.89394375

136 Quercus alba 17 3 2 42.20273725 -87.89388568

137 Carya ovata 18 4 3 42.20275312 -87.8938354

138 Quercus alba 16 2 2 42.20279876 -87.89393744

139 Carya ovata 8 4 3 42.2028426 -87.89388178



140 Acer rubrum 6 4 2 42.20297573 -87.89396784

141
Quercus 

alba
24 2 4 42.20296649 -87.89398654

142
Quercus 

alba
21 3 4 42.20305021 -87.8939429

143 Quercus alba 17 2 2 42.20303913 -87.89384497

144 Quercus alba 12 2 2 42.20298168 -87.89406473

145
Quercus 

alba
28 5 4 42.20292348 -87.89412937

146
Quercus 

rubra
24 4 3 42.20275301 -87.89405452

147
Quercus 

alba
25 2 2 42.20270159 -87.89407543

148 Acer rubrum 9 3 2 42.20256356 -87.8940665

149
Quercus 
bicolor

6 3 2 42.20231403 -87.89385059

150 Quercus alba 8 3 3 42.20222394 -87.89376819

151
Quercus 

macrocarpa
6 2 2 42.20216178 -87.89365336

152
Quercus 
bicolor

9 3 2 42.2022008 -87.89362521

153
Quercus 
bicolor

7 3 3 42.20221198 -87.89356265

154
Quercus 
bicolor

15 4 3 42.20211723 -87.89353236

155
Quercus 
velutina

12 2 3 42.20201165 -87.89348941

155
Quercus 

alba
22 4 3 42.20202001 -87.89336065

157
Quercus 

rubra
27 2 2 42.20199803 -87.89319526

158 Quercus alba 13 3 3 42.20193939 -87.89297274

159
Quercus 

alba
21 3 3 42.20196307 -87.89295949

160
Quercus 
velutina

21 4 3 42.20186236 -87.89296798

161
Tilia 

americana
10, 6 4 3 42.20282069 -87.89282431 double

165 Quercus alba 12 5 3 42.20289665 -87.89284667



162
Quercus 
bicolor

32 3 2 42.20223392 -87.89614746

163
Quercus 
bicolor

7 4 4 42.20209091 -87.89596183

164
Quercus 
bicolor

12 3 3 42.20208049 -87.8959305

166
Quercus 
bicolor

7 2 3 42.20209807 -87.89591914

167
Quercus 
bicolor

11 2 2 42.2021021 -87.89591979

168
Quercus 
bicolor

6 3 2 42.20210683 -87.89591776

169
Quercus 
bicolor

26 2 2 42.20215042 -87.89599781

170
Quercus 
bicolor

25 2 2 42.20219035 -87.89591198

171
Quercus 
bicolor

24 2 2 42.20223398 -87.89591779

172 Quercus alba 16 2 2 42.20222065 -87.89579202

173
Quercus 
bicolor

13 2 2 42.20221722 -87.89566784

174
Quercus 
bicolor

22 2 2 42.20229519 -87.89573575

175
Quercus 
bicolor

19 2 2 42.2023379 -87.8957408

176
Quercus 
bicolor

13 4 3 42.20234514 -87.89576729

177
Quercus 
bicolor

7 4 4 42.20234283 -87.89576431

178 Quercus alba 12 3 3 42.20236612 -87.89570166

179
Quercus 

rubra
22 3 4 42.20234125 -87.8957199

180
Tilia 

americana
13, 10 2 2 42.20240819 -87.89574246 double

181 Carya ovata 16 2 2 42.20248963 -87.8957256

182
Tilia 

americana
12 2 2 42.20247545 -87.89572861

183 Carya ovata 17 2 2 42.20264841 -87.8957183

184
Quercus 

alba
24 2 2 42.20261887 -87.89570268



185 Quercus alba 17 2 2 42.20273892 -87.89566319

186
Quercus 

alba
21 2 2 42.20281327 -87.8956884

187 Carya ovata 12 2 2 42.20280401 -87.89569843

188
Tilia 

americanae
7 3 4 42.20287895 -87.89575358

189
Tilia 

americana
8, 6 3 3 42.20290159 -87.89573912 double

190 Quercus rubra 19 2 3 42.20297594 -87.89575904

191
Acer 

saccharum
8 2 2 42.20303016 -87.89581247

192
Quercus 

alba
28 2 2 42.20303125 -87.89587375

193 Quercus alba 13 2 3 42.20299832 -87.89572012

194 Carya ovata 17 2 2 42.20296478 -87.89568375

195
Quercus 

rubra
20 3 3 42.2030062 -87.89564378

196 Carya ovata 14 3 4 42.20307175 -87.89568392 major vines

197
Quercus 

rubra
27 2 2 42.20308316 -87.89555645

198
Tilia 

americana
7 2 2 42.2030559 -87.89551485

199
Tilia 

americana
9 4 4 42.20303863 -87.89550871

200 Quercus alba 18 3 3 42.20298217 -87.89550821

201 Quercus rubra 18 2 3 42.20300093 -87.89556491

202
Tilia 

americana
7 2 2 42.20293403 -87.89560007

203
Tilia 

americana
7 3 4 42.20288924 -87.89561953

204
Tilia 

americana
6 3 3 42.20287977 -87.89555971

205
Tilia 

americana
7 3 4 42.2028836 -87.8955292

206
Tilia 

americana
10 2 2 42.20290605 -87.89555186

207
Quercus 

rubra
22 3 3 42.20280497 -87.89549057



208 Carya ovata 8 3 4 42.20277921 -87.89560312

209
Quercus 

rubra
24 2 3 42.20315238 -87.89598455

210
Tilia 

americanae
7 2 2 42.20316193 -87.89596562

211
Quercus 

alba
23 2 2 42.20319994 -87.89597483

212
Quercus 

alba
20 2 3 42.20326084 -87.89596375

213
Quercus 
bicolor

12 2 2 42.20328489 -87.89595464

214
Quercus 

alba
22 3 3 42.2019068 -87.89225393

215 Quercus alba 16 2 2 42.20189094 -87.89234387

216 Quercus alba 8 3 3 42.20189367 -87.89233871

217 Carya ovata 15 2 2 42.20188238 -87.89236269

218 Quercus alba 12 2 2 42.20185725 -87.89233345

219 Quercus alba 12 2 2 42.20185754 -87.89233086

220 Quercus alba 18 2 3 42.20182433 -87.89235334

221 Quercus alba 7 3 2 42.20181285 -87.89236934

222
Quercus 

alba
23 2 2 42.20181577 -87.89237776

223 Quercus alba 12 3 3 42.20181556 -87.89241809 vines

224 Quercus alba 14, 10 2 2 42.20185622 -87.89246193 double

225 Quercus alba 18 2 3 42.20187289 -87.89243003

226 Quercus alba 19 2 2 42.20189602 -87.89242135

227 Quercus alba 16 2 2 42.20187048 -87.89259726

228 Quercus alba 16 2 2 42.20185984 -87.89258253

229
Quercus 

alba
30 2 3 42.20180393 -87.89256349

230 Quercus alba 12, 13 2 3 42.20178267 -87.8924604 double



231
Quercus 

macrocarpa
32 2 2 42.20131709 -87.89211458

232
Quercus 

macrocarpa
22 2 2 42.20124604 -87.89209788

233
Quercus 

alba
27 2 2 42.20121487 -87.89206013

234
Quercus 

macrocarpa
21 2 2 42.20117647 -87.89212167

235
Quercus 

macrocarpa
27 2 3 42.20116012 -87.89206454

236
Quercus 

macrocarpa
18 3 3 42.20105431 -87.89196183

237
Quercus 

macrocarpa
28 3 3 42.2009534 -87.89204502

238
Crataegus 

mollis
6, 6 3 3 42.20091866 -87.89208112 double

239
Quercus 

alba
37 2 2 42.20070532 -87.89239435

240
Quercus 

alba
46 4 2 42.20060379 -87.89232263

241 Quercus alba 9 3 2 42.20056918 -87.89274586

242
Quercus 

alba
22 2 2 42.20058728 -87.89277856

243
Quercus 

alba
33 2 3 42.20069947 -87.89269298

244
Quercus 

alba
26 2 3 42.20070261 -87.8926976

245
Quercus 

macrocarpa
30 2 2 42.20107505 -87.89273923

246
Tilia 

americana
7 2 2 42.20123264 -87.89285572

247 Quercus alba 14 2 3 42.20132885 -87.89278647

248
Quercus 

alba
22 2 2 42.20141957 -87.89279752

249
Quercus 

alba
24 2 2 42.20147546 -87.89278442



250
Quercus 

macrocarpa
30 2 2 42.20153894 -87.89274634

251
Acer 

saccharum
23 2 2 42.20144493 -87.89257204

252 Quercus alba 12 2 2 42.20157949 -87.89253079

253 Quercus alba 9 3 2 42.2016023 -87.89258497

254 Quercus alba 17 3 2 42.2016082 -87.89258765

255
Quercus 

macrocarpa
18 2 2 42.20165297 -87.89256135

256 Quercus rubra 7 2 2 42.20251934 -87.89585764

257 Quercus rubra 15 2 2 42.20246591 -87.89581181

258
Quercus 

alba
20 3 2 42.20241552 -87.89576822

259 Quercus alba 14 2 3 42.2024424 -87.89575431

260
Tilia 

americana
7 2 3 42.20230447 -87.89586135

261
Tilia 

americana
9 3 3 42.20230576 -87.89589554

262 Quercus rubra 12 2 2 42.20234745 -87.89588633

263
Tilia 

americana
7 2 2 42.20233791 -87.89584849

264 Quercus alba 9 3 3 42.20235142 -87.89589136

265 Quercus alba 17 3 3 42.20236137 -87.89602596

266
Quercus 
bicolor

18 2 2 42.20222239 -87.89608904

267
Quercus 
bicolor

13 2 3 42.20222049 -87.8960694

268
Quercus 
bicolor

8 3 3 42.20223832 -87.89620405

269
Quercus 
bicolor

7 2 3 42.20225339 -87.89623014

270
Quercus 
bicolor

7 3 3 42.20223355 -87.89622064

271
Quercus 
bicolor

8, 23 5 5 42.20218654 -87.89622266 double, cracked



272
Quercus 
bicolor

20 2 2 42.20237027 -87.89616474

273
Quercus 

alba
26 3 3 42.20239856 -87.89615865 vine

274 Carya ovata 13 2 2 42.2024133 -87.89611766

275 Quercus alba 13 2 2 42.2023727 -87.89605393

276 Carya ovata 8 2 2 42.20240184 -87.89590624

277
Tilia 

americana
11 4 3 42.20243418 -87.89587856

278 Carya ovata 8 2 2 42.20241836 -87.89584059

279 Quercus rubra 8 3 2 42.20253646 -87.89578689

280 Quercus alba 12 3 2 42.20254767 -87.89579979

281 Quercus rubra 14 3 3 42.2025389 -87.89589461

282 Carya ovata 12 2 3 42.20259964 -87.89600361

283 Carya ovata 15 2 2 42.20259631 -87.89608579

284
Tilia 

americana
10 4 4 42.20264229 -87.89611906

285
Quercus 

alba
23 2 2 42.20255268 -87.89617095

286
Tilia 

americana
9 2 2 42.2025345 -87.89612428

287 Quercus alba 18 3 3 42.20250795 -87.89608413

288
Tilia 

americana
18 2 3 42.20265115 -87.89621962

289 Quercus rubra 14 3 3 42.20269424 -87.89625245

290
Tilia 

americana
6 2 2 42.20271908 -87.89622047

291 Quercus rubra 14 3 3 42.20276827 -87.89617673

292
Tilia 

americana
13 3 4 42.20279532 -87.8962537

293 Quercus alba 14 3 2 42.20280415 -87.89615085

294
Quercus 
velutina

24 2 2 42.20281645 -87.8961503



295
Quercus 

alba
21 2 3 42.20281615 -87.89611475

296 Quercus alba 12 2 3 42.20275678 -87.89607038

297
Tilia 

americana
13 3 4 42.20268472 -87.89608958

298
Quercus 

macrocarpa
25 2 2 42.20267835 -87.8960851

299
Quercus 
velutina

29 3 4 42.20263971 -87.89595667

300 Quercus alba 19 2 2 42.20267948 -87.8959261

401
Quercus 
velutina

6 3 2 42.20187087 -87.89091026

402
Quercus 
velutina

6 2 3 42.20183463 -87.89088427

403
Quercus 
velutina

7 2 2 42.20182369 -87.89092222

404 Quercus alba 15 3 2 42.20186562 -87.89101657

405 Quercus alba 14 3 2 42.20190434 -87.8911096

406 Quercus alba 14 3 3 42.20192526 -87.891136 vines

407
Quercus 

alba
21 2 2 42.20201874 -87.89116588

408 Quercus alba 17 2 3 42.20192123 -87.89103854

409
Quercus 

macrocarpa
27 2 2 42.20069362 -87.8911689

410
Quercus 
velutina

21 2 2 42.20367501 -87.8914486

411
Quercus 

alba
33 2 2 42.20373672 -87.89205049

412
Tilia 

americana
21 and 2 2 2 42.20373786 -87.89209359 double

413 Quercus alba 17 2 2 42.20368184 -87.89239118

414
Tilia 

americana
11 and 10 3 3 42.20369926 -87.89242019 double

415
Quercus 
velutina

38 3 5 42.20368276 -87.89264915

416 Quercus alba 16 2 2 42.20365764 -87.89278799



417
Tilia 

americana
11 2 2 42.20367327 -87.89275352

418
Acer 

saccharum
8 2 2 42.20369978 -87.89276278

419
Quercus 

alba
20 3 2 42.20374746 -87.89390834

420
Quercus 

alba
21 2 2 42.20375448 -87.89392997

421
Quercus 
velutina

24 2 2 42.20375192 -87.89423175

422
Quercus 

rubra
28 3 2 42.20374081 -87.8944189

423 Quercus rubra 11 2 2 42.20375124 -87.89454122

424
Quercus 

alba
23 2 2 42.20374105 -87.89463303

425
Quercus 
velutina

17 2 2 42.2037659 -87.89468831

426
Quercus 

alba
24 2 2 42.20376012 -87.89469052

427
Quercus 

alba
25 2 2 42.20371583 -87.89470193

428
Quercus 

alba
22 2 2 42.20370353 -87.89467405

429
Quercus 

alba
22 2 2 42.20371663 -87.89491914

430
Quercus 

alba
26 2 2 42.20375085 -87.89496893

431
Quercus 

alba
20 2 2 42.20371653 -87.89511451

432 Quercus alba 17 2 3 42.20364693 -87.89515719 vine

433 Quercus alba 13 2 2 42.20369168 -87.89522669

434 Quercus alba 15 2 2 42.20373897 -87.8951953

435
Quercus 

alba
23 2 3 42.20375128 -87.8951788

436
Quercus 

alba
30 3 2 42.20375282 -87.89528671

437
Quercus 

alba
20 2 3 42.20369014 -87.89534884

438
Quercus 

alba
23 2 3 42.20369594 -87.89539411



439
Quercus 

alba
24 3 2 42.20369579 -87.89546537

440
Quercus 

alba
23 2 3 42.20363417 -87.89552884

441
Quercus 

alba
21 2 3 42.20366614 -87.89554896

442 Quercus alba 15 3 2 42.20365401 -87.89561131

443 Carya ovata 19 and 12 2 3 42.20372264 -87.89576075 double

444 Quercus alba 16 2 2 42.20375157 -87.89580914

445
Quercus 

alba
28 2 2 42.20370848 -87.89578717

446
Acer 

saccharum
26 and 11 2 2 42.20366168 -87.89572235 double

447
Quercus 
bicolor

24 3 2 42.20370279 -87.8959145 vines

448
Quercus 

macrocarpa
25 2 2 42.20372647 -87.8960805

449
Quercus 

macrocarpa
21 2 3 42.20367868 -87.89613423

450
Quercus 

macrocarpa
28 3 2 42.20367447 -87.89612482

451
Quercus 

alba
29 4 3 42.20365487 -87.8962139

452
Quercus 

macrocarpa
19 2 3 42.20357498 -87.89628595

453
Quercus 

rubra
22 4 3 42.20353058 -87.89630586 vines

454
Quercus 

alba
23 2 2 42.20375328 -87.89350735

455
Quercus 
velutina

29 2 3 42.20355903 -87.89635793

456
Quercus 

alba
20 2 3 42.20359282 -87.89633667

457 Quercus alba 18 4 4 42.20361413 -87.8963107

458
Quercus 

alba
22 3 4 42.20364023 -87.89636568

459 Quercus alba 17 3 3 42.20370829 -87.89634998



460
Quercus 
velutina

27 3 3 42.20371324 -87.8963514

461 Quercus alba 18 3 4 42.20093502 -87.89654041

462
Quercus 

alba
41 2 3 42.20092086 -87.89654269

463
Quercus 

alba
27 4 3 42.2007611 -87.89643849

464 Quercus alba 14 3 3 42.2007254 -87.89640497

465
Quercus 

rubra
20 3 2 42.20079012 -87.89624889

466 Carya ovata 6 2 2 42.20079775 -87.89625995

467 Quercus alba 17 4 4 42.2008155 -87.89623208 vine

468 Quercus rubra 17 3 2 42.20074129 -87.89612252

469
Quercus 
velutina

25 3 3 42.20062987 -87.89612422

470 Quercus rubra 11 3 3 42.20056466 -87.89621706

471 Quercus rubra 13 3 2 42.20062348 -87.8962748

501
Tilia 

americana
8 3 3 42.20275578 -87.89593778

502
Tilia 

americana
7 3 3 42.20275199 -87.89587353

503 Quercus alba 15 3 2 42.20269929 -87.89577085

504
Quercus 

alba
21 3 3 42.20274167 -87.89576933

505
Quercus 
velutina

25 3 3 42.20280699 -87.89584299

506
Quercus 
velutina

26 3 4 42.20285235 -87.89583149

507
Tilia 

americana
9 3 3 42.20287709 -87.89582282

508
Quercus 
velutina

14 2 2 42.20284731 -87.8960366

509 Quercus alba 14 3 3 42.20284312 -87.89617912

510 Quercus alba 19 2 2 42.20286776 -87.89607345

511
Quercus 

alba
25 2 3 42.20290895 -87.89616143



512
Quercus 

alba
21 2 2 42.2029491 -87.89617883

513
Quercus 
velutina

19 3 3 42.20295419 -87.89608012

514 Quercus rubra 6 2 2 42.20292458 -87.895989

515 Quercus alba 13 4 3 42.20297958 -87.89588163

516
Quercus 

alba
28 2 2 42.2029942 -87.89599754

517 Quercus rubra 19 3 3 42.20304474 -87.89601903

518
Quercus 

alba
21 3 3 42.20302872 -87.89612279

519
Quercus 
velutina

33 2 2 42.20312942 -87.89616979

520
Quercus 

alba
21 2 2 42.20319697 -87.89617363

521
Quercus 
bicolor

23 3 3 42.20318608 -87.89630105

522
Quercus 
velutina

27 2 3 42.20327797 -87.89610368

523
Quercus 

macrocarpa
26 4 3 42.20333608 -87.89606087 vines

524
Quercus 

macrocarpa
23 3 4 42.2034211 -87.89609337

525
Quercus 

macrocarpa
34 3 3 42.20344327 -87.8960767

526
Quercus 
bicolor

33 3 3 42.20354277 -87.89605696

527
Quercus 
bicolor

22 2 2 42.20353643 -87.89593764

528
Quercus 
bicolor

28 3 3 42.20356813 -87.89591765

529
Quercus 
velutina

29 3 3 42.20354767 -87.8957748

530 Quercus alba 16 2 3 42.20357811 -87.89577239

531 Quercus alba 19 3 3 42.20358974 -87.89565918

532 Quercus alba 7 3 3 42.20353644 -87.895719

533
Quercus 

alba
22 3 3 42.20348994 -87.89579131



534
Tilia 

americana
7 3 3 42.20346685 -87.89578828

535
Tilia 

americana
7 3 3 42.20343989 -87.89578944

536
Quercus 

alba
20 3 3 42.20338748 -87.89581663

537
Quercus 

alba
22 2 2 42.20338704 -87.8958415

538
Tilia 

americana
8 3 3 42.20341175 -87.89576708

539 Quercus alba 19 3 3 42.20190815 -87.89604051

540 Quercus alba 7 2 2 42.20190261 -87.89608125

541
Quercus 

alba
20 2 3 42.2019444 -87.89612229

542 Quercus rubra 9 3 2 42.20186206 -87.89611965

543 Quercus rubra 7 2 2 42.20187584 -87.89613069

544 Quercus rubra 9 3 2 42.20182534 -87.89616704

545 Quercus rubra 11 2 2 42.20184061 -87.89607777

546 Quercus rubra 13 3 3 42.20182998 -87.89619113

547 Quercus rubra 9,10 2 3 42.20181583 -87.89623007

548 Quercus rubra 8 4 3 42.20177955 -87.89614606

549 Quercus alba 14 4 3 42.20174473 -87.89605888

550
Quercus 
bicolor

9 2 3 42.20160398 -87.8961282

551 Quercus rubra 19 3 3 42.2013462 -87.89612077

552 Quercus alba 12 4 4 42.20150629 -87.89595937

553
Quercus 
bicolor

14 3 3 42.20180798 -87.89587747

554
Quercus 

alba
22 3 2 42.20353083 -87.89555658

555
Quercus 

alba
24 2 2 42.20356907 -87.8954591

556
Quercus 

alba
24 3 3 42.20360081 -87.89534633



557 Quercus alba 18 2 2 42.20368296 -87.89531356

558
Quercus 

alba
20 3 2 42.20354882 -87.89518375

559 Quercus alba 17 3 2 42.20353 -87.8952

560 Quercus alba 19 3 2 42.20354 -87.8951

561
Quercus 

alba
20 2 3 42.20360895 -87.89513037

562 Quercus alba 16 4 3 42.20351426 -87.89500912 heavy vines

563 Quercus alba 19 3 3 42.2036698 -87.89497709

564
Quercus 

alba
33 3 3 42.20372044 -87.8949729

565 Quercus alba 18 3 3 42.20367261 -87.89495053

566
Quercus 

alba
23 3 2 42.2036231 -87.89492992

567
Quercus 

alba
26 2 3 42.20326644 -87.89472301

568 Quercus rubra 8 2 3 42.20308389 -87.89469083

569 Quercus alba 16 3 3 42.20285911 -87.89492474

570
Quercus 
velutina

25 2 3 42.20284023 -87.89500371

571
Quercus 
velutina

20 3 3 42.20275298 -87.89497914

572
Acer 

saccharum
15 3 2 42.20253 -87.8951

573
Acer 

platanoides
16 3 2 42.20237945 -87.89519581

574
Quercus 
bicolor

22 2 2 42.20223447 -87.8945772

575
Quercus 
bicolor

7 3 2 42.20227298 -87.89450411

576
Quercus 
bicolor

9 2 3 42.20226815 -87.89447534

577
Quercus 
bicolor

11 4 4 42.20222036 -87.89437517

578
Quercus 
bicolor

7 4 4 42.2021041 -87.89439322

579
Gleditsia 

triacanthos
21 2 2 42.20176163 -87.89501587



580
Gleditsia 

triacanthos
9 3 2 42.20154853 -87.8947123

581 Quercus alba 19 2 3 42.20262513 -87.89457126

582 Quercus alba 12 3 2 42.2026008 -87.89452889

583 Quercus rubra 7 2 2 42.20255666 -87.89367817

584
Quercus 
bicolor

10 2 2 42.20251852 -87.89364934

585 Quercus alba 8 2 2 42.2028767 -87.89362483

586
Quercus 
bicolor

6 3 2 42.20294883 -87.89361313

587
Quercus 
bicolor

20 2 2 42.20327294 -87.89354196

588 Quercus alba 12 4 3 42.20325875 -87.89429887

589 Quercus alba 15 4 3 42.2035751 -87.89394184 vines

590 Quercus alba 13 2 3 42.2035578 -87.89390571

591
Quercus 

alba
20 2 2 42.20344973 -87.89383583

592
Quercus 

alba
22 2 3 42.20347585 -87.89338418 vines

593
Quercus 
bicolor

7 3 3 42.20340668 -87.89335043

594 Quercus rubra 18 4 3 42.20331296 -87.89340509 vines

595 Carya ovata 8 3 2 42.2032112 -87.89338622

596 Quercus rubra 12 2 2 42.20314771 -87.89334888

597 Carya ovata 10 2 3 42.20314803 -87.89330523

598 Quercus alba 17 4 3 42.20308676 -87.89333548 vine

599
Quercus 
bicolor

7 3 3 42.20285232 -87.89331245

600
Quercus 
bicolor

18 2 3 42.20263191 -87.89330509

801 Carya ovata 7 2 2 42.20255704 -87.89331514

802
Quercus 

alba
23 2 2 42.20251457 -87.89334661



803 Quercus alba 10, 7 3 3 42.20261024 -87.89342633 double

804 Quercus alba 10 2 2 42.2026755 -87.89346246

805 Carya ovata 9 3 2 42.20267208 -87.89346343

806 Quercus alba 16 2 2 42.20272201 -87.8934088

807 Quercus alba 15 4 4 42.20328413 -87.89279425

808 Quercus alba 15 3 2 42.20321709 -87.8927348

809
Tilia 

americana
13, 10 3 3 42.20346984 -87.89268648 double

810 Carya ovata 18 2 3 42.20352815 -87.89271945

811
Acer 

saccharum
20 2 2 42.20357791 -87.89268364

812 Quercus alba 16 3 3 42.20352989 -87.8926204

813
Quercus 
bicolor

20 4 3 42.20363043 -87.89253631

814
Quercus 

alba
26 2 2 42.20362291 -87.89250231

815
Quercus 
bicolor

9 2 3 42.20357377 -87.89235844

816
Quercus 
bicolor

13 2 2 42.20354573 -87.89234026

817
Quercus 
bicolor

8 3 2 42.20350602 -87.89240751

818
Quercus 
bicolor

7 3 2 42.2035067 -87.89242106

819
Quercus 
bicolor

9 3 3 42.20345793 -87.89232311

820 Quercus alba 16 4 3 42.20345791 -87.89224615

821
Quercus 
bicolor

11 2 3 42.20349189 -87.89224649

822
Quercus 
bicolor

6 2 3 42.20349811 -87.89224566

823
Quercus 
bicolor

7 2 3 42.20351551 -87.89226083

824 Quercus alba 8 2 2 42.20353929 -87.89223504

825 Quercus alba 8 2 3 42.20357409 -87.89217336



826
Quercus 
bicolor

7 2 2 42.20353453 -87.89218534

827
Quercus 
bicolor

9 3 3 42.20353515 -87.8921746

828 Quercus alba 6 3 2 42.20351395 -87.892205

829
Quercus 
bicolor

9 2 3 42.20350314 -87.89218729

830
Quercus 
bicolor

9 2 3 42.20346695 -87.8921536

831
Quercus 

alba
20 3 2 42.2035739 -87.89207536

832
Quercus 
bicolor

10 4 3 42.2034829 -87.89210083

833
Quercus 
bicolor

9 4 3 42.20349343 -87.8920496

834
Quercus 
bicolor

13 3 3 42.20372804 -87.89181145

835
Quercus 

alba
25 2 2 42.20363733 -87.8915272

836 Quercus alba 10 3 3 42.20368535 -87.89149851 barbed wire

837
Acer 

saccharum
10 3 2 42.20332436 -87.89195108

838
Quercus 
bicolor

11 2 3 42.20325096 -87.8919747

839
Gleditsia 

triacanthos
22 3 3 42.20281375 -87.89166 vines

840
Gleditsia 

triacanthos
16 2 3 42.20287804 -87.89188794

841
Quercus 

alba
23 3 2 42.20281722 -87.89209899

842
Quercus 

alba
23 3 3 42.20286556 -87.89212436

843
Celtis 

occidentalis
18 3 2 42.20288205 -87.89203437

844 Quercus alba 19 2 3 42.20298456 -87.89205226

845 Carya ovata 12 2 2 42.20298015 -87.89216335

846 Carya ovata 16 3 2 42.20298571 -87.89219106

847
Quercus 

alba
29 4 3 42.20307214 -87.89222591

848 Quercus alba 16 3 3 42.20304925 -87.89227496



849
Quercus 

alba
25 3 2 42.20304255 -87.89226677

850
Quercus 
bicolor

17 2 3 42.2029319 -87.89220847

851 Carya ovata 12 2 3 42.20287376 -87.89224702

852
Tilia 

americana
8 3 3 42.2028745 -87.89232914

853
Tilia 

americana
8 2 3 42.20287573 -87.89232887

854
Quercus 

alba
21 3 3 42.2028419 -87.89235485

855
Tilia 

americana
7 2 3 42.20276121 -87.89239331

856
Quercus 
velutina

20 2 2 42.20272287 -87.89229054

857 Quercus alba 18 2 2 42.20279469 -87.8921995

858
Quercus 

alba
26 3 3 42.20266606 -87.89226953

859 Quercus alba 16 4 3 42.20263295 -87.89218278

860
Tilia 

americana
6, 12 3 3 42.20261376 -87.89216728 double

861
Quercus 

alba
21 2 2 42.20272997 -87.8920924

862
Tilia 

americana
10 2 3 42.20270924 -87.89209235

863
Quercus 

macrocarpa
25 4 3 42.20244578 -87.89215007

864
Quercus 

macrocarpa
9 2 3 42.20243621 -87.89215982

865
Quercus 

macrocarpa
16 3 2 42.20237844 -87.89216358

866
Quercus 
bicolor

8 3 2 42.20234336 -87.89217183

867 Quercus alba 6 3 3 42.20232089 -87.89215883

868 Quercus rubra 12 2 2 42.202312 -87.89210711

869
Quercus 
velutina

15 2 3 42.20233029 -87.89207341

870 Quercus alba 6, 3 3 3 42.20232052 -87.89207418 double



871 Quercus alba 13 3 3 42.20237664 -87.892046

872 Quercus rubra 7 2 2 42.2022951 -87.8921144

873 Quercus rubra 10 3 3 42.20225391 -87.89210665

874 Quercus alba 9 2 2 42.20222758 -87.89210686

875 Acer rubrum 21 4 3 42.20219552 -87.89163842

876
Acer 

platanoides
11 3 2 42.2024349 -87.89161615

877
Tilia 

americana
13 4 4 42.20199165 -87.89204785

878 Acer rubrum 17 3 3 42.2018277 -87.89203373

879 Acer rubrum 18 4 4 42.20113403 -87.89175686

880 Acer rubrum 12 3 3 42.201191 -87.89180082

881 Acer rubrum 14 4 4 42.20114941 -87.89170154

882 Acer rubrum 13 4 4 42.20110886 -87.89172301

883 Quercus alba 18 3 2 42.20105518 -87.89166885

884 Quercus alba 19 4 4 42.20106092 -87.89162874

885
Quercus 
velutina

31 3 2 42.20105051 -87.8915651

886 Acer rubrum 17 4 3 42.20116701 -87.89148881

887
Quercus 

alba
25 1 1 42.20058616 -87.89188642

888
Quercus 

alba
23 2 2 42.20058907 -87.89189302

889
Quercus 
velutina

18 3 2 42.20061401 -87.89199958

890 Carya ovata 12 2 3 42.20060673 -87.89197529

891 Carya ovata 7 3 3 42.20060776 -87.89197482

892
Quercus 
velutina

21 2 2 42.20083857 -87.89184567

893 Quercus alba 19 2 2 42.20095693 -87.89156679

894 Quercus alba 18 2 2 42.20095626 -87.89155928



895 Quercus alba 18 2 3 42.20095233 -87.89155472

896
Quercus 

rubra
26 3 2 42.20095661 -87.89156481

897 Carya ovata 15, 7 3 3 42.20112318 -87.89126627 double

898 Quercus alba 19 4 4 42.20111822 -87.89126431

899
Quercus 
bicolor

24 3 2 42.20099966 -87.89114052

900
Quercus 

alba
21 2 2 42.20118642 -87.89112428

901
Quercus 

alba
20 2 2 42.20123473 -87.89108792

902 Quercus alba 15 4 4 42.20125489 -87.89110017

903
Quercus 

macrocarpa
24 2 2 42.20127025 -87.89109237

904
Quercus 

alba
20 2 3 42.20125042 -87.89122392

905
Quercus 

alba
22 2 3 42.20129138 -87.89127972

906 Quercus alba 13 2 2 42.20143228 -87.89112664

907
Quercus 

macrocarpa
12 2 3 42.20142831 -87.89108372

908 Quercus rubra 8 2 2 42.20143095 -87.89103181

909 Quercus alba 18 2 3 42.20145639 -87.89108326

910 Carya ovata 10 2 2 42.20147689 -87.89109985

911 Carya ovata 7 3 3 42.20151988 -87.89116007

912
Quercus 

alba
22 2 2 42.20162256 -87.8912239 vines

913
Quercus 

alba
24 4 4 42.20163389 -87.89120488

914
Quercus 

macrocarpa
20 3 3 42.20163891 -87.89112448

915 Carya ovata 11 2 2 42.20164265 -87.89107254

916 Quercus alba 19 2 2 42.20178104 -87.89104444



917
Quercus 

alba
20 2 3 42.201834 -87.89101567

918
Quercus 

alba
20 2 2 42.20184915 -87.8910665

919 Quercus alba 14 3 3 42.20184033 -87.89114703

920 Carya ovata 8 2 2 42.20179525 -87.89122907

921
Quercus 

alba
20 2 2 42.20173069 -87.89132439

922 Quercus alba 19 3 2 42.20185396 -87.89129755

923 Quercus alba 14 3 3 42.20187548 -87.891245

924 Quercus alba 15 2 2 42.20192083 -87.89121936

925 Quercus alba 16 3 3 42.20196328 -87.89122256

926 Quercus alba 17 2 3 42.20200486 -87.89125082

927
Quercus 

alba
24 2 2 42.20193928 -87.89135973

928 Quercus alba 15 3 2 42.20199929 -87.89134886

929 Quercus alba 8 4 4 42.20202335 -87.8913075

930 Quercus alba 13 2 3 42.2020662 -87.8913905

931
Quercus 

alba
21 2 2 42.20206465 -87.89135701

932 Quercus alba 14 3 3 42.20205291 -87.8913459

933 Quercus alba 19 2 2 42.20211433 -87.89124436

934
Carya 

cordiformis
14 2 2 42.20207283 -87.89121414

935 Quercus alba 14 2 2 42.20216611 -87.89123754

936 Quercus alba 15 2 2 42.20244048 -87.89117282

937 Quercus rubra 11 3 3 42.20145796 -87.89339874

938 Quercus alba 11 2 3 42.20148103 -87.89380731

939 Quercus rubra 8 3 3 42.20138976 -87.89314058



940 Quercus rubra 8 3 3 42.20139017 -87.89314001

941 Quercus rubra 9 2 2 42.20137007 -87.89316799

942
Quercus 
velutina

10 2 2 42.20142429 -87.89322809

943 Quercus alba 6 2 2 42.20140416 -87.89325876

944
Quercus 
velutina

13 2 2 42.20142996 -87.89329244

945 Quercus rubra 12 2 2 42.20302895 -87.89105608

946 Quercus alba 10 2 2 42.20290258 -87.89105996

947 Quercus alba 19 2 3 42.20286425 -87.89122642

948 Quercus alba 18 3 3 42.20279622 -87.89121919

949
Quercus 
velutina

21 2 2 42.20269639 -87.89102237

950
Celtis 

occidentalis
17 3 3 42.20268094 -87.89107976

951
Quercus 

alba
24 2 2 42.2027038 -87.89110199

952
Quercus 

alba
21 3 3 42.20263066 -87.89121969

953
Quercus 
velutina

17 2 3 42.20261294 -87.89114751

954 Quercus rubra 7 2 2 42.20259582 -87.89112751

955 Quercus alba 14 3 3 42.20257816 -87.89107659

956 Quercus alba 16 3 2 42.20258576 -87.89102108 with vines

957 Quercus alba 10 2 2 42.2026996 -87.89088734

958
Quercus 
velutina

14 2 3 42.20265208 -87.89086396

959
Quercus 

alba
39 2 3 42.20247668 -87.89104865

960
Quercus 
velutina

15 2 2 42.20254444 -87.89086297

961 Quercus rubra 8 3 3 42.20257051 -87.89086008

962 Quercus rubra 9 2 3 42.20256207 -87.89085068



963
Quercus 
velutina

9 3 2 42.20255685 -87.89081504

964
Quercus 
velutina

6 2 3 42.20247916 -87.89082474

965
Quercus 

alba
25 2 2 42.20241652 -87.89111687

966
Quercus 

alba
27 2 2 42.20239873 -87.8911075

967
Carya 

cordiformis
17 2 3 42.20246455 -87.89085523

968
Quercus 
velutina

10 2 3 42.20240833 -87.89083206

969 Quercus alba 8 2 2 42.20236746 -87.89088308

970
Quercus 

macrocarpa
15 3 3 42.2023428 -87.8910526 vines

971
Quercus 
velutina

8 3 2 42.20232841 -87.89106912

972
Quercus 

alba
32 2 2 42.20229258 -87.89111885

973 Carya ovata 12 3 2 42.20224644 -87.89101755 vine

974
Quercus 
velutina

29 2 2 42.2022733 -87.89088854

975
Quercus 
velutina

7 2 2 42.20229964 -87.89083692

976 Quercus alba 6 2 2 42.20224242 -87.89081931

977 Quercus alba 19 and 4 3 3 42.20223285 -87.8908737 double

978
Quercus 
velutina

7 3 2 42.20220567 -87.89086226

979 Quercus alba 13 2 3 42.20219296 -87.89100771

980
Quercus 
velutina

16 4 3 42.2021763 -87.891013

981 Carya ovata 7 2 2 42.20219609 -87.89107464

982 Quercus alba 16 3 3 42.20217779 -87.8911107 vines

983 Quercus alba 16 3 3 42.20216187 -87.8909874

984
Quercus 
velutina

9 3 3 42.20211385 -87.89113592

985 Quercus alba 16 3 3 42.20207831 -87.89113574 vine



986
Quercus 
velutina

12 2 2 42.20213895 -87.89089505

987
Quercus 
velutina

8 3 3 42.2021102 -87.8908609

988
Quercus 
velutina

11 2 2 42.20208436 -87.8908617

989
Quercus 
velutina

12 2 2 42.20206969 -87.89087733

990
Quercus 
velutina

7 3 3 42.20207647 -87.89088979

991
Quercus 
velutina

9 2 2 42.20203178 -87.89089829

992
Quercus 
velutina

6 3 3 42.20202712 -87.89089655

993
Quercus 
velutina

13 2 2 42.20202237 -87.89089944

994
Quercus 
velutina

9 3 2 42.20195275 -87.89088921

995
Quercus 
velutina

6 3 3 42.20192932 -87.89088294

996
Quercus 
velutina

6 2 3 42.20191744 -87.89090194

997
Quercus 
velutina

9 3 3 42.20188145 -87.89091362

998 Quercus alba 9 2 3 42.20190072 -87.89096527

999 Quercus alba 18 3 3 42.20193873 -87.89097242

1000
Quercus 
velutina

31 2 2 42.2019458 -87.89097839



HALF DAY ROAD

I
N

T

E

R

S

T

A

T

E

 
9

4

W

E

S

T
 
F

O

R

K

 
O

F
 
T

H

E

 
N

O

R

T
H

 
C

H

I
C

A

G

O

 
R

I
V

E

R

H
E

W
I
T

T

FUTURE

DEVELOPMENT

AREA #5

(2.1± AC)

D
R

I
V

E

C
R

E
E

K

D
R

I
V

E

W
O

O
D

FUTURE

DEVELOPMENT

AREA #2

(0.7± AC)

DEVELOPMENT AREA #1

THE ST. JAMES

± 349,613 SF (1ST FLOOR)

± 447,526 SF (TOTAL BLDG AREA)

FFE = 671.00

(8.1 ± AC)

FUTURE

DEVELOPMENT

AREA #4

(2.6± AC)

LOADING

AREA

DROP OFF

FUTURE

DEVELOPMENT

AREA #3

(2.5± AC)

COMPENSATORY

STORAGE

AREA

(1.0± AC)

6.0'

1
6
.
0

'

10.0'

5.0'

2.5"-4.5" CANOPY TREE 77

-

6`-8.5` ORNAMENTAL TREE 30

-

8`-10` EVERGREEN TREE 38

-

2.5" COLUMNAR DECIDUOUS TREE 9

-

MEDIUM SHRUB 211

-

LARGE SHRUB 121

-

EVERGREEN LARGE UPRIGHT SHRUB 83

-

SMALL SHRUBS, PERENNIALS, GROUNDCOVERS, AND GRASSES 22,062 SF

-

CONCEPT PLANT SCHEDULE

2.5"-4.5" CANOPY TREE 77

-

6`-8.5` ORNAMENTAL TREE 30

-

8`-10` EVERGREEN TREE 38

-

2.5" COLUMNAR DECIDUOUS TREE 9

-

MEDIUM SHRUB 211

-

LARGE SHRUB 121

-

EVERGREEN LARGE UPRIGHT SHRUB 83

-

SMALL SHRUBS, PERENNIALS, GROUNDCOVERS, AND GRASSES 22,062 SF

-

CONCEPT PLANT SCHEDULE

©

T
H

E
 
S

T
.
 
J
A

M
E

S

1
0
0
 
H

A
L
F

-
D

A
Y

 
R

O
A

D

L
I
N

C
O

L
N

S
H

I
R

E
,
 
I
L
 
6
0
0
4
5

L2.0

L
A

N
D

S
C

A
P

E
 
P

L
A

N

1-800-892-0123

Call

Before

You Dig

NORTH

SNOW

STORAGE

SNOW

STORAGE

TURF

SOD

TURF

SOD

TURF

SOD

SEED

SEED

SEED

EXISTING MATURE

TREES TO REMAIN

EXISTING MATURE

TREES TO REMAIN

TURF

SOD

SNOW

STORAGE

SEED

APPROXIMATELY 138 DEAD/DISEASED TREES PROPOSED TO BE REMOVED

APPROXIMATELY 265 HEALTHY TREES PROPOSED TO BE REMOVED



The St. James - Lincolnshire
January, 2019 Page 1

Preliminary
Stormwater
Management
Report

The St. James

100 Half Day Road
Lincolnshire, IL 60045

Prepared by:
Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
1001 Warrenville Road
Suite 350
Lisle, Illinois 60532

Prepared: January 31, 2019



The St. James - Lincolnshire
January, 2019 Page 2

1. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. serves as the engineering consultant for The St. James who is
proposing to redevelop approximately 41 acres (gross) of land located at the northeast quadrant of
Interstate 94 and Half Day Road in Lincolnshire, IL. The existing use is an office business park
previously utilized by Hewitt Associates and later Medline Industries.  The proposed development will
be constructed in phases. Phase I  includes the construction of the St. James building, parking
structure, and some additional parking and drives. Two detention basins and floodplain compensatory
storage will also be constructed in Phase I. Future phases include the final buildout of the remaining
lots. Mass grading and utility stubs for these future lots will be provided in Phase I.

This preliminary drainage report evaluates the pre and post development runoff characteristics of the
development and addresses the stormwater requirements of The Village of Lincolnshire and Lake
County Watershed Development Ordinance (WDO). The analysis of the proposed stormwater
detention basins was completed with the assistance of HydroCAD Version 9.10. All the stormwater
detention design in this report accounts for the future full built-out condition.

1.1. Pre Development Conditions
The property was previously developed and consists of existing buildings, parking lots, drive aisles,
detention basins, and corresponding utilities. The site is divided into two tributary areas. The south
and west sides of the site drain to two existing detention basins located west of Hewitt Drive. These
basins outfall to the storm sewer in Half Day Road before draining into the West Fork of the North
Branch of the Chicago River. The north and east areas of the site outfall directly to the West Fork of
the North Branch of the Chicago River. The southeast corner of the site is routed through an existing
detention basin before outfalling east to the river, and the northeast corner of the site is routed directly
to the river via storm sewer. Offsite runoff from the north and west is conveyed through the site via
storm sewer and sheet flow.

The site is located in the Wheeling Quadrangle, and a USGS Topographic Map has been provided in
the attachments of this report. The FEMA FIRM Maps and Flood Insurance Study (FIS) Number
17097CV004C enclosed show areas of the site within Zone AE with a 10-year base flood elevation
(BFE) of 666.0 and a 100-year BFE of 667.5. There is mapped floodway for the West Fork of the
North Branch of the Chicago River onsite, but no impacts to the floodway are proposed. The
remainder of the site is within Zone X. See the Preliminary Engineering Plans for the floodplain impact
limits.

There are approximlatey 3.37 acres of wetlands onsite. Refer to the enclosed Approximate Wetland
Delineation Exhibit created by Christopher B. Burke Engineering LTD and the Preliminary
Jurisdictional Determination Letter by Lake County SMC. As shown on the Final Engineering Plans,
0.61 acres of wetlands will be impacted by the proposed improvements. These wetlands will be
permitted and mitigated through an offsite wetland bank through both Lake County Stormwater
Management Commission (LCSMC) and the Army Corps of Engineers, depending on jurisdiction.

Per the NRCS soil map, the majority of the site consists of Montgomery silty clay loam and Nappanee
silt loam. An NRCS soil map is included in the attachments of this report.



The St. James - Lincolnshire
January, 2019 Page 3

1.2. Post Development Conditions
The proposed development will consist of multiple buildings with a single access to Half Day Road
via Hewitt Drive. To match existing drainage patterns, the site will have two tributary areas with two
outfalls that will not exceed the allowable release rate for the total development. Stormwater runoff
from the west side of the site will be routed through storm sewer to an underground detention facility
(Basin A). Runoff from the east side of the site will be routed through storm sewer to an underground
detention facility (Basin B).

A compensatory storage basin will be constructed in the southeast portion of the site due to the
impacts to the existing floodplain and will meet the WDO both in volume and elevation. Refer to the
Preliminary Engineering Plans for floodplain impact delineations.

Offsite runoff tributary to the site will be conveyed to the ponds via sheet flow and storm sewer. The
offsite flow will bypass the proposed detention basins over the emergency overflow weirs in the 100-
year storm events which will be included as part of the Final Stormwater Management Report for
review and concurrence.

2. DETENTION POND & VOLUME CONTROL DESIGN SUMMARY

The site detention calculations were completed using the SCS Unit Hydrograph method (TR-20) with
the HydroCAD software. Rainfall data was obtained from the Illinois State Water Survey’s Bulletin 71.
A huff distribution was assumed for the calculations.

The runoff from the site will enter the storm sewer systems and will be routed to one of the two
detention basins. Basin A will outfall to the storm sewer in Half Day Road, and Basin B will outfall
directly to the West Fork of the North Branch of the Chicago River. Refer to the Preliminary
Engineering Plans for a delineation of the tributary areas for each detention basin. Restrictor
manholes will be constructed downstream of the detention facilities to ensure the site allowable
release rates are not exceeded.

Due to the uncertainty of the future phases, a conservative approach was taken when designing the
detention basins. It was assumed that the tributary area to each basin comprised of 85% impervious
surfaces which resulted in an assumed site curve number of 95. The current site layout suggests the
ultimate build-out of this development will maintain less than 85% impervious surfaces.

Detention basins ‘A’ and ‘B’ will be constructed in Phase I of this development and will be
underground detention facilities with open (stone) bottoms to promote infiltration. Additional
investigation into the groundwater elevation is underway and will be incorporated into the final
design of the underground system.  See the Detention Basin Summary Table below for details on
each basin. All detention calculations are provided in the attachments of this report for reference.

The site is required to provide detention based on a gross release rate of 0.04 cfs/acre for the 2-year,
24-hour event and 0.15 cfs/acre for the 100-year critical storm event. The gross allowable release
rate calculation is provided below and excludes the area that is disturbed for the sole purpose of
providing floodplain compensatory storage (1.0 acres).



The St. James - Lincolnshire
January, 2019 Page 4

(2 − , 24 − ℎ ) = 0.04 ∗ 31.40 = .

(100 − ) = 0.15 ∗ 31.40 = .

DETENTION BASIN SUMMARY TABLE

Detention
Basin

Tributary
Area

(ac-ft)

CN

Storage
Volume

(ac-ft)

NWL
HWL

(100-YR)

2YR
Critical
Storm

Release
Rate (cfs)

100-YR
Critical
Storm

Release
Rate (cfs)

Basin A
(Underground) 18.09 95 6.62 658.00 663.97 0.67 2.44

Basin B
(Underground) 14.46 95* 5.38 658.00 664.91 0.46 1.96

Total Release Rate Provided: 1.13 4.40

Total Release Rate Allowed: 1.26 4.41

If any of the restrictor manholes become blocked or clogged, the emergency overflow route will
pass over broad crested weirs graded into the tops of each detention basin. The weirs have been
designed to convey the 100-year inflow rate based on a fully developed condition of all upstream
areas.

To meet the Water Quality Treatement requriements of the WDO, the first 0.85-inch of runoff over
85% of the impervious area shall be retained onsite. The west side of the site will drain to drain to
the underground Basin A. The underground system will be a corrugated metal pipe system with a
leaking joint construction which will allow stormwater to infiltrate into the soil below through the
granular base material. The outlet for Basin A will be elevated above the bottom of the basin which
will ensure the first 0.85-inch of runoff over 85% of the tributary impervious area will be treated. The
east side of the site will drain to the underground Basin B. Similar to Basin A, the primary outlet for
Basin B will be elevated to ensure the first 0.85-inch of runoff over 85% of the tributary impervious
area will be treated.



The St. James - Lincolnshire
January, 2019 Page 5

WATER QUALITY TREATMENT SUMMARY TABLE

BASIN A BASIN B

Impervious Area 15.38 12.29

Volume Control Required 1.09 ac-ft 0.87 ac-ft

Volume Control Provided 1.40 ac-ft 0.90 ac-ft

3. COMPENSATORY STORAGE DESIGN SUMMARY

Compensatory storage will be provided at 1.2 times the volume below the base flood elevation for
areas in which fill material is proposed within the floodplain limits. As shown in the attached exhibit,
0.01 ac-ft of 10-year floodplain and 1.12 ac-ft of 100-year floodplain are impacted by the proposed
development. Therefore, compensatory storage is being provided in the southeast corner of the
site. See the table below for the compensatory storage summary.

COMPENSATORY STORAGE SUMMARY TABLE

Fill Volume

(ac-ft)

Required Volume

(ac-ft)

Provided Volume

(ac-ft)

0-10 Year BFE 0.01 0.01 0.32

10-100 Year BFE 1.12 1.35 1.37

4. ATTACHMENTS

· USGS Topographic Map
· FEMA FIRM Map
· Flood Profile (FIS 17097CV004C)
· Flood Elevation Table (FIS 17097CV001C)
· SMC Preliminary Jurisdictional Determination Letter
· Approximate Wetland Delineation Exhibit
· Soil Map
· HydroCAD Model



―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│―│ ―│
―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│―│―│ ―│
―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│―│ ―│
―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│―│―│ ―│
―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│
―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│―│ ―│
―│

―│
―│ ―│―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│
―│

―│
―│ ―│―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│―│ ―│
―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│
―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│―│ ―│
―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│
―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│―│ ―│
―│

―│
―│ ―│―│―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│ ―│―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│ ―│―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│
―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│―│ ―│―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│
―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│
―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│
―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│―│―│ ―│
―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│
―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│
―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│

―│

―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

―│ ―│

..
..
.. ..

.
... .

.
.. . ..

.
..

.. .. .
. .. .

. ... ..
..
.

.
....

!"

!"

&PO

&PO

!"

!"

!"

&PO

!"

!"

!"

!"

!"

!"

&PO

^

^

^

^

▄n

▄n

▄Þ Þ@TT

▄Þ Þ@TT

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄â@T

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄n

▄Þ Þ@TT

▄n

▄n ▄n

▄n▄n ▄n

▄n

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

650

650

650

650

650 65
0

675

700

675

650

700

650

675

675 650

650

650

650

650

650

650

650

675

650

650675

675

70
0

700

675

675

700

675675

675

675

70
0675

70
0

700

675

675

700 675

675

675

675

65
0

700

650

675

650

700

700

650

675

650

650

650

675

675

725

750

700

70
0

725

725

725

700

675

650

65
0

650

650

650

650

650

650

70
0

725

700

72
5

67
5

700

700

675

675

700

675
67

5

72
5

725

700

725
72

5

675

675

700

70
0

700

700

70
0

675
700

675

70
0

700

675

675

700

650

650

650

650

65
0

650

675

650

650

650
650

675

650

65
0

650
650

650

650

650

650

650
67

5

675

67
5

675

675

675

675

700

700

700
700

675

675

67
5

675

675

675

675

65
0

650

650

650

675

650

675

675

675

675

675

67
5

67
5

675

675

675 675

675

675

70
0

675

67
5

675 650 67
5675

72
5

75
0

650

650
650

67
5

675

675

650

700

675

675

650

650

650

650

650

650

650

650

650

750

72
5

725

725

750

725

750

72
5

725

75
0

72
5

725

75
0

70
0

72
5

725

725

725

72
5

72
5

700

725

700

72
5

750

700

700

725

725

72
5

72
5

725

725

725

700

700

700

700

70
0

GAIL
DR

N 
HO

RA
TIO

 B
LV

D

W EVERETT RD

BR
AD

LE
Y R

D

FOX TRL

WALTERS AVE

AL
DE

N
LN

VERNON
LN

W KINGSBURY DR

W TANGLEWOOD DR
W HACKBERRY DR

MCHENRY RD

HO
FF

M A
N

L N

ESSEXLN

LONGMEADOW LN

W BRITTANY DR

BUNKER CT

TE
AL

LN

ASBURY DR

OA
KH

UR
ST

LN

JA
CK

SO
N 

DR

NOBLE CIR

DAUPHINE AVE

TELEGRAPH
RD

WILLOWBR OOK
RD

WI
LL

OW
SP

R I
N G

S R
D

N VENTURA DR

PEBBLE BEACH RD

OAKWOOD RD

CENTER AVE

E BURR OAK DR

E HINTZ RD

N 
HO

TZ
 R

D

RO
BI

NW
OO

D 
LN

LAKE COOK RD

E DUNDEE RD

S E
LM

HU
RS

T 
RD

TOWNLINE RD

LAKE-COOK RD
W LAKE COOK RD

E TOWNLINE RD

W DUNDEE RD

W HALF DAY RD

DUNDEE RD

N MILWAUKEE AVE

§̈¦94

§̈¦94

§̈¦94

§̈¦294

£¤45

£¤45

£¤45

£¤45

£¤45

£¤45

¬«21

¬«21

¬«83

¬«68

¬«53

¬«60

¬«22

¬«60

¬«68

¬«22

¬«68

¬«22

¬«21

¬«83

¬«68

¬«83

¬«60

¬«83

N MILWAUKEE AVE

MILWAUKEE AVE

S L
AK

E S
T

6T
H

ST

SA
UN

DE
RS

 R
D

HIGHLAND AVE

EL
IZA

BE
TH

 AV
E

GL
EN

N 
AV

E

ETON DR

BUFFA
LO GROVE RD N MAIN ST

E CANTERBURY DR

EL
IZA

BE
TH

CT

S MILWAUKEE AVE

N MILWAUKEE AVE

DENOYER TRL

GREENLEAF DR

HI
DD

EN
LA

KE
DR

MA
N D

A
LN

OA
K GR

OVE
DR

W APTAKISIC RD

OLD CHECKER RD

LAKEVIEW DR

N 
BU

FF
AL

O 
GR

OV
E R

D

GOLFVIEW TER

CREEKSIDE DR

WESTMORELAND DR

GILMER RD

SHAGBARK RD

PORTSHIRE DR

LE
XIN

G T
ON

DR

INVERRARY LN

ARLINGTON DR

DUFFY LN

FL
OR

EN
CE

 AV
E

N
VO LZ

DR W

N
HI

GH
LA

ND
AV

E

WH
EE

LIN
G

AV
E

CHICORY LN

W OLD MILL RD

ARMSTRONG DR

N ASPEN
DR

RA
UP

P B
LV

D

TAHOE CIRCLE DR

MEYERSON WAY

AUGUSTA DR

PORT CLINTON RD

N ARLINGTON HEIGHTSRD

BR
IA

RW
OO

D
DR

JOHNSON DR

ROSE BLVD

SYCAMORE ST

INLAND DR

NEWTOWN DR

CA
RR

IA
GE

WA
Y D

R

KNOLLWOOD DR

NORTHGATE PKWY

MONTEREY DR

MORS AVE

WH
EE

LIN
G 

RD
BRANDYWYN LN

W HAPPFIELD DR

WINDSOR DR

NICHOLS RD

W UNIVERSITY DR

ST
ON

E FEN
CE RD

SHADY LN

GR
EE

N
KN

OL
LS

DR

IN
DI

AN
WO

OD
D R

N 
RI

DG
E A

VE

PEKARA DR

AV
AL

ON
DR

VALLEY STREAM DR

CH
AD

DI
CK

DR

OA
K

KN
OL

L D
R

YORKSHIRE LN

THOMPSON BLVD

FREMONT WAY

CHIPPEWA TRL

S A
SP

EN
 D

R
CHERRY VALLEY RD

SAINT MARYS PKWY

FARRINGTON DR

DAYBREA KLN

E JEFFERY AVE

ROBERT PARKER COFFIN RD

WI
LSH

IRE
 DR

ARCADY
DR

RANNEY AVE

REGENT DR

LAWRENCE AVE

W FABISH DR

SH
AU

N 
DR

PEMBROKE LN

THORNGATE LN

E MANCHESTER DR

WILLOW PKWY

ORLEANS DR

N WALNUTAVE

BIRC HWOOD LN

N
WI

ND
SO

R
DR

W JEFFERY AVE

LINDENWOOD LN

COUNTRYSIDE DR

SC
ON

WA
Y FAR

M DR

TIMBE
R

HI
LL

RD

BELMAR LN

W PHILLIP RD

N
HA

RV
A R

D A
VE

NAVAJO
TRL

SOUTHFIELD DR

TWISTED OAK LN W POPE BLVD

LOCKWOOD DR

UNIVERSITY DR

PRESERVE PKWY

IN
DI

AN
 SP

RIN
G 

LN

W DEERPATH RD

PAULINE AVE

CA
MB

RI
DG

E
DR

WE
IDN

ER
 RD

LO
NG

TR
EE

 D
R

ARBOR LN

SA
INT

AR
MAN

D LN

SHAMB LISS LN

ST
AN

TO
N

DR

W H
IT

E P
IN

E R
D

HAWTHORN RD

E FABISH
DR

SC
HO

EN
BE

CK
 R

D

CHESTNUT TER

EV
ER

GR
EE

N
DR

E FOX HILL DR

ARMOUR BLVD

CL
EN

DE
NI

N 
LN

SURREY LN

E DENNIS RD
FOXFORD DR

W STRONG ST

ENDWOOD DR

W BERKLEY DR

RIVERWALK DR

RAINTREE RD

ST
ON

EGA
TE RD

E N
OR

MA
N 

LN

RING DR

RUSSETT CT

BLACKTHORN RD

W HICKORY ST

S FIORE PKWY

OSAGE RD

CAMBRIDGE LN

SHERWOODDR

N 
KE

NN
IC

OT
T A

VE

CONWAY RD

SW
I LS

ON
DR

R A
PH

A E
L A

V E

N
DE

ER
PA

TH
DR

WELLINGTO
N

DR

W BURR OAK DR

RIV
ER

WO
OD

S R
D

CRESTLAND RD

LIN
CO

LN
SH

IRE
DR

ES
SIN

GT
O N

LN

PO
RT

WI
NE

 R
D

PA
TT

ON
 D

R

BRAMPTON LN

SHADY
GROVE LN

LASALLE ST

BUSCH PKWY

MARRIOTT DR

FL
ET

CH
ER

DR

RIVERSHIRE LN

N
WO

LF
R D

GEORGE RD

SA
ND

AL
W O

OD
RD

S WEST FORK DR

APTAKISIC RD

CO
 H

WY
 73

BOND ST

CRESTWOOD LN

N 
PR

AI
RI

E R
D

RIVERSIDE RD

GR
EE

N V
I EW

LN

BE
RK

SH
IR

E D
R

RUTGERS LN

GL
EN

DALE RD

BRIDGEWATER LN

BOWLING GREEN DR

WOODSTONE DR

BE
RK

SH
I R E

LN

SHEFFIELD LN

MA
DI

S O
N

DR

N FIORE PKWY

BERNARD DR

INDIAN HILL DR

BAXTER PKWY

N
FA

I RW
AY

DR

MELODY RD

E C
OU

RS
E

DR

N 
ST

 M
AR

YS
 R

D

MI
LL

CR
EE

K
DR

RIV
ER

WO
OD

S B
LVD

ORANGE BRACE RD

BEECHWOOD RD

BRISTOL LN

TOWER PKWY

ES
TA

TE
L N

SANDERS RD

S O
LD

CR
EE

K RD

BL
UE

HE
RO

N
DR

ACACIA TER

ANNAPOLIS DR

CT
Y W

24

PLYMOUTH CT

MONTCLAIR RD

REGENT LN

SHERIDAN RD

CAREN DR

OXFORD DR

BL
A C

K H
AW

K
LN

DEERFIELD PKWY

BUFFAL O
GR OVE RD

BU
FF

AL
O 

GR
OV

E R
D

INDIAN
CREEK RD

BA
RC

LA
YB

LV
D

A R
L IN

GT
ON

HE
IG

HT
SR

D

N 
BE

TT
Y D

R

BLUE ASH DR

HI
AW

AT
HA

LN

STONEHAVEN
DR

SA
UN

DE
RS

 RD

EL
LE

N 
DR

PORT CLINTON RD

ALEXANDER DR

SD
EE

RP
ATH

DR

LA
KE

SID
E D

R

LAKEV IE W
PKWY

ANTHONY RD

S WOLF RD

CHECKER RD

APPLE HILL LN

W
WA

YN
E P

L

MALL DR

WH
IPP

LE
TR

EE
DR

CT
Y W

11

SUSSEX CIR

W BRAESIDE DR

E C
HE

VY
CH

ASE
DR

DOWNING RD

ROSLYN LN

HAMPTON
DR

MUSEUM BLVD

CUMBERLAND DR

FOREST VIEW DR

E HACKBERRY DR

SILVER
ROCK LN

WI
ND

RID
GE

DR

WO
OD

LA
ND

 LN

RONNIE DR

SUMTER DR

PA
RK

WA
Y DR

BURNT EMBER LN

JU
NE

BE
RR

Y
RD

WEDGEWO OD
DR

HILLTOP RD

SPRINGSIDE LN

THORNMEADOW
RD

GREENACRE DR

CHAUCER WAY

JUNEWAY AVE

CREEK BEND DR

EL
M

RD

OA
KW

O O
D

CI
R

W BROADLAND LN

LAKEWOOD DR

EA
ST

GA
TE

LN

TA
LL

OA
KS

DR

KE
T T

ER
ING

DR

EDGEWOOD LN

CTY 40

WILLIAMS WAY

W WOODBINE CIR

ABB OT
T

CT

TR
ILL

IU
M 

LN

MID
WA

Y L
N

IN
DU

ST
RI

AL
 D

R

HEATHROW DR

W HAWTHORN PKWY

WIEDNER RD

CO
 H

WY
 79

THORNDALE DR

W CAMPUS DR

COUGAR WAY

SUNSET LN

W RIVER OAKS RD

NIKE PKWY

S WOODBINE CIR

E MILL RD

MI
LL

BR
OO

K
DR

HAWTHORNE LN

W MAYLAND VILLA RD

LONDONDERRY LN

N
FIE

LD
D R

NE
K T

OS
HA

WA
Y

CORPORATE WOODS PKWY

STEVENSON DR

W COURSE DR

N 
AP

PL
E H

ILL
 LN

AMERICAN WAY

TALLGASS LN

FOREST EDGE DR

TAKEDA PKWY

PRAIRIE VIEW LN

N
FA

RW
EL

LR
D

N STATE RTE 53

DUNDEE RD

W STATE RTE 22

W DUNDEE RD

MCHENRY RD

W KENNEDY RD

MCHENRY RD

W HALF DAY RD

E DUNDEE RD

E TOWNLINE RD / I L RT 60

MUNDELEIN RD

LAKE COOK RD

STONEBRIDGE DR

W HINTZ RD

LAKE CO
LAKE CO
COOK CO

COOK CO

Little
Bear Lake

West
Lake

Big Bear
Lake

Harvey
Lake

Des Plaines Riv e r

SeaveyDrainageDitch

N
Br Chicago River

Indian Cr

Indian Cr

Lake
Terramere

Indian Cr

Lake
Shermerville

Lake
Potawatomi

De
s P

lai
ne

s Rive
r

Des Plaines River

Wheeling Drainage Ditch

White Pine
Ditch Reservoir

Buffalo Cr

Trinity
International
Univ

Worsham College
of Mortuary
Science

Lake Forest Graduate
School of Management

Saint
Marys Cem

Vernon
Cem

Wheeling
Cem

Diamond
Lake Cem

Randhill
Park Cem

Gridley
Cem

Knopf
Cem

Willow
Lawn Cem

NORTHBROOK

Riverwoods

Bannockburn

North
Northfield

LAKE
FOREST

DEERFIELD

Riverwoods

Melody

WHEELING

MUNDELEIN

ARLINGTON HEIGHTS

BUFFALO GROVE

VERNON
HILLS

LIBERTYVILLE

LINCOLNSHIRELONG
GROVE

Mettawa

Aptakisic

Prairie
View

Buffalo
Grove

Horatio
Gardens

Half Day

Indian
Creek

Leithton

66

67

68

69

70

71

72

73

74

75

76

77

65

4678000mN

66

67

68

69

70

71

72

73

74

75

76

4665000mN

77

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 2618 427000mE

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26418000mE 27

42.1250°

42.2500°
-88.0000° -87.8750°

42.2500°

42.1250°-87.8750°-88.0000°

4

12

27

35

9

30

3

7

15

7

9

34

18

7

28 25

34

8

5

10

1

8

6

33

23

33

30

11

16

6

31

2

13

31

20

36

19

6

22

11

12

29

21

36

14

19

4

17

24

6

3

18

31

32

7

35

5 2

1

10

31

26

32

T43N R12E

T42N R12E

T43N R11E

T44N R12E

T42N R11E

T44N R11E

QUADRANGLE LOCATION

WHEELING QUADRANGLE
ILLINOIS

7.5-MINUTE SERIES

WHEELING,  IL
2018

Expressway Local Connector
ROAD CLASSIFICATION

Ramp 4WD
Secondary Hwy Local Road

Interstate Route State RouteUS RouteWX ./ H

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
 U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY

 

This map was produced to conform with the 
National Geospatial Program US Topo Product Standard, 2011.

A metadata file associated with this product is draft version 0.6.18

CONTOUR INTERVAL 5 FEET
NORTH AMERICAN VERTICAL DATUM OF 1988

SCALE 1:24 000

1000 500 0 METERS 1000 2000
21KILOMETERS00.51

1 0.5 0
MILES

1

1000 0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 6000 7000 8000 9000 10000
FEET

×

Ø
GN

MN

0°38´

11 MILS

3°43´

66 MILS

UTM GRID AND 2017 MAGNETIC NORTH

DECLINATION AT CENTER OF SHEET

DM

Grid Zone Designation
16T

U.S. National Grid
100,000 - m Square ID

ILLINOIS

1 Grayslake

8 Park Ridge

2 Libertyville
3 Waukegan
4 Lake Zurich
5 Highland Park
6 Palatine
7 Arlington Heights

ADJOINING QUADRANGLES

3

5

2

4

1

76 8

Imagery.....................................................NAIP, August 2015 - October 2015
Roads......................................... U.S. Census Bureau, 2017
Names............................................................................GNIS, 1980 - 2017
Hydrography...............................National Hydrography Dataset, 2002 - 2017
Contours............................................National Elevation Dataset, 2003 - 2011
Boundaries..............Multiple sources; see metadata file 2014 - 2016
Public Land Survey System................................................BLM, 2017
Wetlands.................FWS National Wetlands Inventory 1980 - 1981

North American Datum of 1983 (NAD83)
World Geodetic System of 1984 (WGS84).  Projection and
1 000-meter grid:Universal Transverse Mercator, Zone 16T

Produced by the United States Geological Survey

This map is not a legal document. Boundaries may be
generalized for this map scale. Private lands within government
reservations may not be shown. Obtain permission before
entering private lands.

*
7
6
4
3
0
1
6
3
6
5
9
1
4
*

N
S

N
.

7
6

4
3

0
1

6
3

6
5

9
1

4
N

G
A

 R
E

F
 N

O
.

U
S

G
S

X
2

4
K

7
2

0
3

9













 

 

LAKE COUNTY STORMWATER MANAGEMENT COMMISSION 
500 W. Winchester Road, Suite 201      Libertyville, Illinois 60048    847/377-7700      FAX 847/984-5747 

   http://il-lakecounty.civicplus.com/553/Stormwater-Management-Commission 

 
 

 
 
 
 
September 6, 2018 
 
Ms. Ursula Bryan 
Medline Industries, Inc.  
Three Lakes Drive  
Northfield, Illinois 60093 
 
Subject: SMC #:  IWLC-18-164 

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers #: LRC-2015-475 
Medline Campus, 90, 98, and 100 Half Day Road, Lincolnshire, Lake County, IL 
PIN #s: 15-13-400-043, 15-13-400-044, and 15-13-400-045 

 PRELIMINARY WETLAND JURISDICTIONAL DETERMINATION  
 
Dear Ms. Bryan: 
 
This letter responds to a request for a preliminary wetland jurisdictional determination (PJD) on the 
above-referenced property submitted on your behalf by Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd. (CBBEL) 
and received by the Lake County Stormwater Management Commission (SMC) on August 10, 2018, with 
additional items received on August 17, 2018.  SMC reviewed source materials, including previous 
determinations for this site, and performed a site reconnaissance on August 31, 2018, in the company of 
Mr. Michael Machalek of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers-Chicago District (USACE).  Per request, 
this PJD only covers Wetland #9 on the enclosed Exhibit 7 entitled “Approximate Wetland Delineation” 
by CBBEL, dated July 25, 2018. The enclosed Approved Jurisdictional Determination (AJD) issued by 
the USACE on February 5, 2016, addresses the other mapped wetland/water features at this site and is 
valid until February 2021.  
 

 Wetland #9 does not appear to meet the definition of Waters of the United States (WOUS), 
as defined in the Clean Water Rule (33 CFR Part 328, 6/29/15), by virtue of being a man-
made stormwater management feature constructed to convey stormwater that was created in 
dry land.  
 

 Based on a review of available information, documentation provided by CBBEL on August 10, 
2018, and previous site information provided by V3 Consultants on October 6, 2015, SMC’s 
Chief Engineer has determined that “Wetland #9” meets exclusion criterion a.(4) under the 
definition of Isolated Waters in Appendix A of the Lake County Watershed Development 
Ordinance (WDO): “Roadside ditch.”  In addition this letter reaffirms that “Pond 10,” “Pond 
11,” “Pond 12” and “Pond 13” meet IWLC exclusion criterion a.(1): “Excavations and 
impoundments that have received a permit from the appropriate jurisdictional authority.”  
Therefore, those locations are not considered regulatory wetlands or waters.  
 

This PJD has been approved by SMC’s Chief Engineer and the findings are valid for a period of three (3) 
years from the date of this letter, unless new information warrants a revision before the expiration date.  If 
you disagree with the findings of this PJD, you may request a final (approved) JD from the USACE.  
 
Per the attached AJD, please note that “Wetland #1,” “Wetland #2,” “Wetland #3,” “Wetland #5,” 
and “Wetland #6” are apparent IWLCs subject to regulation by SMC under the WDO.  



Ursula Bryan 
September 6, 2018 
SMC #IWLC-18-164 
Page 2 of 2 

 

U:\Regulatory Program\Permits\18 Permits\IWLC\IWLC-18-164  Medline Campus PJD_Lincolnshire\PERMITS\PJD ltr.doc 

Permitting Considerations 
 
 This letter satisfies the requirement for a written jurisdictional determination under WDO §1001 for 

the indicated wetlands/waters.   
 

 The surveyed boundaries of all regulatory wetlands (WOUS and IWLC) will need to be included on 
the project plans for permitting purposes. 

 
 A Watershed Development Permit (WDP) will be required for proposed campus development.  Please 

contact Mr. Robert Gardiner, SMC’s Permit Engineer, at 847-377-7704 or 
rgardiner@lakecountyil.gov for the WDP submittal requirements.  

 
 If the proposed development will impact IWLCs, SMC’s written approval will be required as a 

condition of the WDP.  Please contact Juli Crane, SMC’s Principal Wetland Specialist, at 847-377-
7708 or jcrane@lakecountyil.gov for the isolated wetland submittal requirements.  
 

 If the proposed development will impact WOUS, a separate wetland permit from the USACE will be 
required.  Please refer to the USACE-Chicago District’s web site for the permit application submittal 
requirements: http://www.lrc.usace.army.mil/Missions/Regulatory/Illinois/AppChecklist.aspx.  The 
USACE may require SMC’s technical review/approval of the proposed soil erosion and sediment 
control plan (SE/SC) for the development as a condition of the USACE permit.  We will advise you if 
our SE/SC review/approval is required. 

 
We would like to be of assistance.  If you have any questions, or would like to set up a meeting, please 
call our office at 847-377-7700.  If you have any additional concerns that have not been addressed by the 
regulatory staff, you may contact Chief Engineer Kurt Woolford kwoolford@lakecountyil.gov or 
Executive Director Michael Warner mwarner@lakecountyil.gov. 
 
Sincerely,  
LAKE COUNTY STORMWATER MANAGEMENT COMMISSION                        
 
 
 
Kurt Woolford, P.E., CFM   Juli E. Crane, PWS, CWS, CFM 
Chief Engineer   Principal Wetland Specialist 
 
Enclosure:  Exhibit 7—Approximate Wetland Delineation (CBBEL, dated 7/25/18) 
 Approved Jurisdictional Determination (USACE, dated 2/5/16) 
 
xc: Kathy Chernich/Mike Machalek, USACE; 

Jedd Anderson, CBBEL  
 

 
 

This document was digitally transmitted.  Please print out a copy of the document and retain for your records.  If you are 
unable to print the document, or desire a hard copy mailed be to you, please notify SMC at your earliest convenience.   





 DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY 
 CHICAGO DISTRICT, CORPS OF ENGINEERS 

 231 SOUTH LA SALLE STREET 

 CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 60604-1437 

    REPLY TO 

    ATTENTION OF:  

 

 

 

 

February 5, 2016 

Technical Services Division 

Regulatory Branch 

LRC-2015-00475 

 

 

SUBJECT:  Jurisdictional Determination for a Property Located at 90, 98 and 100 Half Day 

Road in Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois  

 

Kate Slattery 

Medline Industries, Inc. 

One Medline Place 

Mundelein, IL 60060 

 

Dear Ms. Slattery: 

 

This is in response to your request that the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers complete a 

jurisdictional determination for the above-referenced site submitted on your behalf by V3 

Companies of Illinois.  The subject project has been assigned number LRC-2015-00475.  Please 

reference this number in all future correspondence concerning this project. 

 

Following a review of the information you submitted, this office has determined that the 

subject property contains "waters of the United States".   

 

Areas 4, 7 and 8 have been determined to be under the jurisdiction of this office and 

therefore, subject to Federal regulation.   

 

Areas 1, 2, 3, 5 & 6 have been determined to be isolated and therefore not subject to 

Federal regulation.  Please be informed that this office does not concur with the boundaries of 

waters not under the jurisdiction of this office.   

 

Areas 9, 10, 11 and 12 are water features Exempt from Federal regulation.  Please be 

informed that this office does not concur with the boundaries of waters not subject to Federal 

regulation.  Please be informed that this office does not concur with the boundaries of waters not 

under the jurisdiction of this office.   

 

In the event an application is submitted for work within jurisdictional areas, a 

concurrence of the wetland boundaries and/or a professional survey of the identified wetland and 

water features stamped by a professional surveyor will need to be prepared and shall accompany 

the approved wetland delineation.   

 

 



 

 

For a detailed description of our determination please refer to the enclosed decision 

document.  This determination covers only your project as depicted in the “Wetland Delineation 

Map, Figure: 9, Medline Campus Development, Lincolnshire, IL” prepared by V3. 

 

This determination is valid for a period of five (5) years from the date of the letter, unless 

new information warrants revision of the determination before the expiration date or a District 

Commander has identified, after public notice and comment, that specific geographic areas with 

rapidly changing environmental conditions merit re-verification on a more frequent basis. 

 

This letter is considered an approved jurisdictional determination for your subject site.  If 

you object to this determination, you may appeal, according to 33 CFR Part 331.  Enclosed you 

will find a Notification of Appeal Process (NAP) fact sheet and a Request for Appeal (RFA) 

form.  If you request to appeal the above determination, you must submit a completed RFA form 

to the Great Lakes/Ohio River Division Office at the following address: 

 

Jacob Siegrist 

Appeal Review Officer 

Great Lakes and Ohio River Division 

CELRD-PD-REG 

550 Main Street, Room 10032 

Cincinnati, Ohio  45202-3222 

Phone: (513) 684-2699 Fax: (513) 684-2460 

 

In order to be accepted, your RFA must be complete, meet the criteria for appeal and be 

received by the Division Office within sixty (60) days of the date of the NAP.  If you concur with 

the determination in this letter, submittal of the RFA form to the Division office is not necessary. 

 

This determination has been conducted to identify the limits of the Corps Clean Water 

Act jurisdiction for the particular site identified in this request.  This determination may not be 

valid for the wetland conservation provisions of the Food Security Act of 1985, as amended.  If 

you or your tenant are USDA program participants, or anticipate participation in USDA 

programs, you should request a certified wetland determination from the local office of the 

Natural Resources Conservation Service prior to starting work. 

 

It is your responsibility to obtain any required state, county, or local approvals for impacts 

to wetland areas not under the Department of the Army jurisdiction.  For projects in incorporated 

areas of Lake County, please contact the Lake County Stormwater Management Commission at 

(847) 377-7700 

 

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Clean Water Act, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 

regulates the discharge of dredged or fill material into waters of the United States, including 

wetlands.  A Department of the Army permit is required for any proposed work involving the 

discharge of dredged or fill material within the jurisdiction of this office.  To initiate the permit 

process, please submit a joint permit application form along with detailed plans of the proposed 

work.  Information concerning our program, including the application form and an application 

checklist, can be found at and downloaded from our website: 



 

 

http://www.lrc.usace.army.mil/Missions/Regulatory.aspx 

 

If you have any questions, please contact Melyssa R. Navis of my staff by telephone at 

312-846-5533 or email at melyssa.r.navis@usace.army.mil. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

Kathleen G. Chernich 

Chief, East Section 

Regulatory Branch 

 

 

 

 

Enclosures 

 

Lake County Stormwater Management Commission (Kurt Woolford) 

Lake County Planning, Building and Development Department (Steve Crivello) 

V3 (Scott Brejcha) 

 

 

 

 



 

NOTIFICATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE APPEAL OPTIONS AND PROCESS AND  

REQUEST FOR APPEAL 
 

Applicant:  Medline Industries                 
 

File Number:  LRC-2015-00475 
Date:  January 11, 

2016 

Attached is:   See Section below 

 INITIAL PROFFERED PERMIT (Standard Permit or Letter of Permission) A 

 PROFFERED PERMIT (Standard Permit or Letter of Permission) B 

 PERMIT DENIAL C 

 X APPROVED JURISDICTIONAL DETERMINATION D 

 PRELIMINARY JURISDICTIONAL DETERMINATION E 

SECTION I - The following identifies your rights and options regarding an administrative appeal of the above decision.  Additional 

information may be found at http://www.usace.army.mil/CECW/Pages/reg_materials.aspx or Corps regulations at 33 CFR Part 331. 

A. INITIAL PROFFERED PERMIT:  You may accept or object to the permit. 
 

 ACCEPT:  If you received a Standard Permit or a Letter of Permission (LOP), you may sign the permit document and return it to 

the district commander for final authorization.  Your signature on the Standard Permit or acceptance of the LOP means that you 

accept the permit in its entirety, and waive all rights to appeal the permit, including its terms and conditions, and approved 

jurisdictional determinations associated with the permit. 
 

 OBJECT:  If you object to the permit (Standard or LOP) because of certain terms and conditions therein, you may request that 

the permit be modified accordingly. You must complete Section II of this form and return the form to the district commander.  

Your objections must be received by the district commander within 60 days of the date of this notice, or you will forfeit your 

right to appeal the permit in the future.  Upon receipt of your letter, the district commander will evaluate your objections and 

may: (a) modify the permit to address all of your concerns, (b) modify the permit to address some of your objections, or (c) not 

modify the permit having determined that the permit should be issued as previously written.  After evaluating your objections, 

the district commander will send you a proffered permit for your reconsideration, as indicated in Section B below. 

B. PROFFERED PERMIT: You may accept or appeal the permit 
 
 ACCEPT:  If you received a Standard Permit or a Letter of Permission (LOP), you may sign the permit document and return it to 

the district commander for final authorization.  Your signature on the Standard Permit or acceptance of the LOP means that you 

accept the permit in its entirety, and waive all rights to appeal the permit, including its terms and conditions, and approved 

jurisdictional determinations associated with the permit. 
 

 APPEAL:  If you choose to decline the proffered permit (Standard or LOP) because of certain terms and conditions therein, you 

may appeal the declined permit under the Corps of Engineers Administrative Appeal Process by completing Section II of this 

form and sending the form to the division commander.  This form must be received by the division commander within 60 days of 

the date of this notice. 

C. PERMIT DENIAL: You may appeal the denial of a permit under the Corps of Engineers Administrative Appeal Process by 

completing Section II of this form and sending the form to the division commander.  This form must be received by the division 

commander within 60 days of the date of this notice. 

D. APPROVED JURISDICTIONAL DETERMINATION:  You may accept or appeal the approved JD or provide new 

information. 
 
 ACCEPT:  You do not need to notify the Corps to accept an approved JD.  Failure to notify the Corps within 60 days of the date 

of this notice, means that you accept the approved JD in its entirety, and waive all rights to appeal the approved JD. 
 
 APPEAL:  If you disagree with the approved JD, you may appeal the approved JD under the Corps of Engineers Administrative 

Appeal Process by completing Section II of this form and sending the form to the division commander.  This form must be 

received by the division commander within 60 days of the date of this notice. 

E. PRELIMINARY JURISDICTIONAL DETERMINATION:  You do not need to respond to the Corps regarding the preliminary 

JD.  The Preliminary JD is not appealable.  If you wish, you may request an approved JD (which may be appealed), by 

contacting the Corps district for further instruction.  Also you may provide new information for further consideration by the 

Corps to reevaluate the JD.  



 

 

SECTION II - REQUEST FOR APPEAL or OBJECTIONS TO AN INITIAL PROFFERED PERMIT 

 

REASONS FOR APPEAL OR OBJECTIONS:  (Describe your reasons for appealing the decision or your objections to an initial 

proffered permit in clear concise statements.  You may attach additional information to this form to clarify where your reasons or 

objections are addressed in the administrative record.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: The appeal is limited to a review of the administrative record, the Corps memorandum for the 

record of the appeal conference or meeting, and any supplemental information that the review officer has determined is needed to 

clarify the administrative record.  Neither the appellant nor the Corps may add new information or analyses to the record.  However, 

you may provide additional information to clarify the location of information that is already in the administrative record. 

POINT OF CONTACT FOR QUESTIONS OR INFORMATION: 

If you have questions regarding this decision and/or the appeal 

process you may contact: 

  

Regulatory Branch 

Chicago District Corps of Engineers 

231 South LaSalle Street, Suite 1500 

Chicago, IL  60604-1437 

Phone:  (312) 846-5530 

Fax:  (312) 353-4110  

If you only have questions regarding the appeal process you may 

also contact: 

  

Jacob Siegrist 

Appeal Review Officer 

Great Lakes and Ohio River Division 

CELRD-PD-REG 

550 Main Street, Room 10032 

Cincinnati, Ohio  45202-3222 

Phone: (513) 684-2699 Fax: (513) 684-2460 

RIGHT OF ENTRY:  Your signature below grants the right of entry to Corps of Commanders personnel, and any government 

consultants, to conduct investigations of the project site during the course of the appeal process.  You will be provided a 15-day 

notice of any site investigation, and will have the opportunity to participate in all site investigations. 

 

 

 

______________ _________________                        

                                    

Signature of appellant or agent. 

Date: Telephone number: 

 



V3 Companies, Ltd.
7325 Janes Avenue
Woodridge, Illinois 60517
630.724.9200 phone
630.724.9202 fax
www.v3co.com

Visio, Vertere, Virtute...

E:\2012\12154\12154.MED\Drawings\ArcGIS\Wetland\FIG9delin12154_MED.mxd

PROJECT NO.:

SCALE:

DATE:

CREATED BY:

CLIENT:

BASE LAYER:

TITLE:

"The Vision To Transform With Excellence"

SITE:

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(

!(
!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(

!(
!(

!(
!(!(

Area 1
0.50 acres

Area 2
1.02 acres

Area 3
0.03 acres

Area 4
0.03 acres

on-site

Area 5
0.34 acres

on-site

Area 6
0.03 acres

Area 7
0.21 acres

Area 8
0.41 acres

on-site

Area 9
0.25 acres

Area 10
0.39 acres

Area 11
0.69 acres

Area 12
1.04 acres

X25 X24
X23

X22
X21

X20

X19
X18

X17

X15
X14

X12

X11

X10 X09
X08

X07

X06

X05

X04

X03
X02

X01

X16

X13

AMM

See Scale Bar

10/01/15 

12154.MED

NAIP Aerial Imagery
(2014)

Partners by Design, Inc.
213 West Institute Place

Suite 203
Chicago, Illinois 60610

³
Project 
Location

Medline Campus Development
Lincolnshire, Illinois WETLAND DELINEATION MAP

100 0 100 200
Feet

9

FIGURE:

Legend
!( Data Points

Excavated Ponds (2.37 acres)

Wetland (2.57 acres)

Property Boundary





Hydrologic Soil Group—Lake County, Illinois

Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

10/22/2018
Page 1 of 4

46
72

40
0

46
72

47
0

46
72

54
0

46
72

61
0

46
72

68
0

46
72

75
0

46
72

82
0

46
72

40
0

46
72

47
0

46
72

54
0

46
72

61
0

46
72

68
0

46
72

75
0

46
72

82
0

425920 425990 426060 426130 426200 426270 426340 426410 426480 426550

425920 425990 426060 426130 426200 426270 426340 426410 426480 426550

42°  12' 15'' N
87

° 
 5

3'
 5

1'
' W

42°  12' 15'' N

87
° 
 5

3'
 2

1'
' W

42°  12' 0'' N

87
° 
 5

3'
 5

1'
' W

42°  12' 0'' N

87
° 
 5

3'
 2

1'
' W

N

Map projection: Web Mercator   Corner coordinates: WGS84   Edge tics: UTM Zone 16N WGS84
0 150 300 600 900

Feet
0 45 90 180 270

Meters
Map Scale: 1:3,160 if printed on A landscape (11" x 8.5") sheet.

Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.



MAP LEGEND MAP INFORMATION

Area of Interest (AOI)
Area of Interest (AOI)

Soils
Soil Rating Polygons

A

A/D

B

B/D

C

C/D

D

Not rated or not available

Soil Rating Lines
A

A/D

B

B/D

C

C/D

D

Not rated or not available

Soil Rating Points
A

A/D

B

B/D

C

C/D

D

Not rated or not available

Water Features
Streams and Canals

Transportation
Rails

Interstate Highways

US Routes

Major Roads

Local Roads

Background
Aerial Photography

The soil surveys that comprise your AOI were mapped at 
1:12,000.

Warning: Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.

Enlargement of maps beyond the scale of mapping can cause 
misunderstanding of the detail of mapping and accuracy of soil 
line placement. The maps do not show the small areas of 
contrasting soils that could have been shown at a more detailed 
scale.

Please rely on the bar scale on each map sheet for map 
measurements.

Source of Map: Natural Resources Conservation Service
Web Soil Survey URL: 
Coordinate System: Web Mercator (EPSG:3857)

Maps from the Web Soil Survey are based on the Web Mercator 
projection, which preserves direction and shape but distorts 
distance and area. A projection that preserves area, such as the 
Albers equal-area conic projection, should be used if more 
accurate calculations of distance or area are required.

This product is generated from the USDA-NRCS certified data as 
of the version date(s) listed below.

Soil Survey Area: Lake County, Illinois
Survey Area Data: Version 13, Sep 12, 2018

Soil map units are labeled (as space allows) for map scales 
1:50,000 or larger.

Date(s) aerial images were photographed: Mar 13, 2012—Sep 
22, 2014

The orthophoto or other base map on which the soil lines were 
compiled and digitized probably differs from the background 
imagery displayed on these maps. As a result, some minor 
shifting of map unit boundaries may be evident.

Hydrologic Soil Group—Lake County, Illinois

Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

10/22/2018
Page 2 of 4



Hydrologic Soil Group

Map unit symbol Map unit name Rating Acres in AOI Percent of AOI

228A Nappanee silt loam, 0 to 
2 percent slopes

D 8.9 21.3%

465A Montgomery silty clay 
loam, 0 to 2 percent 
slopes

C/D 33.1 78.7%

805B Orthents, clayey, 
undulating

D 0.0 0.0%

Totals for Area of Interest 42.1 100.0%

Description

Hydrologic soil groups are based on estimates of runoff potential. Soils are 
assigned to one of four groups according to the rate of water infiltration when the 
soils are not protected by vegetation, are thoroughly wet, and receive 
precipitation from long-duration storms.

The soils in the United States are assigned to four groups (A, B, C, and D) and 
three dual classes (A/D, B/D, and C/D). The groups are defined as follows:

Group A. Soils having a high infiltration rate (low runoff potential) when 
thoroughly wet. These consist mainly of deep, well drained to excessively 
drained sands or gravelly sands. These soils have a high rate of water 
transmission.

Group B. Soils having a moderate infiltration rate when thoroughly wet. These 
consist chiefly of moderately deep or deep, moderately well drained or well 
drained soils that have moderately fine texture to moderately coarse texture. 
These soils have a moderate rate of water transmission.

Group C. Soils having a slow infiltration rate when thoroughly wet. These consist 
chiefly of soils having a layer that impedes the downward movement of water or 
soils of moderately fine texture or fine texture. These soils have a slow rate of 
water transmission.

Group D. Soils having a very slow infiltration rate (high runoff potential) when 
thoroughly wet. These consist chiefly of clays that have a high shrink-swell 
potential, soils that have a high water table, soils that have a claypan or clay 
layer at or near the surface, and soils that are shallow over nearly impervious 
material. These soils have a very slow rate of water transmission.

If a soil is assigned to a dual hydrologic group (A/D, B/D, or C/D), the first letter is 
for drained areas and the second is for undrained areas. Only the soils that in 
their natural condition are in group D are assigned to dual classes.

Hydrologic Soil Group—Lake County, Illinois

Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

10/22/2018
Page 3 of 4



Rating Options

Aggregation Method: Dominant Condition

Component Percent Cutoff: None Specified 

Tie-break Rule: Higher

Hydrologic Soil Group—Lake County, Illinois

Natural Resources
Conservation Service

Web Soil Survey
National Cooperative Soil Survey

10/22/2018
Page 4 of 4



2S

Site (West)

4S

Site (East)

3P

Basin B (Underground
 Detention)

4P

Basin A (Underground
 Detention)

Routing Diagram for Proposed Conditions
Prepared by Kimley-Horn and Associates,  Printed 1/31/2019

HydroCAD® 10.00-22  s/n 09843  © 2018 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Subcat Reach Pond Link



Huff 0-10sm 3Q 24.00 hrs  2YR-24HR Rainfall=2.80"Proposed Conditions
  Printed  1/31/2019Prepared by Kimley-Horn and Associates

Page 2HydroCAD® 10.00-22  s/n 09843  © 2018 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Summary for Pond 3P: Basin B (Underground Detention)

Inflow Area = 14.460 ac, 85.00% Impervious,  Inflow Depth = 2.25"    for  2YR-24HR event
Inflow = 4.21 cfs @ 15.63 hrs,  Volume= 2.717 af
Outflow = 0.46 cfs @ 24.09 hrs,  Volume= 2.717 af,  Atten= 89%,  Lag= 507.5 min
Primary = 0.46 cfs @ 24.09 hrs,  Volume= 2.717 af

Routing by Stor-Ind method, Time Span= 0.00-200.00 hrs, dt= 0.10 hrs
Peak Elev= 661.00' @ 24.09 hrs   Surf.Area= 0.970 ac   Storage= 2.203 af

Plug-Flow detention time= 2,253.6 min calculated for 2.715 af (100% of inflow)
Center-of-Mass det. time= 2,256.4 min ( 3,137.5 - 881.1 )

Volume Invert Avail.Storage Storage Description
#1 658.00' 5.389 af 84.0"  Round Pipe Storage

L= 6,100.0'

Device Routing Invert Outlet Devices
#1 Primary 658.00' 3.2" Vert. Orifice/Grate  C= 0.600
#2 Primary 661.00' 5.0" Vert. Orifice/Grate  C= 0.600

Primary OutFlow  Max=0.46 cfs @ 24.09 hrs  HW=661.00'   (Free Discharge)
1=Orifice/Grate  (Orifice Controls 0.46 cfs @ 8.15 fps)
2=Orifice/Grate  ( Controls 0.00 cfs)

Pond 3P: Basin B (Underground Detention)

Inflow
Primary

Hydrograph

Time  (hours)
2001901801701601501401301201101009080706050403020100

Fl
ow

(c
fs

)

4

3

2

1

0

Inflow Area=14.460 ac
Peak Elev=661.00'

Storage=2.203 af

4.21 cfs

0.46 cfs



Huff 0-10sm 3Q 24.00 hrs  2YR-24HR Rainfall=2.80"Proposed Conditions
  Printed  1/31/2019Prepared by Kimley-Horn and Associates

Page 3HydroCAD® 10.00-22  s/n 09843  © 2018 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Summary for Pond 4P: Basin A (Underground Detention)

Inflow Area = 18.090 ac, 85.00% Impervious,  Inflow Depth = 2.25"    for  2YR-24HR event
Inflow = 5.27 cfs @ 15.63 hrs,  Volume= 3.399 af
Outflow = 0.67 cfs @ 24.07 hrs,  Volume= 3.399 af,  Atten= 87%,  Lag= 506.4 min
Primary = 0.67 cfs @ 24.07 hrs,  Volume= 3.399 af

Routing by Stor-Ind method, Time Span= 0.00-200.00 hrs, dt= 0.10 hrs
Peak Elev= 660.74' @ 24.07 hrs   Surf.Area= 1.294 ac   Storage= 2.644 af

Plug-Flow detention time= 1,855.9 min calculated for 3.397 af (100% of inflow)
Center-of-Mass det. time= 1,858.7 min ( 2,739.8 - 881.1 )

Volume Invert Avail.Storage Storage Description
#1 658.00' 7.289 af 84.0"  Round Pipe Storage

L= 8,250.0'

Device Routing Invert Outlet Devices
#1 Primary 658.00' 4.0" Vert. Orifice/Grate  C= 0.600
#2 Primary 660.74' 5.6" Vert. Orifice/Grate  C= 0.600

Primary OutFlow  Max=0.67 cfs @ 24.07 hrs  HW=660.74'   (Free Discharge)
1=Orifice/Grate  (Orifice Controls 0.67 cfs @ 7.72 fps)
2=Orifice/Grate  ( Controls 0.00 cfs)

Pond 4P: Basin A (Underground Detention)

Inflow
Primary

Hydrograph

Time  (hours)
2001901801701601501401301201101009080706050403020100

Fl
ow

(c
fs

)

5

4

3

2

1

0

Inflow Area=18.090 ac
Peak Elev=660.74'

Storage=2.644 af

5.27 cfs

0.67 cfs



Huff 0-10sm 3Q 24.00 hrs  100YR-24HR Rainfall=6.50"Proposed Conditions
  Printed  1/31/2019Prepared by Kimley-Horn and Associates

Page 4HydroCAD® 10.00-22  s/n 09843  © 2018 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Summary for Pond 3P: Basin B (Underground Detention)

Inflow Area = 14.460 ac, 85.00% Impervious,  Inflow Depth = 5.91"    for  100YR-24HR event
Inflow = 10.23 cfs @ 15.62 hrs,  Volume= 7.120 af
Outflow = 1.96 cfs @ 22.32 hrs,  Volume= 7.119 af,  Atten= 81%,  Lag= 402.4 min
Primary = 1.96 cfs @ 22.32 hrs,  Volume= 7.119 af

Routing by Stor-Ind method, Time Span= 0.00-200.00 hrs, dt= 0.10 hrs
Peak Elev= 664.91' @ 22.32 hrs   Surf.Area= 0.224 ac   Storage= 5.375 af

Plug-Flow detention time= 2,161.8 min calculated for 7.119 af (100% of inflow)
Center-of-Mass det. time= 2,161.5 min ( 3,002.7 - 841.1 )

Volume Invert Avail.Storage Storage Description
#1 658.00' 5.389 af 84.0"  Round Pipe Storage

L= 6,100.0'

Device Routing Invert Outlet Devices
#1 Primary 658.00' 3.2" Vert. Orifice/Grate  C= 0.600
#2 Primary 661.00' 5.0" Vert. Orifice/Grate  C= 0.600

Primary OutFlow  Max=1.96 cfs @ 22.32 hrs  HW=664.91'   (Free Discharge)
1=Orifice/Grate  (Orifice Controls 0.70 cfs @ 12.53 fps)
2=Orifice/Grate  (Orifice Controls 1.26 cfs @ 9.26 fps)

Pond 3P: Basin B (Underground Detention)

Inflow
Primary

Hydrograph

Time  (hours)
2001901801701601501401301201101009080706050403020100

Fl
ow

(c
fs

)

11

10

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

0

Inflow Area=14.460 ac
Peak Elev=664.91'
Storage=5.375 af

10.23 cfs

1.96 cfs



Huff 0-10sm 3Q 24.00 hrs  100YR-24HR Rainfall=6.50"Proposed Conditions
  Printed  1/31/2019Prepared by Kimley-Horn and Associates

Page 5HydroCAD® 10.00-22  s/n 09843  © 2018 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC

Summary for Pond 4P: Basin A (Underground Detention)

Inflow Area = 18.090 ac, 85.00% Impervious,  Inflow Depth = 5.91"    for  100YR-24HR event
Inflow = 12.80 cfs @ 15.62 hrs,  Volume= 8.907 af
Outflow = 2.44 cfs @ 22.34 hrs,  Volume= 8.907 af,  Atten= 81%,  Lag= 403.7 min
Primary = 2.44 cfs @ 22.34 hrs,  Volume= 8.907 af

Routing by Stor-Ind method, Time Span= 0.00-200.00 hrs, dt= 0.10 hrs
Peak Elev= 663.97' @ 22.34 hrs   Surf.Area= 0.940 ac   Storage= 6.621 af

Plug-Flow detention time= 1,933.3 min calculated for 8.907 af (100% of inflow)
Center-of-Mass det. time= 1,932.9 min ( 2,774.1 - 841.1 )

Volume Invert Avail.Storage Storage Description
#1 658.00' 7.289 af 84.0"  Round Pipe Storage

L= 8,250.0'

Device Routing Invert Outlet Devices
#1 Primary 658.00' 4.0" Vert. Orifice/Grate  C= 0.600
#2 Primary 660.74' 5.6" Vert. Orifice/Grate  C= 0.600

Primary OutFlow  Max=2.44 cfs @ 22.34 hrs  HW=663.97'   (Free Discharge)
1=Orifice/Grate  (Orifice Controls 1.01 cfs @ 11.60 fps)
2=Orifice/Grate  (Orifice Controls 1.43 cfs @ 8.33 fps)

Pond 4P: Basin A (Underground Detention)

Inflow
Primary

Hydrograph

Time  (hours)
2001901801701601501401301201101009080706050403020100

Fl
ow

(c
fs

)

14

13

12

11

10

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

0

Inflow Area=18.090 ac
Peak Elev=663.97'
Storage=6.621 af

12.80 cfs

2.44 cfs



18

LINCOLNSHIRE  FLAGSHIP COMPLEX
ENTITLEMENTS

GENSLER SPORTS



3

LINCOLNSHIRE  FLAGSHIP COMPLEX
ENTITLEMENTS 

GENSLER SPORTS  l  Entitlements l  2019-0215 THE ST. JAMES   l   LINCOLNSHIRE FLAGSHIP COMPLEX

Site Plan & Site Diagram
Floor Plans
3D Perspective Views
Building Elevations
Exhibit B
Exhibit C

TABLE OF CONTENTS



MAIN ENTRY

TREE BUFFER

TREE BUFFER

T
R

E
E

 B
U

F
F

E
R

T
R

E
E

 B
U

F
F

E
R

5

N
GENSLER SPORTS  l  Entitlements l  2019-0215 THE ST. JAMES   l   LINCOLNSHIRE FLAGSHIP COMPLEX

ENTITLEMENTS PACKAGE

SITE PLAN: LEVEL 01 SITE DIAGRAM



N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N
N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

UPUP

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

N

7

N
GENSLER SPORTS  l  Entitlements l  2019-0215 THE ST. JAMES   l   LINCOLNSHIRE FLAGSHIP COMPLEX

                Circulation                 Public Space                Health Club                Competition Volumes                 Admin Space

LEVEL 1 PLAN LEVEL 2 PLAN

ENTITLEMENTS PACKAGE

                Circulation                 Public Space                Health Club                Competition Volumes                 Admin Space

FIELD 
HOUSE

GYMNASIUM

COURT 
HOUSE

ICE 
HOUSE

ICE 
HOUSE

POOL 
HOUSE

AEC

SPLASH
PARK

RETAIL
SPA RESTAURANT

KITCHEN

RESTAURANT

CHILD 
WATCH

HEALTH CLUB

ROCK
CLIMBING

HIGH
PERFORMANCE

TRAINING

HEALTH CLUB 
LOCKERS

LOUNGE

AEC

SQUASH

GOLF BATTING
TUNNELS EVENT

SPACE ADMIN

ROCK
CLIMBING

PARTY 
ROOM

HEALTH
CLUB

LOUNGE

HEALTH
CLUB



13GENSLER SPORTS  l  Entitlements l  2019-0215 THE ST. JAMES   l   LINCOLNSHIRE FLAGSHIP COMPLEX

ENTITLEMENTS PACKAGE

ELEVATIONS ELEVATIONS

SOUTH ELEVATION EAST ELEVATION

NORTH ELEVATIONWEST ELEVATION

Architectural Metal Panel

Architectural Metal Panel

MAX. ROOF: 75’-0”

MAIN ROOF: 45’-0”

MAX. ROOF: 75’-0”

MAIN ROOF: 45’-0”

MAX. ROOF: 75’-0”

MAIN ROOF: 45’-0”

MAX. ROOF: 75’-0”

MAIN ROOF: 45’-0”

Architectural Metal Panel

Architectural Metal Panel

Glazing

Architectural Metal Panel

Architectural Metal Panel

Glazing 



EXHIBIT (B)
THE ST. JAMES FACILITY
SITE SECTION: (NTS)

75
’

45
’

HALF
DAY

ROADWETLANDS

150’

6’-0” AVERAGE
EYE HEIGHT

THE ST. JAMES
FACILITY

40
’

45’ MAX. TREE
CANOPY HT.

75’ MAX.
BLDG. HT.

SOUTH PROPERTY 
BOUNDARY

NORTH PROPERTY 
BOUNDARY

TREE
BUFF.40’ EXISTING 

BLDG. HT.
90’ 65’

305’

450’

(DISTANCE TO BLDG.)

ANGLE ABOVE 
HORIZON
(5.25-DEGREES)

755’

6’-0” AVERAGE
EYE HEIGHT
(2nd-STORY)

45
’

HALF
DAY

ROADWETLANDS

150’

6’-0” AVERAGE
EYE HEIGHT

45’ MAX. TREE
CANOPY HT.

SOUTH PROPERTY 
BOUNDARY

TREE
BUFF.

90’ 65’

ANGLE ABOVE 
HORIZON
(5.25-DEGREES)

305’

*Residents of Wood Creek would need to look beyond 305’ of landscape, traffic, and wetlands (including an additional 450’ of land) at an
angle of 5.25-degrees above the horizon to see the top of the St. James facility)

DISTANCE TO BLDG.

450’

6’-0” AVERAGE
EYE HEIGHT
(2nd-STORY)

EXHIBIT B - Wood Creek Courts Sight Lines
THE ST. JAMES FACILITY

15GENSLER SPORTS  l  Entitlements l  2019-0215 THE ST. JAMES   l   LINCOLNSHIRE FLAGSHIP COMPLEX

EXHIBIT B - WOOD CREEK COURTS SIGHT LINES EXHIBIT B - WOOD CREEK COURTS SIGHT LINES

ENTITLEMENTS PACKAGE



SUBJECT
DEVELOPMENT

OLD
MILL

WOODS

WOOD
CREEK

COURTS

SUTTON
PLACE

2,200 FT

77
5 

FT

2,225 FT

895 FT1,800 FT

THE ST. JAMES FACILITY
AERIAL PLAN: (NOT TO SCALE)

EXHIBIT (C)

N

17GENSLER SPORTS  l  Entitlements l  2019-0215 THE ST. JAMES   l   LINCOLNSHIRE FLAGSHIP COMPLEX

EXHIBIT C - AERIAL PLAN

ENTITLEMENTS PACKAGE



9GENSLER SPORTS  l  Entitlements l  2019-0215 THE ST. JAMES   l   LINCOLNSHIRE FLAGSHIP COMPLEX

ENTRY VIEW

ENTITLEMENTS PACKAGE



11GENSLER SPORTS  l  Entitlements l  2019-0215 THE ST. JAMES   l   LINCOLNSHIRE FLAGSHIP COMPLEX

SOUTHWEST BUILDING VIEW ARIAL  VIEW

ENTITLEMENTS PACKAGE





INTRODUCTION TO THE ST. JAMES • The St .  James is focused 
on building the premier  
spor ts,  wellness and act ive 
enter tainment  dest inat ions 
in the count ry.

• TSJ is commit ted to 
developing unparalleled 
best - in-c lass spor ts 
compet it ion and t raining 
venues,  except ional 
l ifesty le exper iences and a 
dynamic,  family-centered 
act ive enter tainment  center .

• The St .  James aims to be 
the nexus of  year-around 
spor ts programming (youth 
and adult )  & the “place to 

be”  for  act ive families in 

each region it  serves



• The St .  James’s comprehensive of fer ing of  

high qualit y spor ts and wellness facil it ies,  
programs and inst ruct ion “under  one roof ”  

addresses two high demand problems:

– The l ac k  o f  ac c es s  t o  qua l i t y s por t s  c ompet i t i on  and t ra i n i ng  
f ac i l i t i es ,  p rogramm i ng and i ns t ruc t i on  f o r  s por t s  en t hus i as t s  
o f  a l l  ages ,  and 

– The s evere  l og i s t i c s  burden f ac ed by “ t ime s t a rved”  f am i l i es  
c rea t ed by t he h i gh f ragment a t i on  o f  s por t s  and f i t nes s  
f ac i l i t i es  and p rograms

• Expansion plans include 25 to 30 f lagship 
complexes in major  markets

– Successfully acquired a site in Lincolnshire,  
Chicago,  w ith design underway.

– Pursuing developments in Washington D.C. ,  
Columbia (MD),  Dallas,  Houston,  
Philadelphia and Los Angeles



PRINCIPALS OF THE ST. JAMES

KENDRICK F. ASHTON, CO-FOUNDER & CO-CEO CRAIG A. A. DIXON, CO-FOUNDER & CO-CEO

• Prior to founding The St. James, Kendrick was a founding
member and Managing Director of boutique investment
bank Perella Weinberg Partners

• Kendrick served as Chief Operating Officer of Perella
Weinberg’s Corporate Advisory Business from 2009 to
2011

• Prior to joining Perella Weinberg, Kendrick was an
investment banker at Goldman Sachs & Co., executing
large mergers, acquisitions and financings across a broad
range of industries

• Kendrick received a JD from the University of Chicago Law
School, where he was a Merit Scholar and the Earl
Dickerson Public Service Scholar, and an MBA from the
University of Chicago Booth School of Business, where he
was also a Merit Scholar

• Kendrick received an AB from the College of William &
Mary, where he was an All-Conference cornerback

• Prior to founding The St. James, Craig was Assistant Vice
President and Senior Counsel at Smithfield Foods, a
Fortune 250 global food business, where he focused on
M&A and corporate governance and was general counsel
to the hog production business unit

• Prior to joining Smithfield Foods, he was in private
practice at McGuireWoods LLP focusing on M&A and
project finance

• Craig began his legal career as a Law Clerk to the
Honorable James Spencer of the U.S. District Court for the
Eastern District of Virginia

• Craig is a graduate of Harvard Business School’s Program
for Leadership Development and received a JD from
William & Mary School of Law, where he was a recipient of
the TC Clarke Scholarship, the Law Foundation
Scholarship and the Thurgood Marshall Humanitarian
Award

• Craig received a BBA from the College of William & Mary,
where he was a William & Mary Scholar and a Project
Excellence Scholar



CAIN INTERNATIONAL OVERVIEW

• In June 2016, The St. James partnered with Cain International to build out a national platform

• Cain International is a privately-owned real estate investment firm established in 2014 that provides 
long-term financing solutions in the U.S., U.K. and Europe markets

• Cain has deployed $3.0 billion of capital across various real estate projects and operating platforms

• The firm has a track record providing growth capital to specialty real estate operating platforms led 
by strong sponsorship

• Led by CEO Jonathan Goldstein, the firm has offices in London and New York

• Cain International was voted Financier of the Year at the 2015 Property Awards, Residential 
Financier of the Year at the 2016 RESI Awards, and CEO, Jonathan Goldstein, was named 
Entrepreneur of the Year at the 2017 Property Awards



THE ST. JAMES BRAND



ACTIVE 

ENTERTAINMENT

WELLNESS + 

LIFESTYLE

SPORTS + 

TRAINING



SPORTS 

COMPETITION & 

TRAINING VENUES

FIELD HOUSE: A  110 ,000  
sq . f t .  F IFA  regula t i on-s i zed , 
open a i r  tur f  f i e ld

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE ST. JAMES FACILITIES



SPORTS 

COMPETITION & 

TRAINING VENUES

ICE HOUSE: 2  NHL regula t i on-
s i zed  i ce  r i nks  fo r  i ce  hockey, 
speed , f i gure  and  synchroni zed  
ska t i ng  and  cur l i ng



SPORTS 

COMPETITION & 

TRAINING VENUES

COURT HOUSE: 4  ful l - leng th 
baske tba l l  courts  convert i b le  i nto  
9  NC A A  regula t i on-s i zed  vo l leyba ll  
courts



SPORTS 

COMPETITION & 

TRAINING VENUES

POOL HOUSE: A n Olymp i c -s i zed  
competi t i on poo l se rvi ng  long  and  
short  course  swi mmi ng ,  wa te r  poo l 
and  o the r wa te r  spo rts



SPORTS 

COMPETITION & 

TRAINING VENUES
HITTING HOUSE: 8 ,000  sq . f t .  o f  
mult i purpose  baseba ll  and  so ftba l l  
t ra i ni ng  space , i nc lud i ng  ba tt i ng  
cages  and  p i tchi ng  machi nes



SPORTS 

COMPETITION & 

TRAINING VENUES

ROCK-CLIMBING WALL



SPORTS 

COMPETITION & 

TRAINING VENUES

GOLF & RACQUETS CENTER: A n 
i ndoor go lf  t ra i ni ng  cente r  wi th 7  
s ta te -o f- the -a rt  go lf  s i mula to rs  and  
8  i nt ’ l  regula t i on-s i zed  squash 
courts





ACTIVE 

ENTERTAINMENT

VENUES
INTERACTIVE WATER PARK: 

6 ,000  sq . f t .  i ndoo r wa te r  fun pa rk  
wi th exc i t i ng  s l i des , la rge  wa te r  
sp raye rs  and  dump i ng  bucke ts

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE ST. JAMES FACILITIES



ACTIVE 

ENTERTAINMENT

VENUES
ACTIVE ENTERTAINMENT CENTER: 

20 ,000  sq . f t .  youth focused  
ente r ta i nment space  wi th obs tac le  
courses , c l i mb i ng  wa lls ,  vi r tua l 
rea l i ty,  gami ng  and  pa r ty rooms

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE ST. JAMES FACILITIES



WELLNESS & 

LIFESTYLE 

EXPERIENCES
MEDISPA & REJUVENATION 

CENTER: Full  se rvi ce  spa  p rovi d i ng  
so ft  t i ssue , beauty and  o the r 
recove ry se rvi ces  (c ryo )

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE ST. JAMES FACILITIES



WELLNESS & 

LIFESTYLE 

EXPERIENCES
PREMIUM HEALTH CLUB: 50 ,000  
sq . f t .  s ta te -o f- the -a r t  ca rd i o ,  
s treng th, ag i l i ty and  g roup  f i tness  
cente r  wi th a  hi gh pe r fo rmance  
cente r



WELLNESS & 

LIFESTYLE 

EXPERIENCES
RESTAURANT & MARKET CAFÉ: 

Restaurant fea tur i ng  hea lthy and  
de l i c i ous  cui s i ne  des i gned  wi th a  ful l  
se rvi ce  ba r  and  p remi um marke t ca fé  
wi th sa lads , wraps , f rui t ,  smoo thi es , 
jui ces  and  co ffee



WELLNESS & 

LIFESTYLE 

EXPERIENCES
PERFORMANCE RETAIL BOUTIQUE: 

P remi um, pe r fo rmance  o r i ented  
bout i que  to  “ t ry and  buy”  the  bes t-
i n-pe rfo rmance  and  a thle i sure  
appa re l,  equi pment and  devi ces



WELLNESS & 

LIFESTYLE 

EXPERIENCES
HEALTH & SPORTS MEDICINE CENTER: 

P artne r  wi th a  na t i ona l o r  reg i ona l hea lth 
ca re  company to  p rovi de a  ful l  range  o f 
we llness , rehab i l i ta t ive, spo r ts  med i cine  and  
non-emergent hea lthca re  se rvi ces





jrobinson
Text Box
LOT 1

jrobinson
Text Box
LOT 2

jrobinson
Text Box
LOT 3

jrobinson
Text Box
LOT 4

jrobinson
Text Box
LOT 5

jrobinson
Text Box
COMPSTORAGE AREA

jrobinson
Polygon

jrobinson
Polygon

jrobinson
Text Box
LOT 6COMMON AREA

jrobinson
Rectangle

jrobinson
Text Box
COMMON AREA (ASSOCIATION)



 

KLOA, Inc. Transportation and Parking Planning Consultants 

9575 West Higgins Road, Suite 400 | Rosemont, Illinois 60018 
              p: 847-518-9990 | f: 847-518-9987 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
MEMORANDUM TO: James Robinson, LEED AP 
    GlenStar 
 
FROM:   William R. Woodward 
    Senior Consultant 
 
    Luay R. Aboona, PE, PTOE 
    Principal 
 
DATE:    February 7, 2019 
 
SUBJECT:   Parking Evaluation 
    The St James Development 
    Lincolnshire, Illinois 
 
 

Introduction 
 
Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA, Inc.) prepared this parking evaluation 
memorandum for the proposed The St James (TSJ) development to be located in the northwest 
quadrant of the Interstate 94 and IL 22 full access interchange in Lincolnshire, Illinois.   
 
The approximate 447,526 square-foot The St. James is a destination sports, health, and fitness 
center that includes a recreational facility, a competitive-grade swimming pool, indoor playing 
fields and hockey rinks, spectator seating for hosted events, a meeting and events center, and a 
sports medicine office.  The facility will operate 24-hours a day, seven days a week and is 
estimated to accommodate up to 1,350 visitors at any given time, with additional attendance for 
hosted events and meetings.  The development proposes an approximate 975-space surface parking 
lot.     
 
The purpose of this parking evaluation is to determine if the proposed parking is adequate based 
on existing Village Code, as well as comparing what is provided at an existing The St James 
location in Springfield, Virginia, and Chelsea Piers, which is a facility in Connecticut that is similar 
in density and services offered as to the proposed The St James development.   
  



Parking Evaluation Based on Village Code 
 
The Village of Lincolnshire does not have off-street parking requirements for a unique facility, 
such as the proposed TSJ facility.  As such, the parking requirements, as defined by Code, are 
based on the primary uses that are offered within the indoor facility, which includes the recreational 
facility, the swimming pool, the meeting and events center space, the medicine office, and 
spectator seating.  The TSJ will only host one event at a time.  Therefore, parking was estimated 
for the largest venue with a capacity of 900 seats. 
 
Table 1 shows the off-street parking spaces required based on Village Code and is compared to 
the proposed parking supply of 975 parking spaces.  As shown in Table 1, the proposed parking 
supply will exceed the Village Code requirements. 
 
In addition to the uses outlined above, the TSJ will include complimentary uses that include a day 
spa, daycare center, a sundry/exercise gear shop, and a restaurant.  All these uses are considered 
ancillary uses to the overall development where a patron will participate in the recreation center 
facility while also using one of these services in the same visit (e.g. a patron drops their child at 
the provided daycare and then uses the facility).  As such, no additional parking demand would be 
generated by these ancillary uses.   
 

Parking Evaluation Based on an Existing The St James Development 
 
As per Chapter 11, page 6 of the Village of Lincolnshire’s Code (Revised 06/26/2018), it states: 
 
“Unspecified Use:  When the use of a structure or lot is known, but not identified in the [off-street 
requirement] table, the minimum number of parking spaces required shall be determined based 
on a reasonably comparable and/or similar use identified.”  
 
The Springfield St James, located in Springfield, Virginia, opened in Fall 2018.  The facility is 
similar in size (approximately 450,000 square feet) offering similar services and ancillary uses as 
what is proposed for the Lincolnshire, Illinois location.  The facility provides a total of 
approximately 810 parking spaces.  As such, the proposed 975 parking spaces proposed for the 
Lincolnshire development exceeds what is being provided (810 spaces) for the Springfield 
location.   
 

Parking Evaluation Based on a Similar Use – Chelsea Piers; Connecticut 
 
As noted, Chelsea Piers is a similar-type facility located in Connecticut that is approximately 
417,900 square-feet in size and also offers similar recreational amenities and services.  Chelsea 
Piers has a parking supply of approximately 443 parking spaces, equating to an overall parking 
ratio of 1.06 spaces per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area.  Comparing this ratio to the proposed 
Lincolnshire location ratio of 2.18 shows that the proposed parking supply for the Lincolnshire 
development exceeds the existing parking supply of a similar-type facility. 

2



 
Table 2 summarizes the parking supply and ratios for the Springfield location and the Chelsea 
Piers facility in Connecticut and is compared to the proposed Lincolnshire location. 
 

Conclusion 
 
Based on the preceding parking evaluation, the 975 parking spaces for the The St James 
development will exceed the parking requirements based on the Village of Lincolnshire Code.  
Further, the proposed parking supply will exceed what is provided at the Springfield, Virginia 
location, and at a similar-type facility.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

3



Table 1 
PROPOSED THE ST JAMES DEVELOPMENT; LINCOLNSHIRE, ILLINOIS 
PARKING SUMMARY BASED ON VILLAGE CODE 
Use Parking 

Requirement 
Area of 

Use
Occupancy 

Load
Number of 
Employees 

Parking 
Required

Private or 
Public 
Recreational 
Facility and 
Community 
Buildings 

1 space per 3 
persons (1/3) 

based on 
occupancy load 

plus one (1) space 
per employee 

-- 
910 

persons 
1701 474 

Swimming 
Pool 

1 space per 100 
square feet of 

water surface area
13,454 s.f. -- -- 135 

Meeting & 
Events Center 

1 space per 4 
persons at max 

occupancy 
-- 

160 
persons 

-- 40 

Medicine 
Office 

1 space per 250 
square feet 

4,345 s.f. -- -- 18 

Spectator 
Seating 

0.25 spaces per 
seat 

-- 900 seats -- 225 

Total Spaces Required: 892 

Total Spaces Provided: 975 

Parking Surplus (Deficit): 83 

1Number of employees is inclusive of all uses listed. 

 

 
Table 2 
PARKING SUMMARY COMPARISON  
Location Parking Spaces 

Provided
Square Footage Parking Ratio

The St James; 
Springfield, VA 

810 450,000 s.f. 1.80 

Chelsea Piers; 
Connecticut 

443 417,900 s.f. 1.06 

The St James; 
Lincolnshire, IL 
(Proposed) 

975 447,526 s.f. 2.18 

 

4



1

STATE OF ILLINOIS )
)SS.

COUNTYOF LAKE

CLERK’S CERTIFICATE

I, Barbara Mastandrea, do hereby certify that I am the duly appointed and qualified
Village Clerk for the Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois.

I do further certify that the above and attached is a true and correct copy of an
Ordinance entitled:

ORDINANCE NO. 18-3780-208

AN ORDINANCE REZONING CERTAIN PROPERTY FROM OC OFFICE CAMPUS TO B2
GENERAL BUSINESS AND

GRANTING A SPECIAL USE FOR A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR A
MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT WITH

RECREATION, HOSPITALITY and RESTAURANT USES
(90, 98 and 100 Half Day Road)

I do further certify that the aforesaid Ordinance was entrusted to my care and
custody, that the same is duly spread upon the record of proceedings of said Village,
and that I am the custodian of all Village records, including the journal of proceedings,
ordinances, and resolutions of said Village.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 27th day of
August, 2018

Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk
Village of Lincolnshire
Lake County

Prepared by and Mail to:
Village of Lincolnshire
One Olde Half Day Road
Lincolnshire, IL 60069

DOCUMENT 3



1 

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE NO. 18-3780-208 

AN ORDINANCE REZONING CERTAIN PROPERTY FROM OC OFFICE CAMPUS TO B2 
GENERAL BUSINESS AND 

GRANTING A SPECIAL USE FOR A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR A 
MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT WITH  

RECREATION, HOSPITALITY and RESTAURANT USES 
(90, 98 and 100 Half Day Road) 

WHEREAS, Medline Industries, Inc., an Illinois corporation (“Owner”), is the owner of 

certain real estate commonly known as 90, 98 and 100 Half Day Road, and legally described as 

set forth in Exhibit A, consisting of approximately 43 acres of property (the “Subject Property”); 

and 

WHEREAS, TSJ Lincolnshire Property, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

(“Developer”), has entered into a contract with Owner to purchase the Subject Property and 

intends to develop the Subject Property with a mixed-use development with recreation, hospitality 

and restaurant uses (the “Development”) (Developer and Owner are sometimes collectively 

referred to herein as “Petitioner”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 6 of the Village Code, Developer submitted to the Village an 

Application for Village Board consideration seeking to rezone the Subject Property from the OC 

Office Campus District to the B-2 General Business District (the “Rezoning Application”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 6 of the Village Code, Developer submitted to the Village an 

Application for Village Board consideration seeking a special use for a planned unit development 

with related conditions and exceptions from the Village Code to allow the Development on the 

Subject Property (collectively, the “PUD Application”); and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 6 of the Village Code and notice of public hearing, which 

was mailed to all required property owners and published on January 26, 2018 in the Daily Herald, 

all public hearings, as required by law, have been held by the Village Board on the Rezoning 



2 
 

Application and PUD Application in order to permit the Subject Property to be developed as 

hereinafter provided; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities, after due and careful consideration, have 

concluded that development of the Subject Property with a mixed-use development with 

recreation, hospitality and restaurant uses, subject to the term and conditions of this Ordinance, 

will promote the sound planning and development of the Village as a balanced community, 

increase the taxable value of property within the Village, enable the Village to control the 

development of the area, and otherwise promote the proper growth and general welfare while 

serving the planning objectives of the Village; and 

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities conclude the rezoning of the Subject Property and 

the proposed improvement of the Development in accordance with the terms and conditions of 

this Ordinance will be beneficial to the Village, will not be detrimental to the spirit and intent of the 

Lincolnshire Zoning Code (the “Zoning Code”) and will otherwise enhance and promote the 

general welfare of the Village and the health, safety and welfare of the residents of the Village; 

and 

WHEREAS, it is the intent of the Corporate Authorities to grant only such approvals as are 

necessary to amend the zoning designation, identify the Subject Property as a planned unit 

development and describe the permitted schedule of uses that may be operated therein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the Village 

of Lincolnshire, in exercise of its home rule authority, as follows: 

Section 1.  Recitals; Findings.   

A. The Corporate Authorities hereby confirm the truth and validity of the 

representations and recitations set forth in the foregoing recitals and do further acknowledge that 

they are material to this Ordinance.  Such recitals are hereby incorporated into and made a part 

of this Ordinance as though they were fully set forth herein.  The Corporate Authorities further 



3 
 

intend that this Ordinance shall be liberally construed so that the purpose and intent represented 

by the recitals shall be accomplished to the greatest extent permitted by law. 

B. The findings of fact attached hereto as Exhibit B are hereby incorporated by 

reference as the findings of this Board to the same effect as if fully recited herein at length, 

provided that the Village Board finds the PUD Application only provides factual support for a height 

exception not to exceed seventy five feet (75’) for the large, full-service 24/7 recreation, health 

and fitness facility. 

Section 2.  Condition Precedent.  The rights, privileges and authority granted by this 

Ordinance are contingent upon, and shall not become effective, unless and until the Village 

receives an acquisition notice to confirm that Developer, or its successors and assigns, have 

acquired the Subject Property from the Owner.  The rights, privileges and authority granted by 

this Ordinance shall expire and be of no further force or effect if the Village does not receive an 

acquisition notice within one (1) year from the date hereof. 

Section 3.   Rezoning.  The Subject Property is hereby rezoned from the OC Office 

Campus District to the B-2 General Business District.  The Mayor and Board of Trustees hereby 

direct the Zoning Administrator to cause the official zoning map of the Village to be so amended.  

Section 4.  Development.  The Corporate Authorities hereby grant the Subject Property, 

in the Village’s B-2 General Business District, a special use for a planned unit development, within 

which the Developer may operate the schedule of uses described in Exhibit C, subject to the 

following conditions or exceptions from the Village Code: 

A. A height exception not in excess of seventy five feet (75’) for the Large Full-Service 

24/7 Recreation, Health and Fitness Facility (as defined in Exhibit C); and 

B. The Development shall provide a minimum buffer on the North and West 

boundaries of the Subject Property equal to fifty feet (50’), wherein the Developer may place storm 

water management facilities, landscaping and/or berms in accordance with an approved 

Landscape Plan. 



4 
 

Section 5.  Preliminary Development Plans.  The Village and Petitioner recognize and 

agree that the Petitioner has not filed a Preliminary Development Plan in accordance with Section 

6-14-12-E of the Village Code and that nothing in this ordinance shall be construed as an approval 

of a Preliminary Development Plan.  This grant of a special use for a planned unit development 

does not authorize construction of any site or building improvements, nor does it exempt future 

site or building improvements on the Subject Property from complying with the applicable Village 

approval and permitting process, including but not limited to Preliminary Development Plans, the 

approval of which shall be considered a Major Amendment to the planned unit development in 

accordance with Section 6-14-12-G of the Village Code. 

Section 6.  Consents.  By signing the acknowledgement and accepting the terms and 

conditions of this Ordinance, Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily waives, for itself and its 

successors and assigns, any and all claims against the Village, its elected and appointed officers, 

employees and agents, of whatever kind, nature and amount, resulting from the procedures by 

which this Ordinance was adopted or the limitations on the development of the Subject Property 

applied by this Ordinance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Ordinance shall be 

deemed to waive the ability for Petitioner, or its successors and assigns, to petition the Village, 

from time to time, for other and further zoning and subdivision approvals.   

Section 7.  Superseding Effect.  The specific terms and conditions of this Ordinance shall 

prevail against other existing ordinances of the Village to the extent of any conflicts, it being 

understood that the adoption of this Ordinance is an exercise of the Village’s home rule power.  

Except for the foregoing limitation, the development of the Subject Property remains subject to all 

terms and conditions of Applicable Codes and Ordinances of the Village of Lincolnshire including, 

without limitation, zoning ordinances, building codes, subdivision regulations and regulations 

concerning the construction and design of public improvements. 

Section 8.  Penalties.  Any person violating the terms and conditions of this Ordinance 

shall be subject to a penalty not exceeding Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) with each and every 



5 
 

day that the violation of the Ordinance is allowed to remain in effect being deemed a complete 

and separate offense.  In addition, the appropriate authorities of the Village may take such other 

action as they deem proper to enforce the terms and conditions of this Ordinance, including, 

without limitation, an action in equity to compel compliance with its terms.  Any person violating 

the terms of this Ordinance shall be subject, in addition to the foregoing penalties, to the payment 

of court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees.  This section shall not apply to the Village of 

Lincolnshire, its officials, agents or employees. 

Section 9.  Enforcement.  The Subject Property shall be made available for inspection by 

any department of the Village at all reasonable times for compliance with this Ordinance and any 

other applicable laws or regulations. 

Section 10.  Effective Date; Assent.    Subject to the contingency described in Section 2, 

this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval and publication 

in pamphlet form as provided by law, provided, however, that this Ordinance shall not take effect 

until a true and correct copy of this Ordinance is executed by Owner and Developer, or such other 

parties in interest as the Village may reasonably identify, consenting to and agreeing to be bound 

by the terms and conditions of this Ordinance.  Delivery to the Village of a copy of this Ordinance, 

as so executed, shall take place not later than sixty (60) days after the passage and approval of 

this Ordinance by the Corporate Authorities or within such extension of time as may be granted 

by the Corporate Authorities by motion. 

  



PASSED this 27 day of August, 2018, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village of

Lincolnshire on a roll call vote as follows:

AYES: Grujanac, Leider, Harms Muth, Servi

NAYS: None

ABSTAIN: None

ABSENT: McDonough, Hancock

APPROVED this 27th day of August, 2018.

WLLtthc
Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor

ATTEST:

Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk

Published by me in pamphlet form
this 27 day of Augsut, 2018.

ACKNOWLEDGED and ACCEPTED

this 27th day of August, 2018.

6



MEDLINE INDUSTRIES, INC.

AiLt7

1h,t D/t7 t%f Li? ,e
ACKNOWLEDGED and ACCEPTED

this 29 day of

___________,

2018.

TSJ Lincolns hire Property, LLC

By: The St. James Sports and Weilness Complex, LLC
A Delaware limited liability company

Its: Manager

7



MEDLINE INDUSTRIES, INC.

ACKNOWLEDGED and ACCEPTED

this c7 ‘1ay of

___________

2018.

TSJ Lincoinshire Property, LLC

By: The St. James Sports and Weilness Complex, LLC
A Delaware limited liability company

Its: Manager
CAA

7



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-6A: B1 RETAIL BUSINESS 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 1 

TITLE: 6 

CHAPTER 6: Business Districts 

ARTICLE: A, B1 Retail Business District 

Sections: 

6-6A-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations
6-6A-2: General Requirements
6-6A-3: Uses
6-6A-4: Lot Size Requirements
6-6A-5: Building Setbacks
6-6A-6: Building Height
6-6A-7: Signs
6-6A-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading
6-6A-9: Landscaping

6-6A-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations

This District is intended to provide a location suitable to accommodate a combination of retail, 
service and office uses in an intensive commercial core area. Permitted and special uses can 
be placed on relatively small zoning lots reflecting the historic development pattern of Half Day 
Road and to encourage a pedestrian environment in retail shopping areas. 

As the village relies almost exclusively on retail sales generated from properties located in the 
village to fund its municipal services, this Article is also intended to regulate the conversion or 
elimination of retail sales establishments through the preservation and enhancement of sales 
tax generating uses, while also working with the property owners to maintain a viable tenant mix 
on various properties within this District. 

6-6A-2: General Requirements

A. Outdoor Business and Storage: All business, service, storage, merchandise display and
repair processing, where allowed, shall be conducted only within a completely enclosed
building except for off-street parking, off-street loading, open sales lots, automobile service
facilities, and drive-thru facilities where such uses are allowed.

B. Production of Goods: The production of any goods on the premises shall be associated with
a Permitted and/or Special Use and incidental to the principal use, unless otherwise
specifically provided herein.

C. Performance Criteria: The use of equipment and goods processed or produced in the
premises shall not be objectionable by reason of odor, dust, smoke, cinders, gas, noise,
vibration, refuse matter or water-carried waste.

D. Restrictions on Ground Floor Uses:

1. Non-sales tax-generating uses shall be unlimited in structures constructed prior to
January 1, 1995, subject to Chapter 13, Non-Conforming Buildings & Uses, of this Title.

2. Non-sales tax generating uses in structures constructed after January 1, 1995 shall be

B1
RETAIL BUSINESS 

DOCUMENT 4



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6A 
  B1 RETAIL BUSINESS 

  

 

 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 2 

subject to the following restrictions:  
 

a. Gross Floor Area:  A maximum 25% of the gross ground floor area per principal 
structure on a zoning lot shall be utilized for non-sales tax generating uses. 
 

b. Variance:  Any request for an increase in the above restriction shall be subject to 
the Variance procedures of Section 6-14-9 of this Title. 

 

6-6A-3: Uses 

Uses permitted in the B1 Retail Business District are identified in the table below: 

Uses 

P = Permitted 

SU = Special Use 

Banks and financial institutions, with drive-through facilities SU 
Banks and financial institutions, without drive-thru facilities P 
Catering establishment SU 
Convenience store P 
Day care center SU 
Day Spa, with massage services  SU 
Day Spa, without massage services P 
Educational institution, private, business, trade school SU 
Food store, including candy/confectionery stores, dairy products and bakeries P 
Funeral home SU 
General retail and services uses P 
Government building (subject to the regulations of Section 6-6A-2(D)) SU 
Liquor sales, package only P 
Musical instrument sales and repair, including accessory instruction/lessons P 
Office, business and professional (subject to the regulations of Section 6-6A-2(D)) P 
Personal fitness/instruction studio (yoga, martial arts, dance), not including health 
club/athletic facilities 

P 

Pet shop, with limited boarding and/or sale of live animals SU 
Physician’s office P 
Planned Unit Development (PUD), as regulated in Section 6-14-12 of this Title SU 
Printing, publishing, blueprinting and photocopying establishments with retail sales only SU 
Repair or servicing of any article, the sale of which is from a permitted use in this District SU 
Restaurants with Live Entertainment SU 
Restaurants, excluding Live Entertainment  P 
Restaurants, Fast Food with drive-thru SU 
Restaurants, Fast Foot without drive-thru facility P 
Retail pharmacy/ drug store, without drive-thru facility P 
Vehicle Fueling Station, may include convenience store SU 
Any other similar use not specifically permitted in this Chapter, but which has substantially 
similar impacts on public services, traffic, parking and property values as the uses 
expressly permitted herein, is consistent with the trend in development within the District, 
and is complementary to the Village’s reliance on non-property taxes to finance municipal 
operations. 

P 

 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6A 
  B1 RETAIL BUSINESS 

  

 

 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 3 

6-6A-4: Lot Sizes  

 Uses 

Minimum 

Lot Area 

Minimum 

Lot Width 

Permitted Uses 15,000  sq. ft. 100 ft. 

Banks and financial institutions, with drive-through 40,000 sq. ft. 150 ft. 

Funeral home 30,000 sq. ft. 200 ft. 

Planned Unit Development By Village Board By Village Board 

Restaurant with Live Entertainment 15,000 sq. ft. 100 ft. 

Restaurant, Fast Food with drive-thru facility 45,000 sq. ft. 200 ft. 

Special Uses, all others 7,500 sq. ft. 100 ft. 

Vehicle Fueling Station, may include convenience 
store 

45,000 sq. ft. 200 ft. 

 

6-6A-5: Building Setbacks   

Uses Front Side  

Corner 

Side Rear 

Permitted Uses 10 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 15 ft. 

Special Uses 10 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 15 ft. 

Planned Unit Developments (PUD) By Village Board 

 
Where a side and/or rear yard abuts any residential zoning district, excluding the R5 District, a 
transitional yard measuring twice the minimum yard requirement shall be required. Landscaping 
or fence screening a minimum of seventy-five percent (75%) opacity shall be provided along 
such transitional yards. Transitional yards shall not contain any off-street parking or other 
structures, except driveways, sidewalks, and landscaping. 
 

6-6A-6: Building Height  
In the B1 District no building shall exceed two and one-half (2-1/2) stories or thirty feet (30') in 
height including rooftop equipment. 
 

6-6A-7: Signs 

Signs shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 12 of this Code. 
 

6-6A-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading  
Off-street parking and loading facilities shall be provided as required in Chapter 11 of this Title. 
(Ord. 86-885-22) 

 

6-6A-9: Landscaping 

Landscaping shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 13 of this Code  
 



 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6B: B2 GENERAL BUSINESS 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 1 

 

TITLE: 6 

CHAPTER 6: Business Districts 

ARTICLE: B, B2 General Business District 

 

Sections: 

6-6B-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations 
6-6B-2: General Requirements 
6-6B-3: Uses 
6-6B-4: Lot Sizes  
6-6B-5: Building Setbacks 
6-6B-6: Building Height  
6-6B-7: Signs 
6-6B-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading  
6-6B-9: Landscaping 
 

6-6B-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations 

The intent of the B2 District is to accommodate those uses which require substantial land area, 
are major travel destinations, require substantial support parking and draw their clientele or 
employees from the regional market. Often times such uses require a high degree of access 
and roadside visibility or exposure from major thoroughfares. 
 
As the village relies almost exclusively on retail sales generated from properties located in the 
village to fund its municipal services, this Article is also intended to regulate the conversion or 
elimination of retail sales establishments through the preservation and enhancement of sales 
tax generating uses, while also working with the property owners to maintain a viable tenant mix 
on various properties within this District. 
 

6-6B-2: General Requirements 

A. Outdoor Business and Storage: All business, service, storage, merchandise display and 
repair processing, where allowed, shall be conducted only within a completely enclosed 
building except for off-street parking, off-street loading, open sales lots, automobile service 
facilities, and drive-thru facilities where such uses are allowed. 
 

B. Production of Goods: The production of any goods on the premises shall be associated with 
a Permitted and/or Special Use and shall be incidental to the principal use, unless otherwise 
specifically provided herein. 

 
C. Performance Criteria: The use of equipment and goods processed or produced on the 

premises shall not be objectionable by reason of odor, dust, smoke, cinders, gas, noise, 
vibration, refuse matter or water-carried waste. 

 
D. Restrictions on Ground Floor Uses: 
 

1. Non-sales tax-generating uses shall be unlimited in structures constructed prior to 
January 1, 1995, subject to Chapter 13, Non-Conforming Buildings & Uses, of this Title. 
 

2. Non-sales tax generating uses in structures constructed after January 1, 1995 shall be 
subject to the following restrictions: 

B2 
GENERAL BUSINESS 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-6B 
B2 GENERAL BUSINESS 

Revised 12/08/2014 Page 2 

a. Gross Floor Area: A maximum 25% of the gross ground floor area per principal
structure on a zoning lot shall be utilized for non-sales tax generating uses.

b. Variance: Any request for an increase in the above restrictions shall be subject to
the Variance procedures of Section 6-14-9 of this Title.

6-6B-3: Uses

Uses permitted in the B2 General Business District are identified in the table below: 

Uses 

P = Permitted 

SU = Special Use 

Any Permitted Use in the B1 Retail Business District P 
Any Special Use in the B1 Retail Business District SU 
Assembly Uses, as defined in Chapter 2 of this Title SU 
Automotive service facility SU 

Bowling alley establishment P 

Colleges, universities, or vocational schools SU 
Convalescent, sheltered care facilities and group or nursing homes P 
Drinking establishments, including Live Entertainment SU 
Hotels SU 
Motor vehicle sales establishments SU 
Parks and playgrounds P 
Radio and television station, excluding transmission towers SU 
Recreation facility, public or private, as defined in Chapter 2 of this Title SU 
Retail shopping centers P 
Urgent medical care center/clinic SU 
Any other similar use not specifically permitted in this Chapter, but which has substantially 
similar impacts on public services, traffic, parking and property values as the uses 
expressly permitted herein, is consistent with the trend in development within the District, 
and is complementary to the Village’s reliance on non-property taxes to finance municipal 
operations. 

P 

6-6B-4: Lot Sizes

Uses 

Minimum 

Lot Area 

Minimum 

Lot Width 

Permitted Uses 30,000  sq. ft. 200 ft. 

Automotive service/repair facility 30,000 sq. ft. 100 ft. 

Motor vehicle sales establishment 30,000 sq. ft. 300 ft. 

Planned Unit Developments(PUD) By Village Board By Village Board 

Special Uses, all other 30,000  sq. ft. 200 ft. 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6B 
  B2 GENERAL BUSINESS 

  

 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 3 

6-6B-5: Building Setbacks 

Uses Front Side 

Corner 

Side  Rear 

Permitted Uses 50 ft. 20 ft. 50 ft. 25 ft. 

Special Uses, all others 50 ft. 20 ft. 50 ft. 25 ft. 

Planned Unit Development (PUD) By Village Board 

 
Where a side and/or rear yard abuts any residential zoning district, excluding the R5 District, a 
transitional yard measuring twice the minimum yard requirement shall be required. Landscaping 
or fence screening a minimum of seventy-five percent (75%) opacity shall be provided within 
such transitional yards. Transitional yards shall not contain any off-street parking or other 
structures, except driveways, sidewalks, and landscaping. 
 

6-6B-6: Building Height  
In the B2 District no building shall exceed three and one-half (3-1/2) stories or forty two feet 
(42') in height including rooftop equipment. 
 

6-6B-7: Signs 

Signs shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 12 of this Code. 
 

6-6B-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading  
Off-street parking and loading facilities shall be provided as required in Chapter 11 of this Title. 
(Ord. 86-885-22) 
 

6-6B-9: Landscaping 

Landscaping shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 13 of this Code 
 
 



 

Agenda Item 
3.12 COW 

 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Committee of the Whole 
February 25, 2019 

 
Subject: Resolution Regarding Enhancement of Commuter Rail Service in Lake 

County, IL 
 

Action Requested: Consideration of a Resolution Supporting the Enhancement of 
Commuter Rail Service in Lake County, IL (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 

Originated By/Contact: Brad Burke, Village Manager 
Ben Gilbertson, Assistant Village Manager/Community & Economic 
Development Director 
 

Referred To:  Village Board 
 

 
Summary / Background: 
In October 2018, the Metra Board of Directors reached agreement with businesses and civic 
groups to pilot a two-year program aimed at increasing and enhancing reverse-commute train 
service on the Milwaukee District North Line (MD-N). The initial intent of the program was to 
provide critical talent pools living in downtown Chicago with greater access to employment 
opportunities in suburban communities. This would be achieved via a new reverse commute 
morning and afternoon rush hour service to evaluate service demand and sustainability. The 
ultimate goal of the public-private partnership is to fund the installation of a universal crossover 
near Lake Forest, thereby affording flexibility and greater coordination between Metra, Amtrak, 
and freight trains using the MD-N. 
 
A number of Lake County businesses have made financial contributions to the pilot program, 
including Abbvie, Horizon Pharma, and Northwestern Medicine Lake Forest Hospital. Local 
government organizations have also donated funds to the effort, including Lake County, the City 
of Lake Forest, and the Village of Deerfield. The Village of Bannockburn has not made a financial 
contribution at this point and does not have a train stop in the community; however, they have 
adopted a resolution supporting the program given their proximity to MD-N stations.  
 
Lake County Partners (LCP), headquartered in Lincolnshire, is coordinating the capital campaign.  
Village of Lincolnshire staff met with LCP representatives in February 2019 to better understand 
the pilot program and discuss potential participation to benefit our corporate employees and 
residents. Although Lincolnshire lacks direct access to the MD-N, the presence of several sizeable 
employers, daytime population of over 20,000 people, and proximity to MD-N Metra stations in 
Lake Forest and Deerfield within 5-6 miles of the Village, warrant consideration of the Village’s 
involvement with this initiative. Additionally, several employers – Aon/Alight Solutions, Zebra 
Technologies, and CDW – have offered or presently offer shuttle services for their employees 
from MD-N Metra stations. As part of this program, the Village would look to work with employers 
to coordinate and possibly expand these “Last Mile” connections to the broader business 
community through shuttle programs or other on-demand transportation options (such as Uber or 
Lyft). Furthermore, participation in the reverse commute initiative and improved “Last Mile” 
services may help address the high office vacancy rates in Lincolnshire (29% in Lincolnshire as 
of Q4 2018, as compared to 15% and 12% in Lake County and the Chicago metropolitan statistical 
area, respectively).  
 



 

Agenda Item 
3.12 COW 

 
Budget Impact:  
To be determined by the Village Board. The Village did not budget a dedicated contribution to the 
reverse commute initiative. However, the Village has funds budgeted for “Economic Development 
Initiatives” in FY2019, which could potentially fund the Village’s commitment. For comparison, the 
City of Lake Forest will contribute $50,000 annually; the Village of Deerfield will contribute $10,000 
annually; and Lake County Partners will contribute $50,000 annually. Both contributions were 
commitments for the initial two years of the pilot program. 
 
Service Delivery Impact:  
Enhanced economic development outreach on behalf of Village staff, thereby improving business 
relations and economic development within the Village and the region.  
 
Recommendation:  
Consideration and direct placement on the March 11, 2019 Consent Agenda. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
• Document 1: Resolution Supporting the Enhancement of Commuter Rail Service in Lake 

County, IL. 
• Document 2: Lake County Reverse Commute Initiative Flyer.  
• Document 3: Metra Press Release – Reverse-Commute Service – February 20, 2019. 

 
Meeting History 

Committee of the Whole February 25, 2019 
 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

A RESOLUTION REGARDING THE ENHANCEMENT OF COMMUTER RAIL 
SERVICE IN LAKE COUNTY, IL 

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire is a home rule municipality in accordance 
with the Constitution of the State of Illinois of 1970; and 

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire’s former and current residents, visitors and 
employees utilize the Union Pacific North (“UP”) and Milwaukee District North (“MD-N”) 
lines respectively to access places of employment, cultural and educational events as 
well as other places of interest on the North Shore, in Chicago, and southeastern 
Wisconsin; and 

WHEREAS, in 2016, the City of Lake Forest, Lake County Partners, and Lake 
County adopted resolutions supporting the enhancement of commuter rail service in Lake 
County, Illinois; and 

WHEREAS, similar to the City of Lake Forest, Villages of Deerfield and 
Bannockburn, Lake County Partners, and Lake County, the Village of Lincolnshire is 
committed to attracting, retaining, and expanding businesses, assembling business 
resources, and aligning workforce supply with industry demand to ensure Lake County 
companies have what they need to succeed; and 

WHEREAS, Lake County is home to more than 700,000 people, approximately 
30,000 businesses including 12 FORTUNE 500 headquarters, with more than 240,000 of 
those jobs within a five-mile radius of the Lake Forest Telegraph Road Metra Station; and 

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire is home to one FORTUNE 500 company, 
several major regional employers, and more than 20,000 day-time residents; and  

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire, City of Lake Forest, Villages of Deerfield 
and Bannockburn, Lake County Partners, and Lake County share a common purpose in 
working with businesses in Lake County to enhance the commuter rail operations for 
current and future employees of said businesses whose number one strategic challenge 
is the attraction and retention of best-qualified employees; and 

WHEREAS, the various businesses within this five-mile radius are growing and 
expanding at such a rate that they are expected to add approximately 1,000 jobs per year 
over the next decade; and 

WHEREAS, the current train service schedule has been in place for many years 
and does not effectively meet the needs of the businesses and their employees and 
should be possibly modified to provide additional early morning service like the “Sunrise 
Express” reverse commuter train added on the UP line; and 

Document 1



 
WHEREAS, the MD-N line currently does not offer southbound service to Chicago 

from the Lake Forest Telegraph Road Station between the hours of 4:47 p.m. and 7:43 
p.m., which adversely impacts employees who may work in Lake County and reside in or 
near downtown Chicago; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire, City of Lake Forest, Villages of Deerfield 
and Bannockburn, Lake County Partners, and Lake County residents have benefited over 
the years by having convenient access to Metra passenger rail service and support efforts 
to enhance the reliability and fluidity of rail operations on the MD-N Line to increase 
scheduling flexibility and Metra ridership; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Lake Forest, Lake County Partners, and the County of Lake 
and businesses located in Lake County have been meeting with representatives of Metra 
to explore opportunities for an enhanced schedule and other rail service improvements 
along the MD-N Line, including adding southbound service during hours in the afternoon, 
reverse commuting options, and rush hour express service to Lake Forest; and 
 

WHEREAS, Metra has acknowledged that it favors adding a universal crossover 
in Lake Forest in order to facilitate scheduling flexibility, congestion reduction, and 
enhanced rail service, including addressing gaps in service, lack of express trains, and 
flexibility in routing trains during system maintenance; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire, City of Lake Forest, Villages of Deerfield 
and Bannockburn, Lake County Partners, Lake County, and area businesses, in 
cooperation with Metra, IDOT and Canadian Pacific will realize a mutual gain by creating 
a public-private partnership to undertake schedule changes and adding a universal 
crossover in Lake Forest on the MD-N Line. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Village of Lincolnshire as follows: 
 

SECTION 1:  The facts and statements contained in the preamble to this 
Resolution are found to be true and correct and are hereby adopted as part of this 
Resolution. 

 
SECTION 2:  For the reasons set forth herein, the Mayor and Board of Trustees 

hereby reiterate their concerns about the commuter rail service flexibility and fluidity along 
the MD-N Line within Lake County and strongly recommend that the following system 
modifications and service improvements be adopted by Metra. 

 
A. Metra shall work with the City of Lake Forest, Lake County Partners, Lake 

County, and Lake County businesses to reexamine the train schedule for the 
MD-N Line and explore mutually beneficial modifications to better meet today’s 
work schedules and increase ridership. 

 
 

Document 1



B. Metra and other appropriate agencies shall collaborate with the City of Lake 
Forest, Lake County Partners, Lake County, and Lake County businesses to 
raise the necessary funding to add a universal crossover south of Route 60 in 
Lake Forest. 

 
C. Metra shall restructure its MD-N Line schedule to enhance southbound service 

from Lake Forest to Chicago between 4:47 pm and 7:43 pm once the universal 
crossover is installed and operational. 

 
D. Metra shall immediately explore the possibility of providing early morning 

reverse commuter options similar to the Sunrise Express service on the UP 
North line. 

 
E. Metra shall examine the possibility of restructuring its MD-N Line schedule to 

provide express services to Lake Forest during the morning and afternoon rush 
hours once the universal crossover is installed and operational.  

 
SECTION 3:  The Village Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to send certified 

copies of this Resolution to Metra, IDOT, Canadian Pacific, Amtrak, and WisDOT. 
 

SECTION 4: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its 
passage, approval, and publication in the manner provided by law. 

 
 

PASSED THIS ____th day of ______________, 2019. 

AYES:  

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

APPROVED ____th day of ______________, 2019. 

 

__________________________ 
Mayor Elizabeth J. Brandt 
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Village Clerk Barbara Mastandrea 

 

Document 1



Document 2



Document 2



2/21/2019 New reverse-commute service to Lake County begins March 4 | Metra

https://metrarail.com/about-metra/newsroom/new-reverse-commute-service-lake-county-begins-march-4 1/3

(February 20, 2019) - 

New reverse-commute service to Lake
County begins March 4

A two-year reverse-commute pilot project funded by a public-private partnership
between Metra and Lake County businesses and governments will begin on March 4 on the Milwaukee
District North Line, Metra announced today. The �rst phase of the new schedule can be viewed here.
(/sites/default/�les/assets/communications/mdn.pdf) (The schedule will change slightly in a second
phase pending an agreement with Canadian Paci�c [CP], which is anticipated soon.)

Metra and Lake County Partners, an economic development corporation af�liated with Lake County
businesses and governments, worked together to investigate the viability of increased service and
propose a pilot project. The groups will evenly split the $1.4 million cost of operating one new reverse-
commute train in each rush period as part of a two-year demonstration project. They also will work on
a de�nitive agreement to divide the $4.75 million cost of installing universal crossovers near Lake
Forest, with the partners contributing $2.75 million, Metra contributing $1 million and local
governments contributing $1 million. 
  
“We are excited to launch this test of new reverse-commute service between Chicago and Lake
County,” said Metra CEO/Executive Director Jim Derwinski. “We are hopeful that this initiative will
build our ridership, help local businesses to recruit top talent and have a positive impact on economic
activity in Lake County. This partnership also is an innovative way to test the demand for service to
Lake County and potentially improve our infrastructure.”

The public-private partnership agreement was the culmination of a process that began with an
appearance by Lake County of�cials at a Metra Board meeting in April 2018. The of�cials asked Metra
to explore ways to improve reverse-commute service to Lake County in order for them to effectively
recruit and retain employees living in Chicago. They also argued that better train service would reduce
pollution and roadway congestion and improve employee productivity and satisfaction. AbbVie,
Horizon Pharma, Trustmark Insurance, Tenneco, Northwestern Lake Forest Hospital, Lake County
government, the city of Lake Forest and the village of Deer�eld are participating in the agreement.

“With this new service, it is now easy to live downtown and work in Lake County,” said Lake County
Partners President and CEO Kevin Considine. “This is a tremendous opportunity for city dwellers to
build careers at any of our globally recognized companies.”

Metra’s current schedule is not ideal for reverse-commute riders to and from the Lake Forest,
Deer�eld and Lake-Cook Road stations, the stations closest to several major employers, including
AbbVie, Horizon Pharma and others. There are no morning outbound express trains, and the afternoon
trains are either too early or too late for most workers.

Document 3

https://metrarail.com/sites/default/files/assets/communications/mdn.pdf


2/21/2019 New reverse-commute service to Lake County begins March 4 | Metra

https://metrarail.com/about-metra/newsroom/new-reverse-commute-service-lake-county-begins-march-4 2/3

PAID ADVERTISEMENT

Under the new schedule, Metra has added a new outbound express Train 2191, departing Union
Station at 6:25 a.m. and arriving in Lake Forest at 7:15 a.m. The train will make all stops in Chicago
between Union Station and Edgebrook and then operate as an express to Lake Cook Road. (Pending an
agreement with CP, which is anticipated soon, this train will be moved to an earlier slot, departing
Union Station at 5:35 a.m. and arriving at Lake Forest at 6:25 a.m.) Metra also changed the schedule of
one inbound afternoon train (2146) to create express service from Lake County, and added a new Train
2194, departing from Lake Forest at 5:35 p.m. and arriving at Union Station at 6:26 p.m. The schedule
of Train 2148, which now arrives at Union Station at 6:11 p.m., would be pushed back three minutes.

"Working with the private sector to achieve their employment goals by attracting talented young
people who desire to live in Chicago is a win-win-win situation," said Metra Chairman Norm Carlson.
“The city of Chicago, Lake County and the employers all bene�t. Public assets and operating funds are
leveraged by private investment to enhance rail service that is a green solution. We look at this
partnership as being a prototype for future expansions of Metra’s service to bene�t the public. This is
regional cooperation at its �nest.”  

There would also be a few other schedule adjustments to help relieve crowding or to better re�ect
actual operating conditions:

A new morning inbound Train 2192 will depart Lake Forest at 7:48 a.m., making stops at Lake
Cook Road, North Glenview, Golf, Edgebrook and Western before arriving at Union Station at
8:40 a.m. That should relieve crowding on Train 2120, which will now make fewer stops and have
a slightly adjusted schedule, and Train 2122, whose schedule will remain the same.
Later evening Trains 2154 and 2160 will have their departure times shifted back by 5 to 8
minutes. North Central Service Train 120 (which uses the Milwaukee North tracks) will have its
schedule moved up by 5 minutes.
Outbound rush hour Trains 2145 and 2147, which now depart Union Station at 5:58 p.m. and
6:19 p.m., would now depart at 6:05 p.m. and 6:25 p.m.
Pending an agreement with CP, which is anticipated soon, a new outbound Train 2193 will be
added to the schedule, departing Union Station at 3:20 p.m. and making stops at Western, Healy,
Morton Grove, Glenview, North Glenview, Northbrook, Lake Cook, Deer�eld and arriving in Lake
Forest at 4:14 p.m.

If the pilot project shows that there is a strong market for reverse-commute service and that the
service is self-sustaining, the partners agree to enter into an agreement to fund the construction of
new universal crossovers near the Lake Forest Station. A crossover allows trains to switch between
tracks. Constructing crossovers at Lake Forest would allow Metra to turn trains around at that
location, which would create an opportunity for better service in the morning and evening rush
periods if demand supported it.

Document 3



 

Agenda Item 

3.31 COW 

 

\\vol-fs01\Data\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2019\2019_02_25_Cingular_Wireless_Master_Pole_Agreement.doc 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole 

February 25, 2019  
 

Subject: Master Pole Attachment Agreement for Small Wireless Facilities with 
Cingular Wireless PCS of Atlanta, GA (Village of Lincolnshire) 

 
Action Requested: 

 
Consideration of a Master Pole Attachment Agreement for Small 
Wireless Facilities with Cingular Wireless PCS of Atlanta, GA (Village 
of Lincolnshire) 

 
Originated By/Contact: 

 
Wally Dittrich, P.E., Assistant Public Works Direction/Village Engineer 
 

 
Referred To:  

 
Village Board 

Summary / Background:   
Staff requests the approval of a Master Pole Attachment Agreement with Cingular Wireless PCS 
for the installation of small wireless facilities on Village owned light poles.  With the approval of 
SB1451 in April 2018, the State of Illinois Small Wireless Facilities Deployment Act (Act) 
became effective June 1, 2018.  The Village Board amended Title 8, Chapter 6 of the Village 
code in May 2018 to address the changes in state law governing small wireless facility 
installations in public rights of way.  The attached agreement with Cingular Wireless PCS has 
been reviewed and approved by the Village Attorney. Under the terms of the Ordinance, there is 
a $650 application fee + $200/year annual licensing fee associated with each installation.  
These fees are the maximum allowed under the current state and federal laws governing local 
agencies ability to regulate small cell facilities. 
 
The first installation to be installed is located at 500 Barclay Blvd, just south of Tower Parkway 
on an existing 25 foot tall Village of Lincolnshire light pole (photos and location map attached).  
The permit requires all equipment be painted black to match the light pole.  The applicant is 
responsible for ensuring the location is structurally sufficient to support the new equipment or 
make the necessary modifications to the light pole and/or foundation to support the proposed 
installation. 
 
Recommendation: Staff recommends approving the attached Master Pole Attachment 
Agreement.    
 
Reports and Documents Attached:  

 Proposed Master Pole Attachment Agreement 
 

Meeting History 
Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): February 25, 2019 
 
 
 
 



1 
 

 

MASTER POLE ATTACHMENT AGREEMENT 

This Master Pole Attachment Agreement (“Agreement”) made this _____day of ____________, 
2019, between the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, an Illinois home rule municipal corporation, 
with its principal offices located at One Olde Half Day Road, Lincolnshire, Illinois, hereinafter 
designated LICENSOR, and NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS PCS, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company, with its principal offices at 575 Morosgo Drive NE, Atlanta, GA 30324, 
hereinafter designated LICENSEE.  LICENSOR and LICENSEE are at times collectively 
referred to hereinafter as the "Parties" or individually as the "Party." 
 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, LICENSOR is the owner of certain utility poles, wireless support structures, 
and/or real property, which are located within the geographic area of a license to provide 
wireless services licensed by the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) to LICENSEE; 
and  
 

WHEREAS, LICENSEE desires to install, maintain and operate small wireless facilities 
in and/or upon certain of LICENSOR's utility poles, wireless support structures and/or real 
property; and 

 
WHEREAS, LICENSOR and LICENSEE acknowledge that any term used in this 

Agreement that is defined in Section 8-6-2 of Title 8, Chapter 6 of the Lincolnshire Village Code 
(as now or hereafter amended, “Chapter 6”), shall have the meaning provided therein; and 

 
WHEREAS, LICENSOR and LICENSEE acknowledge that the terms of this Agreement 

are nondiscriminatory, competitively neutral and commercially reasonable; and 
 
 WHEREAS, LICENSOR and LICENSEE desire to enter into this Agreement to define 
the general terms and conditions which would govern their relationship with respect to particular 
sites at which LICENSOR may wish to permit LICENSEE to install, maintain and operate small 
wireless facilities as hereinafter set forth; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the state of Illinois has enacted the Small Wireless Facilities Deployment 
Act, 50 ILCS 840/1 et seq. (the “SWFD Act”); and  
 
 WHEREAS, LICENSOR and LICENSEE acknowledge that they will enter into a License 
Supplement (“Supplement”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, with respect to any 
particular location or site which the Parties agree to license; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Parties acknowledge that different related entities (each a “Licensee 
affiliated entity”) may operate or conduct the business of LICENSEE in different geographic 
areas and as a result, each Supplement may be signed by LICENSEE affiliated entities as 
further described herein, as appropriate based upon the entity holding the FCC license in the 
subject geographic location.  
 
 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and 
intending to be legally bound hereby, the Parties hereto agree as follows: 
 



2 
 

1) PREMISES.  Pursuant to all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the 
applicable Supplement, LICENSOR agrees to license to LICENSEE that certain space on or 
upon LICENSOR's utility poles, and/or wireless support structures, as more fully described 
in each Supplement to be executed by the Parties hereinafter referred to as the “Premises”,  
for the installation, operation, maintenance, repair and modification of small wireless 
facilities; together with the non-exclusive right of ingress and egress from a public right-of-
way, seven (7) days a week, twenty four (24) hours a day, over the Property (as defined 
below) and to and from the Premises for the purpose of installation, operation, maintenance, 
repair and modification of LICENSEE’s small wireless facilities.  The LICENSOR’s utility 
poles, wireless support structures, and other poles and towers are hereinafter referred to as 
a “Pole” and the entirety of the LICENSOR’s property is hereinafter referred to as "Property".   

2) PERMIT APPLICATION.  For each small wireless facility, LICENSEE shall submit an 
application in accordance with Section 8-6-4 of Chapter 6. 

3) REQUIREMENTS.  

a) LICENSEE's operation of the small wireless facilities shall not interfere with the 
frequencies used by a public safety agency for public safety communications. 
LICENSEE shall install small wireless facilities of the type and frequency that will not 
cause unacceptable interference with a public safety agency's communications 
equipment. Unacceptable interference will be determined by and measured in 
accordance with industry standards and the FCC's regulations addressing unacceptable 
interference to public safety spectrum or any other spectrum licensed by a public safety 
agency. If a small wireless facility causes such interference, and LICENSEE has been 
given written notice of the interference by the LICENSOR or the public safety agency, 
LICENSEE, at its own expense, shall promptly take all reasonable steps necessary to 
correct and eliminate the interference, including, but not limited to, powering down the 
small wireless facility and later powering up the small wireless facility for intermittent 
testing, if necessary. The LICENSOR may terminate a Supplement for a small wireless 
facility based on such interference if LICENSEE is not making a good faith effort to 
remedy the problem in a manner consistent with the abatement and resolution 
procedures for interference with public safety spectrum established by the FCC including 
47 CFR 22.970 through 47 CFR 22.973 and 47 CFR 90.672 through 47 CFR 90.675.  

b) LICENSEE shall install pole mounted equipment at a minimum of eight (8) feet from the 
ground. 

c) LICENSEE shall be limited to one (1) cabinet or other ground mounted device for ground 
mounted installations. 

d) LICENSEE shall install landscaping at the base of poles with respect to any ground 
equipment installed by LICENSEE on which devices are being installed as required by 
Chapter 6.  

e) LICENSEE shall, to the extent applicable, comply with all the terms and conditions of 
Chapter 6 with regards to construction of utility facilities.  LICENSEE shall, to the extent 
applicable, comply with Chapter 6 with regard to public safety. Where there is a conflict 
between this Agreement and the referenced code, the Agreement shall control. 



3 
 

f) LICENSEE shall comply with requirements that are imposed by a contract between the 
LICENSOR and a private property owner that concern design or construction standards 
applicable to utility poles and ground-mounted equipment located in the right-of-way. 

g) LICENSEE shall not collocate small wireless facilities within the communication worker 
safety zone of the pole or the electric supply zone of the pole on LICENSOR utility poles 
that are part of an electric distribution or transmission system. However, the antenna and 
support equipment of the small wireless facility may be located in the communications 
space on the LICENSOR utility pole and on the top of the pole, if not otherwise 
unavailable, if LICENSEE complies with Chapter 6 for work involving the top of the pole. 
For purposes of this subparagraph, the terms "communications space", "communication 
worker safety zone", and "electric supply zone" have the meanings given to those terms 
in the National Electric Safety Code as published by the Institute of Electrical and 
Electronics Engineers. 

h) LICENSEE shall install, maintain, repair and modify its small wireless facilities in safe 
condition and good repair and in compliance with the requirements and conditions of this 
Agreement. LICENSEE shall ensure that its employees, agents or contractors that 
perform work in connection with its small wireless facilities are adequately trained and 
skilled in accordance with all applicable industry and governmental standards and 
regulations. 

4) APPLICATION PROCESS. LICENSOR shall process applications for small wireless facilities 
located in the public right-of-way in accordance with Chapter 6 to the extent consistent with 
the SWFD Act. 

5) DURATION OF PERMITS AND SUPPLEMENTS. The duration of a Supplement and any 
permit related thereto shall be for a period of 5 years, and the Supplement and related 
permit shall be renewed for equivalent durations unless LICENSOR makes a finding that the 
small wireless facilities or the new or modified utility pole do not comply with the applicable 
codes or local code provisions or regulations in Chapter 6, as now or hereafter amended.  
Furthermore, if the applicable codes or local code provisions or regulations in Chapter 6 are 
amended during the term of a Supplement or any permit, LICENSEE shall modify the small 
wireless facilities or the new or modified utility pole, as necessary to comply with such 
amendments, within ninety (90) days of receipt of notice of such amendments.  If the SWFD 
Act is repealed as provided in Section 90 therein, renewals of permits shall be subject to the 
LICENSOR’s code provisions or regulations in effect at the time of renewal. 
 

6) EXTENSIONS.  Subject to the limitations of Section 5 above, each Supplement and any 
permit related thereto may be extended for additional five (5) year terms unless LICENSEE 
terminates it at the end of the then current term by giving LICENSOR written notice of the 
intent to terminate at least three (3) months prior to the end of the then current term. The 
initial term and all extensions under a Supplement and any permit related thereto shall be 
collectively referred to herein as the "Term".  Notwithstanding anything herein, after the 
expiration of this Agreement, its terms and conditions shall survive and govern with respect 
to any remaining Supplements and permits in effect until their expiration or termination.  

 
7) RENTAL. Each Supplement shall be effective as of the date of execution by both Parties 

(the "Effective Date"), provided, however, the initial term of each Supplement and any permit 



4 
 

related thereto shall be for five (5) years and shall commence on the first day of the month 
following the day that LICENSEE commences installation of the equipment on the Premises, 
which is not more than sixty (60) days after the Effective Date (the “Commencement Date”), 
at which time rental payments shall commence and be due at a total annual rental rate as 
set forth in the Supplement, to be paid in advance annually on the Commencement Date 
and on each anniversary of it in advance, to the LICENSOR in the Supplement (unless 
LESSOR otherwise designates another payee and provides notice to LICENSEE).  
LICENSOR and LICENSEE acknowledge and agree that the initial rental payment for each 
Supplement shall not actually be sent by LICENSEE until thirty (30) days after the 
Commencement Date. LICENSOR and LICENSEE agree that they shall acknowledge in 
writing the Commencement Date of each Supplement.  In accordance with Section 8-6-8 of 
Chapter 6 and Title 1, Chapter 15 of the Village Code, rental for the use of each utility pole 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be an annual fee of $200.00 per each wireless facility 
which LICENSEE attaches to LICENSOR’s utility poles and street lights. In the event this 
Agreement is used for attaching any small wireless facility to LICENSOR’s wireless support 
structure or other real property other than a utility pole, the rental shall be that which is 
described in the Supplement and does not need to be limited to $200 per year.  Thereafter, 
rent will be due at each annual anniversary of the “Commencement Date” of the applicable 

Supplement. Upon agreement of the Parties, LICENSEE may pay rent by electronic funds 
transfer and in such event, LICENSOR agrees to provide to LICENSEE bank routing 
information for such purpose upon request of LICENSEE. 
 

8)  ABANDONMENT. LICENSEE must notify LICENSOR within ninety (90) business days of its 
determination to permanently abandon any small wireless facility covered by this 
Agreement.  A small wireless facility that is not operated for a continuous period of 12 
months shall be considered abandoned and the LICENSEE must remove the small wireless 
facility within 90 days after receipt of written notice from LICENSOR notifying LICENSEE of 
the abandonment.  

The notice shall be sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, by 
LICENSOR to the LICENSEE at the last known address of LICENSEE. If the small wireless 
facility is not removed within 90 days of such notice, LICENSOR may remove or cause the 
removal of such facility and charge said costs to the LICENSEE.  

LICENSEE shall provide written notice to LICENSOR of any sale or transfer of small 
wireless facilities not less than 30 days prior to such transfer and said notice shall include 
the name and contact information of the new wireless provider. 
 

9) CONDITION OF PREMISES. Where the Premises includes one or more Poles, LICENSOR 
covenants that it will keep the Poles and installation, including all attchments, in good repair, 
as required by all applicable federal, state, county and local laws, including Chapter 6. If the 
LICENSOR fails to make such repairs including maintenance within 90 days of any 
notification to LICENSOR by LICENSEE, the LICENSEE shall have the right to cease 
annual rental for the affected Supplement, but only if the poles are no longer capable of 
being used for the purpose originally contemplated in this Agreement or otherwise do not 
comply with existing applicable law. If LICENSEE terminates a Supplement, LICENSEE 
shall remove its small wireless facility within 90 days after LICENSEE terminates the 



5 
 

Supplement. Termination of this Agreement or any Supplement shall be the LICENSEE’s 

sole remedy with regard to LICENSOR’s obligations under this Section. 
 
10) MAKE READY TERMS. LICENSOR shall comply with the SWFD Act as it relates to make-

ready work on its utility poles. 
 
11) GENERAL RESTRICTIONS.   

a) In the event LICENSOR, in its reasonable discretion deems it necessary to remove, 
relocate or replace a Pole, LICENSOR shall notify LICENSEE at least one hundred 
eighty (180) days prior of the need to remove or relocate its small wireless facility. In 
such event, LICENSOR shall provide options for alternative locations for LICENSEE 
relocation of equipment which shall be in a mutually agreeable location (“Alternative 

Premises”). LICENSEE shall be solely responsible for all costs related to the relocation 

of its small wireless facility to the Alternative Premises. In the event that a suitable 
Alternative Premises cannot be identified, LICENSEE may terminate the applicable 
Supplement. In the event of an emergency, which for purposes of this Agreement shall 
be considered any imminent threat to health, safety and welfare of the public, 
LICENSOR must provide as much notice as reasonably practical under the 
circumstances. LICENSEE may terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to the 
other party specifying the date of termination, such notice to be given not less than one 
hundred eighty (180) days prior to the date specified therein. 

b) From time to time, LICENSOR paints, reconditions, or otherwise improves or repairs the 
Poles in a substantial way (“Reconditioning Work”).  Subject to Paragraph 11(a) 
above, LICENSEE shall reasonably cooperate with LICENSOR to permit LICENSOR to 
perform the Reconditioning Work activities in a manner that minimizes interference with 
LICENSEE's approved use of the Premises.  

 
12) ELECTRICAL. LICENSEE shall be permitted to connect its equipment to necessary 

electrical and telephone service, at LICENSEE’s expense.  LICENSEE shall attempt to 

coordinate with utility companies to provide separate service to LICENSEE’s equipment for 

LICENSEE use.  In the event that LICENSEE can obtain separate electrical service with a 
separate meter measuring usage, the LICENSEE shall pay the utility directly for its power 
consumption, if billed directly by the utility.   In the event that separate electrical service is 
not possible or practical under the circumstances (as mutually and reasonably determined 
by the parties), LICENSEE may use existing service, at LICENSEE’s expense, upon the 

reasonable approval of LICENSOR.   In the event that LICENSEE uses existing utility 
service at an individual Premises, the Parties agree to either: (i) attempt to have a sub-meter 
installed, at LICENSEE’s expense, which shall monitor LICENSEE’s utility usage (with a 

reading and subsequent bill for usage delivered to LICENSEE by either the applicable utility 
company or LICENSOR); or (ii) provide for an additional fee in the applicable Supplement 
which shall cover LICENSEE’s utility usage.  The Parties agree to reflect power usage and 

measurement issues in each applicable Supplement.  
 

13) TEMPORARY POWER. LICENSEE shall be permitted at any time during the Term of each 
Supplement, to install, maintain and/or provide access to and use of, as necessary (during 
any power interruption at the Premises), a temporary power source, and all related 
equipment and appurtenances within the Premises, or elsewhere on the Property in such 



6 
 

locations as reasonably approved by LICENSOR.  LICENSEE shall be permitted to connect 
the temporary power source to its equipment on the Premises in areas and manner 
approved by LICENSOR. 

 
14) USE; GOVERNMENTAL APPROVALS.  LICENSEE shall use the Premises for the purpose 

of constructing, maintaining, repairing and operating small wireless facilities or as otherwise 
contemplated under the SWFD Act.  LICENSEE shall have the right to replace, repair and 
modify equipment, antennas and/or conduits or any portion thereof and the frequencies over 
which the equipment operates, in conformance with the original Supplement, provided such 
replacement, repair or modification does not substantially change the size of the equipment 
or destroy the camouflage or stealth design of the existing small wireless facility. It is 
understood and agreed that LICENSEE's ability to use the Premises is contingent upon its 
obtaining after the execution date of each Supplement all of the certificates, permits and 
other approvals (collectively the "Governmental Approvals") that may be required by any 
Federal, State or Local authorities as well as a satisfactory building structural analysis which 
will permit LICENSEE use of the Premises as set forth above.  In the event that (i) any of 
such applications for such Governmental Approvals should be finally rejected; (ii) any 
Governmental Approval issued to LICENSEE is canceled, expires, lapses, or is otherwise 
withdrawn or terminated by governmental authority; or (iii) LICENSEE determines that such 
Governmental Approvals may not be obtained in a timely manner, LICENSEE shall have the 
right to terminate the applicable Supplement and remove the LICENSEE’s equipment within 

90 days.  Notice of LICENSEE's exercise of its right to terminate shall be given to 
LICENSOR in accordance with the notice provisions set forth in Paragraph 19 and shall be 
effective upon the mailing of such notice by LICENSEE, or upon such later date as 
designated by LICENSEE.  All rentals paid to said termination date shall be retained by 
LICENSOR.  Upon such termination, the applicable Supplement shall be of no further force 
or effect except to the extent of the representations, warranties and indemnities made by 
each Party to the other thereunder.  Otherwise, the LICENSEE shall have no further 
obligations for the payment of rent to LICENSOR for the terminated Supplement.  
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Paragraph, LICENSEE shall continue to be 
liable for all rental payments to the LICENSOR until all equipment is removed from the 
Property. 
 

15) INSURANCE.  LICENSEE shall carry, at LICENSEE's own cost and expense, the following 
insurance: (i) property insurance for its property's replacement cost against all risks; (ii) 
workers' compensation insurance, as required by law; or (iii) commercial general liability 
insurance with respect to its activities on LICENSOR improvements or rights-of-way with 
protection limits as set forth in Chapter 6. 
 
LICENSEE may self-insure all or portion of the insurance coverage and limit requirements 
required by LICENSOR. If LICENSEE self-insures it is not required, to the extent of the self-
insurance, to comply with the requirement for the naming of additional insureds under this 
Section. If LICENSEE elects to self-insure it shall provide to LICENSOR evidence sufficient 
to demonstrate LICENSEE’S or its affiliated parent’s financial ability to self-insure the 
insurance coverage and limits required by LICENSOR. 
 



7 
 

16) INDEMNIFICATION. LICENSEE shall indemnify and hold LICENSOR harmless against any 
and all liability or loss from personal injury or property damage resulting from or arising out 
of, in whole or in part, the use or occupancy of LICENSOR’s improvements or right-of-way 
associated with such improvements by LICENSEE or its employees, agents, or contractors 
arising out of the rights and privileges granted under this Agreement and the SWFD Act. 
LICENSEE has no obligation to indemnify or hold harmless against any liabilities and losses 
as may be due to or caused by the sole negligence of LICENSOR or its employees or 
agents. LICENSEE hereby further waives any claims that LICENSEE may have against the 
LICENSOR with respect to consequential, incidental, or special damages, however caused, 
based on the theory of liability. 

 
17) REMOVAL AT END OF TERM.  LICENSEE shall, upon expiration of the Term, or within 

ninety (90) days after any earlier termination of a Supplement, remove its equipment, 
conduits, fixtures and all personal property and restore the Premises to its original condition, 
reasonable wear and tear and casualty damage not caused by LICENSEE excepted.  
LICENSOR agrees and acknowledges that all of the equipment, conduits, fixtures and 
personal property of LICENSEE shall remain the personal property of LICENSEE and 
LICENSEE shall have the right to remove the same at any time during the Term, whether or 
not said items are considered fixtures and attachments to real property under applicable 
laws.  If such time for removal causes LICENSEE to remain on the Premises after 
termination of the Supplement, LICENSEE shall pay rent at the then 125% of the existing 
monthly rate or on the existing monthly pro-rata basis if based upon a longer payment term, 
until such time as the removal of the antenna structure, fixtures and all personal property are 
completed. 

 
18) RIGHTS UPON SALE.  Should LICENSOR, at any time during the Term of any Supplement 

decide to sell or transfer all or any part of the Property such sale or grant of an easement or 
interest therein shall be under and subject to the Supplement and any such purchaser or 
transferee shall recognize LICENSEE's rights hereunder and under the terms of the 
Supplement.  

 
19) NOTICES.  All notices hereunder must be in writing and shall be deemed validly given if 

sent by certified mail, return receipt requested or by commercial courier, provided the 
courier's regular business is delivery service and provided further that it guarantees delivery 
to the addressee by the end of the next business day following the courier's receipt from the 
sender, addressed as follows (or any other address that the Party to be notified may have 
designated to the sender by like notice): 

LICENSOR:  
Director of Public Works 
Village of Lincolnshire 
One Olde Half Day Road 
Lincolnshire, Illinois 60069 



8 
 

Copy to: 
Adam B. Simon 
Ancel Glink, P.C. 
175 E. Hawthorn Parkway, Suite 145 
Vernon Hills, Illinois 60061 
 
LICENSEE:  
 
New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC     
Attn: Network Real Estate Administration   
575 Morosgo Drive NE      
Atlanta, GA 30324 
Re:  Wireless Installation on Public Structures Lincolnshire IL 
Fixed Asset # 

  
 in each case related to maintenance, repair and code compliance, to: 
 
 AT&T Operations Center 
 Network Operations Center 
 Re: Wireless Installation on Public Structures Lincolnshire, IL 
 Fixed Asset # 
 1 (800) 638-2822 
 
 in each of the above cases (excluding bills), with a copy sent to: 

   
  New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC 

Attn:  Legal Department, Network Operations 
208 S. Akard Street 
Dallas, TX 75202-4206 
Re:  Wireless Installation on Public Structures Lincolnshire 
Fixed Asset # 

 

Either Party may change the addressee and/or location for the giving of notice to it by 
providing a thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the other Party. 

Notice shall be effective upon actual receipt or refusal as shown on the receipt obtained 
pursuant to the foregoing. 

20) CASUALTY.  In the event of damage by fire or other casualty to the Pole or Premises that 
cannot reasonably be expected to be repaired within forty-five (45) days following same or, if 
the Pole or Property is damaged by fire or other casualty so that such damage may 
reasonably be expected to disrupt LICENSEE's operations at the Premises for more than 
forty-five (45) days, then LICENSEE may, at any time following such fire or other casualty, 
provided LICENSOR has not completed the restoration required to permit LICENSEE to 
resume its operation at the Premises, terminate the Supplement upon fifteen (15) days prior 
written notice to LICENSOR and remove LICENSEE’s equipment within 90 days.  Any such 

notice of termination shall cause the Supplement to expire with the same force and effect as 
though the date set forth in such notice were the date originally set as the expiration date of 
the Supplement and the Parties shall make an appropriate adjustment, as of such 



9 
 

termination date, with respect to payments due to the other under the Supplement.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the rent shall abate during the period of repair following such 
fire or other casualty in proportion to the degree to which LICENSEE’s use of the Premises 
is impaired. 

21) DEFAULT. In the event there is a breach by a Party with respect to any of the provisions of 
this Agreement or its obligations under it, the non-breaching Party shall give the breaching 
Party written notice of such breach. After receipt of such written notice, the breaching Party 
shall have 30 days in which to cure any breach, provided the breaching Party shall have 
such extended period as may be required beyond the 30 days if the breaching Party 
commences the cure within the 30-day period and thereafter continuously and diligently 
pursues to cure to completion. 
 

22) REMEDIES. In the event of a default by either Party with respect to a material provision of 
this Agreement, without limiting, other than by the specific terms of this Agreement, the non-
defaulting Party in the exercise of any right or remedy which the non-defaulting Party may 
have by reason of such default, the non-defaulting Party may terminate the applicable 
Supplement and/or pursue any equitable remedy now or hereafter available to the non-
defaulting Party under the Laws or judicial decisions of the state of Illinois.  
 

23) APPLICABLE LAWS.  During the Term, LICENSOR shall maintain the Property and the 
Poles in compliance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, directives, 
covenants, easements, zoning and land use regulations, and restrictions of record, permits, 
building codes, (collectively “Laws”).  LICENSEE shall, in respect to the condition of the 

Premises and at LICENSEE’s sole cost and expense, comply with (a) all Laws relating 
solely to LICENSEE’s specific and unique nature of use of the Premises; and (b) all building 

codes requiring modifications to the Premises due to the improvements being made by 
LICENSEE in the Premises.  It shall be LICENSOR’s obligation to comply with all applicable 
Laws relating to the Pole in general, without regard to specific use (including, without 
limitation, modifications required to enable LICENSEE to obtain all necessary building 
permits). 

 
24) BOND.  LICENSEE shall deposit with LICENSOR on one occasion prior to the 

commencement of the first Supplement a bond in a form reasonably acceptable to 
LICENSOR in the amount of $10,000 per small wireless facility to guarantee the safe and 
efficient removal of any equipment from any Premises subject to this Agreement, which 
equipment remains more than 90 days after rental payment has ceased and Licensee has 
failed to remove the equipment.  The funds may also be used to restore the premises to 
original condition, if LICENSEE fails to do so. 

 
25) MISCELLANEOUS.  This Agreement and the Supplements that may be executed from time 

to time hereunder contain all agreements, promises and understandings between the 
LICENSOR and the LICENSEE regarding this transaction, and no oral agreement, promises 
or understandings shall be binding upon either the LICENSOR or the LICENSEE in any 
dispute, controversy or proceeding.  This Agreement may not be amended or varied except 
in a writing signed by all Parties.  This Agreement shall extend to and bind the heirs, 
personal representatives, successors and assigns hereto.  The failure of either party to insist 



10 
 

upon strict performance of any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement or to exercise 
any of its rights hereunder shall not waive such rights and such party shall have the right to 
enforce such rights at any time.  The performance of this Agreement via each Supplement 
shall be governed interpreted, construed and regulated by the laws of the state of Illinois. 

 
26) EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement and any Supplements may be 

executed in multiple counterparts, including by counterpart facsimiles or scanned email 
counterpart signature, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all such counterparts 
once assembled together shall constitute one integrated instrument. 

 
27) AUTHORIZATION.  LICENSEE certifies and warrants that it has the authority to enter into 

this Agreement.  



11 
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have set their hands and affixed their 

respective seals the day and year first above written. 

 

LICENSOR: 

Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, an Illinois Municipal Corporation 

 

By:  

Name: _____________________________ 

Title: ______________________________ 

Date: ______________________________ 
 

 

LICENSEE: 

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

By: AT&T Mobility Corporation, its Manager 

 

By:  

Name: Blaine C. Thomas 

Title: Director- Real Estate & Construction  

Date: ______________________________ 



12 
 

EXHIBIT "A" 

LICENSE SUPPLEMENT 

 This License Supplement (“Supplement”), is made this ____ day of _______, _______, 
between the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, whose principal place of business is One Old 
Half Day Road, Lincolnshire, Illinois (“LICENSOR”), and New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, 
whose principal place of business is 575 Morosgo Drive NE, Atlanta, GA 30324 (“LICENSEE”). 
 
1.  Master License Agreement.  This Supplement is a Supplement as referenced in that 
certain Master License Agreement between the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois and New Cingular 
Wireless PCS, LLC, dated ________ ____, 20___, (the “Agreement”).  All of the terms and 
conditions of the Agreement are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof 
without the necessity of repeating or attaching the Agreement.  In the event of a contradiction, 
modification or inconsistency between the terms of the Agreement and this Supplement, the 
terms of this Supplement shall govern.  Capitalized terms used in this Supplement shall have 
the same meaning described for them in the Agreement unless otherwise indicated herein. 
 
2.  Premises.  The Property owned by Licensor is located at 
___________________________________.  The Premises licensed by the LICENSOR to the 
LICENSEE hereunder is described on Exhibit “1” attached hereto and made a part hereof.   
 
3.  Term. The Commencement Date and the Term of this Supplement shall be as set forth 
in Paragraph 5 of the Agreement.  
 
4. Consideration.  Rent under this Supplement shall be $______ per year, payable to 
LICENSOR at the address for notice described in the Agreement.  Thereafter, rent will be due at 
each annual anniversary of the “Commencement Date” of this Supplement. LESSEE shall 
obtain electrical service and provide for a separate meter and billing from the applicable utility 
provider.   
 
5. Site Specific Terms. (Include any site-specific terms) 
 
 



13 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have set their hands and affixed their 
respective seal the day and year first above written. 
 
LICENSOR: 

Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, an Illinois Municipal Corporation 

 

By:  

Name: _____________________________ 

Title: ______________________________ 

Date: ______________________________ 
 

 

LICENSEE: 

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

By: AT&T Mobility Corporation, its Manager 

 

By:  

Name: _____________________________ 

Title: ______________________________ 

Date: ______________________________ 

 



14 
 

 
EXHIBIT 1 
Premises 

(see attached site plans) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
4822-0508-3783, v.  4 



wdittrich
Text Box
Proposed Facility Location

wdittrich
Line







 

Agenda Item 

3.32 COW 

 

 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Committee of the Whole 
February 25th, 2019 

 
Subject:  East Side Reservoir Roof Replacement (Village of Lincolnshire) 
 
Action Requested: 

Consideration and Discussion of Awarding Bid for Replacement of 
the East Side Reservoir Roof to DCG Roofing Solutions of Melrose 
Park, Illinois in the amount not to exceed $75,790.00 (Village of 
Lincolnshire)  

 
Originated By/Contact: 

 
Wally Dittrich, P.E., Assistant Public Works Director / Village 
Engineer 

 
Referred To:  

 
Mayor and Board of Trustees 

 
Summary / Background: 
Staff worked with Illinois Roof Consulting Associates (IRCA) to complete the bid documents for 
the replacement of the East Side Reservoir Roof. The current facility roof was installed in 2000 
and has reached the end of its useful life after 18 years. The base bid is for a modified bitumen 
roofing system (similar to what was installed at the Public Works Facility). The alternative 
roofing material option is a single ply 60 mil thermoplastic membrane roofing system. This 
system is not as durable and proven as the proposed modified bitumen system, but was 
included to give the Village options if the base bid bitumen roofing system was quoted over 
budget.  Bids also included alternate shingle materials of asphalt and composite shingles 
(similar to those installed at Village Hall) to replace the cedar shake shingles on the steep 
sloped roof areas. 
 
Notification was published in the Daily Herald on January 8th, 2019.  A mandatory pre-bid 
meeting was held on January 23rd, 2019, with 6 contractors in attendance.  Bids were opened 
on February 6, 2019. The Village received 4 bids.  The first low bidder, Group XL, LLC was 
disqualified as they did not acknowledge the bid addendum and also did not provide the 
required bid deposit. The next responsible low bidder for the base bid was DCG Roofing 
Solutions of Melrose Park, Illinois in the amount of $68,900.  The low bid for the base bid plus 
the alternative for composite shingles on the steep slopped roofs was $80,055 (an increase of 
$11,155).   
 
Budget Impact: 
The 2019 budget includes $100,000 for the replacement of the East Side Reservoir roof. 
  
Recommendation:  Staff is recommending the use of the base bid specifications which include 
a standard modified bitumen roofing system for the flat roofs and asphalt shingles for the steep 
sloped roofs.  Asphalt shingles are recommended as the adjacent townhomes also have asphalt 
shingled roofs (see photos included in this memo) and as such, staff does not feel there is a 
value to maintaining the cedar shake look of the existing roof.  Therefore, staff recommends the 
approval of a roof replacement contract with DCG Roofing Solutions of Melrose Park, Illinois for 
the base bid for the roof at the East Side Reservoir in the amount not to exceed $75,790.00 
which includes an additional 10% contingency to cover any required repairs at bid unit prices.  
This contract would replace all of the roofs at the East Side Reservoir and includes a 15-year 
guarantee and warranty of repairs to be performed upon notice and at no cost to the Village.  



 

Agenda Item 

3.32 COW 

 

 

    
 Current East Side Reservoir shingles    Neighboring asphalt shingles 

 

Reports and Documents Attached:  
 Bid Analysis and Report from Illinois Roof Consulting Associates, Inc. 

 
Meeting History 

Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): February 25, 2019 
 









 

Agenda Item 

3.33 COW 

 

 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

Committee of the Whole 
February 25th, 2019 

 
Subject:  Resolution Adopting the 2018 Des Plaines River Watershed-Based 

Plan 
 
Action Requested: 

Consideration and Approval of Adopting the 2018 Des Plaines River 
Watershed-Based Plan 

 
Originated By/Contact: 

 
Marc Facchini Public Works Management Analyst 

 
Referred To:  

 
Mayor and Board of Trustees 

 
Summary / Background: 
In 2015 the Des Plaines Watershed Workgroup was formed by over 172 watershed entities in 
Lake and Cook County, Illinois and Kenosha County, Wisconsin. For the last several years, the 
Des Plaines Watershed Workgroup has met to develop the proposed Watershed-Based Plan. 
The Watershed-Based Plan specifically addresses water-related issues in communities within 
the Des Plaines River Watershed Planning Area and will be used as a roadmap to promote 
health on the Des Plaines River. The Des Plaines River Watershed-Based Plan covers 235 
square miles in Lake and Cook County, Illinois and Kenosha County Wisconsin. The planning 
area is divided into 10 smaller “subwatersheds” including Indian Creek, and Aptakisic Creek 
which also effect Lincolnshire. 
 
The Watershed-Based Plan identifies areas of improvement in the Village to benefit the overall 
health and sustainability of the Des Plaines River. These improvements range from large 
projects such as construction of region wide flood storage to wetland restorations and detention 
basin improvements to smaller projects such as removing potential causes of debris jams.  The 
full plan can be viewed at https://www.lakecountyil.gov/DocumentCenter/View/25176/Des-
Plaines-River-Watershed-Based-Plan?bidId= Lake County SMC’s website also has an 
interactive map on their website where users can see various plan recommendations on a map. 
 
Budget Impact: 
The Des Plaines River Watershed-Based Plan will be used as a roadmap for staff to identify 
areas of improvement along the watershed there is no budget impact at this time.  The Village is 
not required to take any action on any elements of the plan as it was developed to be a planning 
tool which will also assist communities with securing federal funding for qualifying improvements 
should it become available.  
 
Recommendation:  Staff recommends the approval of the resolution adopting the 2018 Des 
Plaines River Watershed-Based Plan. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached:  

 Des Plaines River Watershed-Based Plan Executive Summary 
 Resolution Adopting the Des Plaines River Watershed-Based Plan 

 
Meeting History 

Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): February 25, 2019 
 

https://www.lakecountyil.gov/DocumentCenter/View/25176/Des-Plaines-River-Watershed-Based-Plan?bidId
https://www.lakecountyil.gov/DocumentCenter/View/25176/Des-Plaines-River-Watershed-Based-Plan?bidId


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  • June 2018

Des Plaines River 
Watershed-Based Plan



Water is elemental to 
our lives.  Plants and 
animals, including 

humans, are largely composed 
of water, and generally require 
clean water to survive.  Our 
communities, food systems, 
energy sources, and countless 
products that we consume 
everyday are dependent 
upon water.  Despite this 
dependence, water is often 
taken for granted until it negatively affects us, usually 
due to short supply, inundation, or pollution.

This watershed-based plan is important because 
it specifi cally addresses water-related issues in 
communities within the Des Plaines River Watershed 
Planning Area. Clean and abundant water, healthy 
streams and lakes, and safety from fl ooding are 
important to residents and business and therefore 
play a signifi cant role in the quality of life, health 
and economic vitality of our communities.  Clean 
and healthy watersheds are assets that make 
communities more desirable for residents and 
businesses; however, fl ooding can damage property 
and result in local economic impacts.  Lakes, 
rivers, and streams in the planning area provide 
recreational destinations for watershed residents 
as well as tourists and are a highly visible indicator 

of watershed health. These 
waterbodies support a diverse 
variety of water-dependent 
plants and animals and are 
critical to local ecosystems.    

Water does not generally 
fl ow according to political 
boundaries.  Consequently, 
we recognize the watershed 
as the appropriate scale to 
address most water resource 
issues, which often involve 

multiple political jurisdictions.  The Des Plaines River 
watershed planning process brought together 
numerous watershed stakeholders to provide input 
towards the management and enhancement of 
water resources in the planning area.  

During this planning process, critical data was 
obtained from record fl ooding that occured in 2017, 
as well as a comprehensive water quality monitoring 
effort conducted on watershed streams.  

This watershed-based plan utilizes these sources 
of up-to-date information as well as historical data 
to provide a comprehensive summary of existing 
watershed conditions and trends. It recommends 
actions stakeholders can take to protect resources 
that are in good condition and restore those that 
have been degraded. As a resident, landowner, 
business or community offi cial, you make a difference.  

INTRODUCTION:

Why a Watershed-based Plan?
Your actions help to:

• keep water in our rivers, streams, 
lakes and wetlands clean

• reduce the impacts of fl ooding 

• protect and enhance natural 
resources

• maintain “green” and “grey” 
infrastructure 

• increase awareness of watershed 
issues and opportunities

Des Plaines River Watershed Planning Area Vision Statement

The Des Plaines River watershed planning area will be a destination valued by residents, 
businesses, and governments that join together to actively engage in education and participate 
in improving water quality. Stakeholders will preserve and enhance regional green infrastructure, 
resulting in cleaner streams and lakes, better plant and animal biodiversity, and reduced fl ood 

damage – while balancing a sustainable native landscape with development and economic growth.

2 3

W A
T

E
R S H E D

Infiltration

Groundwater

River

Dam

WetlandWetlandWetlandWetland
Overland

flow

Groundwater

WWWWW AAAA
TTTT

EEEE
RRRR SSSS HHH

Precipitation A watershed is the area of land 
drained by a river, stream, or other 
body of water.  If rain or snowmelt 

is not intercepted by vegetation 
or does not infi ltrate into the 

soil, it may fl ow over the 
land to a low spot in 

the landscape, often 
a body of water or 

wetland.  

The land 
area above 

a given point on a 
waterbody (river, stream, 

lake, wetland) that contributes 
overland fl ow or surface runoff to 

that point is considered the watershed.  

What’s a Watershed?



Des Plaines River Watershed Location

D
es Plaines R

iver

Lake 
Michigan

0 10 20 305
Miles

N

AT A GLANCE:

Des Plaines River 
Watershed Planning Area T he natural landscape of the planning area 

was formed by the retreat of a continental ice 
sheet more than 10,000 years ago.  This process 

resulted in the low moraine ridges, kettle lakes and 
depressions, and outwash plains that give shape to 
the water resources and natural communities we 
see in the watershed today, including more than 
50 lakes and 240 miles of river and streams.  The 
planning area has a diverse mix of land uses with 
relatively large areas of natural and recreational open 
space interspersed with residential neighborhoods, 
commercial districts, and employment centers.  
Agriculture remains a major land use activity in 
the northern half of the planning area.  The rural 
character in this part of the planning area has been 
identifi ed as an important attribute by stakeholders.  

Within the open space network are signifi cant 
“ecological complexes” of more than 10,000 acres: 
one complex in the northern end of the planning 
area extending from Rollins Savanna to Red Wing 
Slough and one complex that runs along the Des 
Plaines River.  These natural areas store and cleanse 
stormwater, provide important habitat for an array of 
plants and wildlife, and offer a myriad of recreational 
opportunities.  

The Des Plaines River corridor is an archetype of 
“green infrastructure”, providing an array of benefi ts 
including fl oodplain protection and fl ood damage 
reduction, open space and habitat preservation, and 
an unbroken recreational trail connection from north 
to south through the planning area.  The planning 
area contains dozens of natural lakes and thousands 
of acres of wetlands resulting from the last glaciation.  
These lakes and wetlands often are a source of 
basefl ow to streams, provide important habitat to 
native and threatened/endangered plants and 
wildlife and offer abundant recreational opportunities.  
The benefi ts of natural waterbodies are augmented 
by impounded and excavated lakes in the planning 
area that have been constructed over the years.

THE PLANNING AREA:
A SPECIAL PLACE

T he Des Plaines River Watershed-Based Plan covers 235 
square miles in Lake and Cook Counties in Illinois and 
Kenosha County in Wisconsin. This planning area is part of 

the much larger Des Plaines River watershed, which covers 1,455 
square miles in Southeastern Wisconsin and Northeastern Illinois 
and is part of the Illinois and Mississippi River Basins.  The planning 
area is divided into 10 smaller “subwatersheds”: the Upper Des 
Plaines River, Lower Des Plaines River, Newport Drainage Ditch, 
North Mill Creek-Dutch Gap Canal, Mill Creek, Bull’s Brook, Bull 
Creek, Indian Creek, Aptakisic Creek, and Buffalo Creek.  

What’s in the planning area:

Open space 
Natural open space areas 
are comprised largely of 
water resources, prairies, 
savannas, and woodlandsResidential Agriculture

Transportation/
utility/waste 
facilities

Commercial, industrial, government/institutional, and offi ce/research 
parks together encompass less than 10% of total watershed area but 
may have signifi cant impacts on water resources, particularly where 
these uses are geographically concentrated. 

30% 30% 19% 13% 8%

The Des Plaines River Watershed-
Based Plan is the fi rst “umbrella” 
plan developed by SMC, in that it 
includes and updates fi ve previous 
plans for smaller subwatersheds within 
the planning area: Bull Creek-Bull’s 
Brook, Buffalo Creek, Indian Creek, 
Mill Creek, and North Mill Creek-Dutch 
Gap Canal, and completes planning 
for the remaining subwatershed areas 
with no previous watershed plans.

Des Plaines 
River Watershed 
Planning Area

Des Plaines River 
Watershed

Chicago

The entire DPR 
watershed is 
1,455 sq. miles

4 5

240
miles of rivers and streams

53
named lakes

17,000
acres of wetlands

The Land

400,000
approximate population in 2010

39
municipalities

15
townships

The People



Specifi c watershed stressors include:

• Nutrients, chloride, organic enrichment, and sedimentation/
siltation are major causes of impairment in rivers and streams. 
Nutrients, sediment, and bacteria are major causes of water 
quality impairment in lakes.

• Erosion degrades water quality and aquatic habitat.

• Chloride levels are steadily rising in rivers, streams and lakes.

• There are thousands of fl ood-prone structures. Although 4,000+ 
structures are in mapped fl oodplains, many of the 2,000+ 
structures fl ooded in 2017 are outside mapped fl oodplains.

• Both traditional and “green” stormwater infrastructure may be 
insuffi cient for runoff volume or need repair.

• More than half of the wetland acreage in the planning area has 
been lost since European settlement.

• Stakeholders are generally unaware of the watershed stressors or 
do not have the experience or resources necessary to take action.

• More collaboration among jurisdictions is needed to address many 
of the watershed problems and take advantage of watershed 
opportunities.

OUR FINDINGS: 

A System Under Stress
M any rivers, streams and lakes in the planning area are impaired 

by nutrients, chloride, bacteria, and other forms of pollution.  
Pollution enters water bodies through stormwater runoff from 

urban and agricultural lands; from erosion of upland soils, streambanks, 
and lakeshores; and in permitted discharges of treated wastewater.  

Fish and aquatic invertebrates found in rivers and streams indicate 
degraded water quality and aquatic habitat. Lakes have expanding 
populations of invasive aquatic plants and mussels, as well as high levels 
of nutrients, which can result in algae blooms. These algae blooms can 
produce harmful effects to people and aquatic life, limit recreational 
activities, and reduce the aesthetic quality of lakes.

Record fl ooding on the Des Plaines River in July of 2017 was 
accompanied by urban fl ooding in many areas outside of mapped 
fl ood hazard areas. Intense rainfall overwhelms older or undersized 
infrastructure. While wetland loss is not occurring at the rate it once 
did, wetland coverage is greatly reduced from its former extent. The 
capacity of wetlands to provide benefi ts such as fl ood water storage, 
uptake or retention of pollutants such as nutrients and sediment, and 
provision of basefl ow to lakes and streams is correspondingly reduced.

Clockwise from top left: Algae 
bloom at Butter Lake; Watershed 
stakeholders providing feedback 
towards the plan; Fourth Lake 
Forest Preserve; volunteers cutting 
and pulling up sod to install native 
vegetation along Mill Creek.

ARE YOU A 
WATERSHED STAKEHOLDER?

Watershed stakeholders that 
contributed to the planning process 

include municipalities, townships, 
county agencies, wastewater 

treatment plant representatives, and 
the broader community of homeowner 

associations, businesses, non-profi t 
organizations, institutions, and 

residents living, working or 
providing interest in the 

planning area.

T he amount of impervious surface in the 
planning area is projected to increase 
in the future.  Increased imperviousness 

of the landscape results in a greater volume 
of stormwater runoff that must be detained 
or infi ltrated in order to avoid an increase in 
downstream fl ood elevations.  Additionally, 
impervious surfaces such as roads and parking 
lots are linked to urban pollutants such as chloride 
and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), 
which are becoming more prevalent in the 
planning area.  Future pollutant loading scenarios 
based on municipal and county comprehensive 
plans suggest that nutrient and chloride pollution 
loads could increase dramatically in the future.  If 
severe weather events such as those that resulted 
in the July 2017 fl ood become more frequent in 
the future, fl ooding in urban areas and along 
fl oodplains will be exacerbated.

WHAT’S AT RISK IN 
THE PLANNING AREA?

6 7

Stressors



The Des Plaines River Watershed-Based Plan 
was completed following guidance from the Illinois Environmental Protection 
Agency and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Funding for this plan was 

provided, in part, by the Illinois Environmental Protection Agency through 
Section 319 of the Clean Water Act and the Lake County Stormwater 

Management Commission.

10 in 10 
TEN ACTIONS FOR STAKEHOLDERS TO 

TAKE IN THE NEXT TEN YEARS
 Adopt the watershed-based plan and 

implement high priority actions and/
or projects, including the allocation 
of funding for project implementation 
and maintenance.

 Determine a lead watershed 
organization to guide watershed 
plan implementation, implement the 
education and outreach strategy, 
provide technical assistance to 
watershed stakeholders, and 
coordinate multi-partner projects.

 Municipalities and counties work 
collaboratively and proactively to 
mitigate fl ood problem areas.

 Utilize low-impact development 
and stormwater best management 
practices in new development and 
retrofi t/maintain existing development 
to reduce and fi lter stormwater runoff 
from impervious areas.

 Restore wetlands, particularly where 
they will provide additional fl ood 
storage and water quality benefi ts.

 Stabilize the worst “severe” eroding 
streambanks and lake shorelines 
using techniques that provide 
water quality and aquatic habitat 
benefi ts.

 Stabilize eroding fi elds, 
implementing nutrient 
management plans and 
implementing best farming 
practices to reduce soil loss.

 Reduce the amount of chloride 
in runoff by implementing 
winter maintenance “de-icing” 
best practices and providing 
educational trainings and materials.

 Reduce phosphorus loads in 
runoff through best management 
practices, projects, and programs.

 Use the results of watershed 
monitoring programs to strategically 
target projects, develop programs, 
and update this watershed plan.

1

3

5

2

4

6

7

8

9

10

Take Action!

Cover photo taken by Paul Klonowski. 
Other photos courtesy of Lake County Stormwater Management Commission and  Lake County Department of Transportation



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 
RESOLUTION NO. XXX 

 
A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE 2018 DES PLAINES RIVER 

WATERSHED-BASED PLAN 
 

WHEREAS, the Des Plaines River Watershed-Based Plan Committee and watershed 
stakeholders have been working since 2015 to prepare a comprehensive watershed-based plan for 
the Des Plaines River Watershed (Des Plaines River Plan) in Lake and Cook County, Illinois and 
Kenosha County, Wisconsin; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Des Plaines River Plan was developed through a series of twenty (20) 

watershed planning meetings with the cooperative effort of more than eight hundred (800) persons 
representing over one hundred and seventy-two (172) different watershed entities, ranging from 
individual homeowners & homeowner associations, consulting companies, businesses, large 
landowners and non-profit environmental organizations to local government, county, state and 
federal agencies that attended meetings during the planning process; and 
 

WHEREAS, the purpose of the Des Plaines River Plan is to identify opportunities for 
watershed communities to integrate multi-objective watershed management in community 
decisions and activities; and  
 

WHEREAS, a second purpose of the Des Plaines River Plan is to improve degraded 
conditions in the watershed by implementing best management practices and programs to retrofit 
existing problem areas and prevent future problems from occurring; and 
 

WHEREAS, the adoption of the Des Plaines River Plan will guide the successful 
implementation of a series of individual site-specific projects and watershed-wide programmatic 
actions to: improve water quality, reduce flood damage potential, protect and enhance natural 
resources including the watershed’s lakes, streams and wetlands; and in addition, will provide 
watershed education and recreation opportunities and improve community cooperation and 
participation in watershed improvement activities; and 
 

WHEREAS, all public hearing and meeting requirements have been met in the preparation 
of the Des Plaines River Plan including the required public review and comment period prior to 
SMC and Lake County adoption of the Des Plaines River Plan; and 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, 

Board, that the Des Plaines River Watershed-Based Plan, June 2018, for Lake County, Illinois is 
hereby adopted as an official plan of the Village of Lincolnshire.  

 
PASSED this 11th day of March, 2019 by a roll call vote as follows: 
 
AYES: 
 



NAYS: 
 

ABSENT: 
 
APPROVED: this 11 day of March, 2019 
 
 
 
 
      __________________________________ 

Elizabeth Brandt 
Mayor 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Barbara Mastandrea 
Village Clerk 



 

Agenda Item 

3.34 COW  

 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
February 25, 2019 

 
Subject: 2019 Sanitary Sewer System Analysis and Engineering (Village of 

Lincolnshire)  
 
Action Requested: 

 
Consideration of a Professional Service Contract with RJN Group, Inc. 
for Design Engineering Services for the 2019 Sanitary Sewer 
Rehabilitation Project at a Cost not to Exceed $99,820.00 

 
Originated By/Contact: 

 
Terry Hawkins, Utilities Superintendent/Wally Dittrich, Assistant Public 
Works Director/Village Engineer 

 
Referred To:  

 
Village Board 

 
Summary / Background:   
Staff recommends the continued use of RJN Group Inc. to complete design, field services, and 
bid preparation for the 2019 Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project. This is a multi-year 
systematic program for locating and reducing infiltration and inflow of water sources into the 
Village sanitary system. This work has been prioritized in the Village’s 10-Year Capital 
Improvement Program. Infiltration is caused from groundwater entering into the sanitary system 
through deteriorated pipes or manholes.  Inflow is defined as water entering the collection 
system from storm water interconnections such as downspouts or illegal sump pumps.  These 
water sources directly impact Village funds reflected in sanitary sewer charges assessed by 
Lake County and contribute to sanitary sewer overflow and/or backups. 
This project builds on prior year’s work. The proposed scope of work includes RJN Group’s 
continued analysis of sanitary sewer televising information previously collected. RJN Group will 
also continue smoke testing critical areas of the sanitary system identified in the 2015 Sanitary 
Sewer Flow Monitoring Study. This work allows prioritization and design of repair projects.  With 
nearly 50 miles of sanitary sewer to evaluate village-wide, this approach allows a portion of the 
system to be evaluated in greater detail each year. The proposal submitted by RJN Group Inc. 
includes review of 20,700 feet of sanitary main televised in 2018 (this represents approximately 
10% of the sanitary system which is on a schedule to have each segment televised once every 
10 years) as well as smoke testing of 36,200 feet of sanitary sewer in the area east of 
Riverwoods Road between Half Day Road and Duffy Lane.  The RJN Group will then provide 
recommendations and prioritization to staff for required pipe repair/rehabilitation. From these 
recommendations, RJN will also prepare plans and specifications for bidding and provide bid 
assistance for necessary contractual repairs to be performed in 2020.  RJN will also assist 
Village staff with the 2019 sanitary sewer repair project. 
 
For the last 3 years, the Village has used RJN Group for the same scope of work that involves 
the review of previous years televising data, smoke testing/manhole inspections in an area of 
the Village’s sanitary sewer system, and engineering of any needed repairs to the sanitary 
sewer system.  The areas of analysis were prioritized in a previous study that the Village had 
completed that RJN Group is working from.  At the January 28, 2019 COW meeting, the board 
approved the continued use of RJN for 3 additional years for this work.   
The areas identified for further investigation is displayed in the attachments. 
 



 

Agenda Item 

3.34 COW  

 
Budget Impact: The 2019 Budget includes engineering services in the amount of $100,000 in 
the Water and Sewer Improvement fund.   
  
Recommendation:  Staff recommends approval for continuing a professional service contract 
with RJN Group for services related to this program. This engineering firm has performed 
infrastructure improvement analysis and design with the Village last year staff has been satisfied 
with their service. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached:  

 Proposed Contractual Service Agreement with RJN Group 
 2019 Smoke testing and manhole inspection location 

 
Meeting History 

Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): January 28, 2019 
COW February 25, 2019 

 



www.rjn.com 

200 West Front Street • Wheaton, Illinois 60187 • 630.682.4700 

January 30, 2019 

Mr. Terry Hawkins 
Utilities Superintendent 
Village of Lincolnshire 
One Olde Half Day Road 
Lincolnshire, Illinois 60069 

SUBJECT: PROPOSAL FOR PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING AND SPECIALTY FIELD 
SERVICES FOR 2019 SANITARY SEWER REHABILITATION PROJECT 

Dear Mr. Hawkins: 

RJN Group, Inc. (RJN) is pleased to submit this proposal to the Village of Lincolnshire (Village) 
for the 2019 Sewer Investigations and Rehabilitation Program. 

On May 17, 2016, RJN submitted a Statement of Qualifications (SOQ) to the Village of 
Lincolnshire in response to RFQ# 16-04, Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project.  Following the 
submittal process, RJN was selected by the Village for this work.  RJN Group, established in 
Wheaton, Illinois in 1975, is a professional engineering and specialty field services firm focused 
on sewer collection systems. 

PROJECT UNDERSTANDING AND APPROACH 

The Village of Lincolnshire has established an annual program to investigate, rehabilitate, and 
improve the overall performance of their sanitary sewer collection system.  This process was 
begun in 2015 when the Village contracted for flow monitoring and initiated an annual sewer 
televising program of approximately 5 miles (26,400 lf.) of the system per year. In subsequent 
years the Village has undertaken smoke testing, manhole inspections and television review. The 
Village has also addressed high priority defects within the sewer system through point repairs 
and mainline lining. The proposed work for 2019 continues into the next Basin with the highest 
level of I/I, based on the flow monitoring results.  We have organized the proposed 2019 
sanitary sewer program into the following tasks: 

A. Sewer Televising review and rehabilitation recommendations of up to 20,700 feet
B1. Smoke Testing in all of Basin 4, approximately 36,200 feet.
B2. Manhole Inspections in the entirety of Basin 4 (158 structures)
B3. Point repairs of the segments identified in recommendations for Task A, and an allocation

for resident engineering services for those point repairs designed during 2018. 
C. Project Management, Meetings, and Future Program Planning



Page 2 
Mr. Terry Hawkins 
January 30, 2019 

Each of these tasks is further described below. 

A. Review of 2018 Sewer Televising Videos and Data

The Village retained the services of American Underground, Inc. of Glenview, Illinois to
perform approximately 20,700 feet of main line closed circuit televising (CCTV) in 2018.
This is mainly in Basin 4 and some of Basin 1 (see attached exhibit A). RJN will review the
CCTV inspection data, reports, and videos and make recommendations for and prioritization
of improvements for structural repair, infiltration reduction, and preventative maintenance.

B1. Smoke Testing in part of Meter Basins 4 

Smoke testing will undertake inspections of Meter Basin 4. This area incorporates the sewers 
of approximately 36,200 feet. (exhibit A) 

B2. Manhole Inspections in Meter Basin 4 

RJN will undertake inspections of all the manholes in Basin 4 – a total of 158 structures 
(exhibit A) 

C. Point Repair Design and Resident Engineering Allowance

RJN proposes to design point repairs, as identified in Task A. To expedite the plans and
specification preparation RJN proposes to prepare detailed plan sheets of the repairs using
site visits/field measurements and photos and will not be undertaking detailed survey.
Specifications will be prepared using those previously developed with the Village. If only a few
point repairs these may be incorporated into the project that includes the repairs designed in
2018.

B. Project Management, Meetings and Future Program Planning

This task provides for project management and meetings for the 2019 program.  In addition
to general project management tasks, this task also provides for the planning of the 2020
program as well as long range planning that will be important for the Village.



Page 3 
Mr. Terry Hawkins 
January 30, 2019 

 
PROPOSED SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The following services will be provided as outlined in the Project Understanding and Approach 
above. 

A. Review of 2018 Sewer Televising Videos and Data 

1. Provide equipment and personnel as necessary for televising video review. 

2. Review sewer televising videos using PACP-certified personnel and PACP coding 
standards.   

3. Provide data analysis as follows: 
a. Compile field data and develop complete list of defects; 
b. Incorporate results into GIS; 
c. Assign an estimated flow to defects; and  
d. Determine an appropriate rehabilitation method and estimate an associated cost for 

repairs. 

4. Provide the following information in a summary memo: 
a. Summary of work completed; 
b. GIS map of identified defects; 
c. List of defects prioritized by cost effectiveness for rehabilitation; 
d. Recommendations for follow-up SSES work;  
e. Recommendations for rehabilitation; and 
f. Provide digital copies of data and GIS geodatabases. 

B1. Smoke Testing  

1. Prepare a draft resident smoke testing notification letter for the Village to send to the 
affected residents and business owners.  The letters will include RJN contact information 
for use during the smoke testing.   

2. Prepare smoke testing door hangers to be hung by RJN staff at each address less than 
one week prior to smoke testing. 

3. Notify the Village and the local fire and police departments of planned smoke testing 
activities, including daily updates. 



Page 4 
Mr. Terry Hawkins 
January 30, 2019 

 
4. Provide equipment, personnel, and smoke as necessary for smoke testing. 

5. During smoke testing, erect smoke testing signs near the testing area and answer 
resident and Village questions on-site as well as through phone calls. 

6. Use handheld electronic data collection equipment for collecting smoke testing data. 

7. Smoke test the sanitary sewers as outlined above and on the attached exhibit. 

8. GPS locate each identified defect and take a minimum of one photograph of each defect.   

B2. B3. Manhole Inspections (Surface and Full Descent) 

1. Provide equipment and personnel to complete manhole inspections as outlined above 
and on the attached exhibit. 

2. Use handheld electronic data collection equipment for collecting manhole inspection 
data. 

3. Complete surface manhole inspections for manholes as outlined.  Collect the following 
attribute data, as it can be determined from the surface: 
a. Mapping grade GPS locate of manhole; 
b. Manhole diameter; 
c. Manhole material; 
d. Pipe invert measurements; 
e. Connecting sewer diameter(s); and 
f. Connecting sewer flow direction. 

4. Identify and document manhole condition, as it can be determined from the surface, 
including: 
a. Direct evidence of I/I; 
b. Open pickholes in lid; 
c. Frame and adjusting ring condition, including adjustments and chimney seals; 
d. Cone condition and defects; 
e. Wall condition and defects; and 
f. Channel and bench condition and defects. 

 
 



Page 5 
Mr. Terry Hawkins 
January 30, 2019 

 
5. Take a minimum of four digital photographs at each manhole structure 

a. Surrounding area; 
b. Manhole cover; 
c. Topside - looking down; and  
d. Manhole frame. 

6. FOR FULL-DESCENT MANHOLE INSPECTIONS: Provide all tasks above as well as 
perform a confined space entry, full-depth inspection.  Provide additional digital 
photographs and observations of the bench and trough as well all pipe connections. It is 
estimated that 15% of manholes may require full-descent. This is based on depth, offsets, 
or presence of flat-tops. 

B4. Summary Report 

1. Provide data analysis as follows: 
a. Compile field data and develop complete list of defects; 
b. Assign an estimated flow based on inspection results; and  
c. Determine appropriate rehabilitation method(s) for each defect or structure, as 

appropriate. 

2. Organize all data from individual field services into a comprehensive summary report 
with the following information:  
a. Summary of work completed; 
b. Map of identified defects; 
c. List of defects prioritized by cost effectiveness for rehabilitation; 
d. Recommendations for follow-up SSES work; and 
e. Recommendations for rehabilitation, including potential procurement methods and 

recommended contractors/vendors for various type of rehabilitation. 

3. Submit up to two color copies and a pdf of draft report. 

4. Address Village comments on draft report and revise. 

5. Submit up to two color copies of final report.  Provide one digital copy of final report 
files, data in geospatial format compatible with industry standard GIS software, and 
photographs. 

 



Page 6 
Mr. Terry Hawkins 
January 30, 2019 

 
 
The proposed scope of work includes sewer rehabilitation design as follows:  
 
C - Point Repair Design and Resident Engineering Services 

Point Repair Design 

1. Meet with Village to confirm scope of each point repair and location.  

2. Visit sites to determine/obtain the following: 
 Measure downs of up and downstream manholes. (To provide approximate depth of 

sewer) 
 Obstructions 
 Accessibility (specifically for backyard repairs) 
 Photos of obstructions/approximate location of repair/anticipated access routes 
 Identify potential traffic control needs during construction 

 
3. Obtain utility locates for point repairs. 

4. Address any identified utility conflicts. 

 Prepare detailed design plans for point repairs identified in task A. 
 Incorporate field survey and utility information into design plans 
 Address accessibility issues for point repairs 
 Provide detailed plan drawings with aerial photos as background and construction 

notes 
 

5. Prepare point repair schedule for recommended repairs 
 
Preparation of Bidding Documents - Services 

1. Modify existing bidding documents as needed 

2. Modify “front end” as required 

3. Modify typical technical specifications previously prepared by RJN, where needed 

4. An Appendix to the Specifications will be prepared to show location photos of all point 
repairs and anticipated access routes. 

5. Prepare bid package with plans, schedules, front end documents, and specifications. 
Submit draft bidding documents for Village review. 

6. Modifications to plans and specifications as required 



Page 7 
Mr. Terry Hawkins 
January 30, 2019 

 
 

Bidding Assistance 

1. Prepare an opinion of probable construction cost. 

2. Provide bidding assistance including: 

 Providing PDF and Word documents of bidding documents to Village 
 Answering bid-related questions as needed 

Project Management 

1. Provide project management services and attend up to two (2) meetings with the City. 
 
Resident Engineering Services 

1. Pre-Construction Assistance: 
a. Attend preconstruction meeting.  Prepare agenda and distribute meeting 

minutes. 
b. Review Contractor’s shop drawings, insurance documents traffic control plans, 

pre-construction surface videos and construction phasing. 
 

2. Provide construction observation for the duration of the project.  RJN proposes to be on-
site full-time for approximately (8-9 hours) per day when the Contractor is onsite and 
working.  The length of time will be dependent on the number of point repairs included 
in the Contract (currently 4). 

3. Provide documentation of the construction activities, including maintaining a daily 
project journal and taking digital photographs of all phases of the project, taking 
measurements for all quantities installed.  

4. Provide periodic inspection of traffic control measures to ensure roadways remain open 
and driveways/sidewalks are not blocked for extended periods.   

5. RJN will inspect each point repair site, adjacent manholes, private property and 
surrounding work area during and after construction, to ensure no damage has occurred. 
This includes the final walk through, preparation of punch list items, and final 
inspection.  

6. RJN will submit weekly project updates to the City. 



Page 8 
Mr. Terry Hawkins 
January 30, 2019 

 
7. Provide contract management, including review of Contractor’s payment requests, 

preparation of change orders, and coordination of contract closeout. 

8. Provide general project management throughout the duration of the project and prepare 
a set of final construction drawings in a combined Auto-Cad & Arc GIS format.  

9. It is anticipated that the Village will provide restoration services. However, if the Village 
prefers that RJN undertakes supervision of restoration this could be provided at an 
additional cost. 

D. Project Management, Meetings and Future Program Planning 

1. Provide project management for the duration of the 2019 program.   

2. Work with the Village to plan the 2020 sewer investigations and rehabilitation program.   

3. Provide initial long-range sewer planning assistance to help develop a multi-year 
program plan for the Village. 

4. Prepare an executive summary presentation for the Village Board or Committee to 
summarize the 2019 Program including: 
a. Summary of findings and recommendations from each of the studies; 
b. Summary of 2020 and long-range planning recommendations; and 
c. Summary of rehabilitation work completed in 2019. 

5. Attend up to four meetings throughout the duration of this project. 

6. Attend an annual meeting with the Village Board or appropriate Committee. 

 

ITEMS REQUESTED FROM THE VILLAGE 

We request the following items from the Village: 
 Assistance with traffic control and lane closures where necessary for smoke testing and 

manhole inspections. 
 Mailing of notifications as outlined for smoke testing. 

 
 



Page 9 
Mr. Terry Hawkins 
January 30, 2019 

 
 

SCHEDULE 

RJN is prepared to begin work immediately upon contract approval.  We offer the following 
estimated completion dates for each task: 

 Review of 2018 sewer televising videos and data will be completed within 30 days of 
Contract approval 

 Smoke testing and manhole inspections will be completed by October 15, 2019. 
 Draft reports for smoke testing and manhole inspections will be provided by November 

30, 2019 
 

PROPOSED FEE 

The attached Rate Schedule outlines standard hourly labor rates.  Using these rates, we have 
developed the fee summary provided below.  Completed work will be invoiced on a unit price, 
percent complete, and time and materials (T&M) basis as appropriate.   

A summary of the project costs is as follows: 

 

It is our pleasure to submit this proposal to the Village of Lincolnshire.  Please feel free to 
contact Senior Project Manager Catherine Morley at (630) 682-4700 x354 if you would like to 

Task Quantity Unit Cost Total Cost

Task A - Review of 2018 Sewer Televising & Report20,700   LS 6,800.00$    6,800.00$       

Task B1 - Smoke Testing 36,200    feet 0.95$           34,390.00$     
Task B2 - Manhole Inspections 138         MH 85.00$         11,730.00$      
Task B3 - Descent Manhole Inspections 20           MH 110.00$       2,200.00$       
Task B4 - Summary Report 1             lump sum 7,500.00$    7,500.00$       

Task C - Point Repair Design and RE Assistance T&M 32,000.00$ 32,000.00$     

Task D - Project Management & Meetings T&M 5,200.00$    5,200.00$       

TOTAL COST 99,820.00$ 



Page 10 
Mr. Terry Hawkins 
January 30, 2019 

 
discuss this proposal in detail.  We are looking forward to the opportunity to begin working with 
the Village on this important program. 

Sincerely, 
RJN Group, Inc. 

  
 

Michael N. Young, P.E. Catherine L. Morley P.E. 
Principal Senior Project Manager 

Attachments: 
Rate Schedule 
2019 SSES Area Map and 2018 Television Inspection



 

 

www.rjn.com 

 

200 West Front Street • Wheaton, Illinois 60187 • 630.682.4700  

Village of Lincolnshire 
Sanitary Sewer Rehabilitation Project 

Schedule of Rates 
for RJN Group, Inc. 

 
 

 
 
 
NOTES: 
1. The rates listed above are valid until December 31st, 2019. 

2. The rates for reimbursable items such as postage, document fees, and in-house 
printings/discs are applied based on the normal on-going charges. 

3. The above rates do not include the services of other professionals or companies 
required to perform work to assist RJN Group, Inc. in the performance of a task 
order. 

 

Classification 2019 Rates

PD Project Director $245.00
SPM Senior Project Manager $190.00
PM Project Manager $170.00
SPE Senior Project Engineer $140.00
PE Project Engineer $125.00
CM Construction Manager $135.00
CO Construction Observer $120.00
DG Data Group $110.00
ET Engineering Technician $108.00

SGIS Senior GIS Technician $110.00
GIS GIS Technician $100.00
DT Data Technician $80.00
FM Field Manager $88.00
FT Field Technician $74.00
CL Clerical $74.00



© OpenStreetMap (and) contributors, CC-BY-SA
Village of Lincolnshire, IL

2019 SSES Proposal
January 2019.

\\w
he

-p
an

zu
ra

1\
OF

FIC
E-

11
\W

HE
AT

ON
\P

RO
JE

CT
S\

Lin
co

lns
hir

e_
IL\

GI
S_

DA
TA

BA
SE

S\
M

ap
 D

oc
um

en
ts\

M
ap

 D
oc

um
en

ts 
- P

lot
s\2

01
9 P

ro
po

se
d S

SE
S A

re
a (

8.5
x1

1).
mx

d  
-  D

ate
 Pr

int
ed

: 1
/3

0/
20

19
  9

:32
:55

 AM

!!2 Manhole
!!2 Private

Pressurized Main
Gravity Main

Private
Proposed Television Sewer Review

Basin 4 Proposed SSES Area
Lincolnshire Boundary


	1.0 Agenda
	02-11- 2019 COW Minutes
	3.11_2019_02_25_TheStJames_PrelEval
	6) Tree Survey_FINAL.pdf
	ALL TREES
	Sheet1


	7) Preliminary Landscape Plan_FINAL_v2.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	L2.0 LANDSCAPE PLAN


	11) Preliminary Plat of Subdivision_FINAL.pdf
	17-20870-18 SUB-SH 1-REV 3
	17-20870-18 SUB-SH 2-REV 3

	18_3780_208_GlenStar_Rezoning_PUD_partial.pdf
	18_3780_208_GlenStar_Rezoning_PUD
	18-3780-208q
	18_3780_208_GlenStar_Rezoning_PUD


	2) Planning & Zoning Application_FINAL.pdf
	2) Planning & Zoning Application_FINAL
	Scanned from a Xerox Multifunction Printer


	3.12_2019_02_25_COW_Metra_LCP_Resolution
	2019_02_25_COW_Metra_LCP_Resolution
	2019_02_25_COW_Metra_LCP_Supporting_Docs
	2019_02_25_COW_Metra_LCP_Resolution_DRAFT
	VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE
	RESOLUTION NO. ______

	2019_02_25_COW_Metra_LCP_Reverse_Commute_Flyer.docx
	2019_02_25_COW_Metra_LCP_Reverse_Commute_Press_Release


	3.31_2019_02_25_Cingular_Wireless_Master_Pole
	3.32_2019_02_25_COW_ESR_Roof_Replacement
	3.33_2019_02_25_COW_Des_Plaines_River_Watershed
	3.34_2019_02_25_COW_Sanitary_Sewer_System

	Property Address: 90, 98, & 100 Half Day Road
	PIN: 1513400043, 1513400044, 1513400045, 1513200008
	Return to Agenda: 


